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AT-LUBﬁlz?L, FORMULATION - THE SCIEN(;:E OF

COMBINING COMPLEX CHEMICALS SO THEY WORK TOGET‘HER TO

: DElI.IVER OPTIMUM PERFORN:ANCE{-— IS THE FOUNDATION OF EVERY

. |
SUCCESSFUL SOLUTION WE DELIVER TO THE SPECIALTY CHE‘MICALS
\ .

: I .
marketplace, whether it is inTthe form of better-performing engine

oils or better-performing shampoos. It's what we do be?st. ‘And

. I 1 . i
it’s at the heart| of our 11’11'10?.’3.“0[1. i

i | |
As one of the world’s lea{ding #spccialty chemical corﬁ‘panies,
Lubrizol provides advanced chemical formulations désigncd
to meet the specific n{eeds oft our customers in the| global
transportation,} industrial a?d consumer markets. I

| !
The technical lénowlcdgc and formulation skills we have alcquircd
over the decades are the c.i.or!e of our competitive advantage. Using

the right mix ?f people, idf:as anld market knowledge, we create

" unique, hard-to-duplicate formulations that result in successful

. ‘ | L
solutions for our customers’ most complex challenges.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 3 v - C
: meresss {00 o ¢
{In Millions Except I*er Share and Employee Data) 2008 ‘ ) 2005 ;.(Pecrease]- (" .’\ Y o
Operations E O b ‘ ; J’ C
REVENUES . . . . oo oottt et e ! $4,0408 C| $36222 12% //:"T\:’)C
Income from cortinuing operations. . . ........ . ... .. .. ... k 181.8O ) 161.% 13% - '0(
R R | 1056 OC © 1893 e :)Q
Income from continuing operations per share, diluted . . .. .......... | 2.620 - 2.35 11% ] ‘:, 0
Net income per Share, dilULEd. . . . .« oo vvv it e e e e et : 152 2.75 y (45%) ) O
Dividends per Share . . . .........ouneeneeieaaeenee e ! 104 C 1.04 Co= L0
Cash provided by operating activities . . ..« oo.vvveeres e, ] ' 3348 362.2 e 9.
Return on average shareholders’ BQUItY . . ... .. ... .. .viiunn.... . : 7% 12% T (42%) ! O
: ' I C
As Adjusted Income From Continuing Operations Per Share, Diluted* !
Income from continuing operations per share, diluted as reported. . . . . l $ 2.62 % 2.35 11% l
Restructuring and impairment charges. .. ...................... : 0.47 0.15
As adjusted inccme from continuing operations per share, diluted . . . . $ 3.09 % 2.50 24%
Financial Position
Total A88BLS . . . vt e e e s $4,386.2 $ 4.366.3 - .
Shareholders’ equity. . .. ... e e 1,707.4 1.567.2 9% |
Debt as a percert of capitalization. .. .. .. .. .. L L oo . A47% 52% {8%)
Other
Capital expenditures. . . ... ...t $ 1309 $ 136.7 (4%)
Shares outstanding at December 31. . . ... ... ... ... o L. 69.0 68.0 1%
Number of employees’. . ... ... e e e 6,746 7,515 {10%)

COMMON SHARE PRICE HISTORY

2006 2005
: High Low RHigh Low
1St QUAIET . ... e , $46.44 $41.70 $43.57 $35.25
200 QUEFET .+ o o e oo e e e I 45.20 38.52 44,51 36.74
Jrdquarter ... e 46.25 38.03 44.50 39.12
Ath QUANLES .. . e e e 50.75 4416 44.16 39.83

*Non-GAAP Disclosute Reconclliation — As adjusted income from continuing operations per shure, diluted {non-GAAP) is a measure of earnings that
differs from income fro m continuing operations per shure, diluted measured in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles {GAAP). As
adjusted income from continuing eperations per share, diluted is earnings from continuing operations per share, diluted per the company’s conselidated
results adjusted for exclusien of restructuring and impairment charges. Management believes that both income from continuing operations per share,
diluted and as adjusted income fram continuing aperations per share, diluted, which excludes these speciul charges, assist the investor in understanding the
resuits of operations of The Lubrizol Corporarion. In addition, management and the board evaluate results using both income from centinuing operatians
per share, diluzed and a: adjusted income from continuing operations per share, diluted.

The Lubrizol Corporatien + 1
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these challenges and delivered very strong results.
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2006 MARKED ANOTHER SUCCESSFUL YEAR for The Lubri%ol Corporation - operationally,
strategically and financially. The year presented many chalfeng‘ﬁ*s to the specialty chemical industry.
P : : ‘ ' l '
Supplies of key raw;materiats were tight and costly. bompetitive pressurles were intense, We addressed

!
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“OUR GEOGRAPHIC EIXPI.[ANSION
EFFORTS WERE SUCCESSFUI'. A.“s”WEI..I.:. Ali.L
PRODUCT LINES EXPERIENCE.D STI‘GNIITIICAI\EIT
VOLUME GAINS IN ASIA AND LiATIr‘H‘ AM!.-ZFIC.‘A,
AND WE REALIZED AN 18 PER(?EN"I] INCBIEASE
IN REVENUES IN THESE DEVELOPIN(T‘ REGIl'JNS."

|
|
|
|
1
1
l

|
{
|
[
|
1
!

' |
IN 2006, OUR REVENUES INCREASED 12 PFRCEN'I] 'l"0154 Bl:LLION, WHILE INCOME FROM
CONTINUING OPERATIONS 'INCREASED TO $182 MIL%ION, |UP_ 13 PERCENT FROM THE
PREVIOUS YEAR. More importantly, we posted adju:lstzj:dfincorr:)e from continuing oper:ations
of $3.09 per diluted share, an increase of 24 percent. (o growth in earnings, combined with
the divestiture of non-strategic businesses, enabled ja refductic}n in net debt of nearly §450
million. In addition to being on the Forfune 40 list olf recommended stocks for the s:ccond
consecutive year, we were pleased to reward our shareholders’ confidence in us with an 18

v

percent total return on their investment for the year.

In my letter to you a year ago, I wrote about accelerating organic growth, improving profitability
. . . { La - -
and strengthening our portfolio of businesses. These k!cy initiatives continued to drive' much

of our activity in 2006. |

GROWTH

We saw significant commercial launches during the year in each of our product lines. For
example, we introduced new technology in Engine Ad'ditivc:s addressing the specialineeds

of low-emission diesel engines using ultra-low sulfur fuel. We also extended the Carbopol®
thickener products in Consumer Specialties to support new pc:rsonal care product categories.
In Performance Coatings, we introduced a new Carboset® polymer that makes masonry
coatings more durable and easier to apply. We comrnerc‘_ialjzc:d two new product families in
Driveline and Industrial Additives, one for use in automatic transmissions in passenger vehicles
and the other for use in farm tractors. And we found ways to cxpjar‘ld our TempRite® enginecred

polymers’ presence in commercial water distribution anld fire sprinkler systems. |




QOur geographic expansion efforts were successful as well. All
product lines experienced significant volume gains in Asia and Latin
America, and we realized an 18 purcent increase in revenues in these
developing regions. Last year, | reported that we commissioned an
Estane® engineered polymers manufacturing facility in Shanghai.
Today, that plant is operating at capacity and supplying the domestic
market. Adding to our presence there, we have established an
industrial lubricants application center to meet the increasing needs
of local manufacturers. Te addrzss China's growing performance
ccatings market, we are expanding our Shanghai operations to
provide manufacturing, commircial and technical capabilities
for this product line as well. These efforts are representative of
the continuing investment we dre making in China to grow our

infrastructure and capabilities for all of our product lines.

PROFITABILITY

We continued our focus on increased profitability. Using a
ccmbination of product pricing and positioning, we made
significant gains in improving the operating income of our Engine
Oils business. We also made progress in the turnaround of the
Performance Coatings product line, realigning our resources to
ersure maximum return on our efforts. We directed and focused
our capital expenditures, expanding our capacities in high-growth
markets while consolidating asset; in more mature ones. In addition,
we amended our U.S. dollar and euro credit facilities to reduce our

borrowing costs.

PORTFOLIO

We reached an important milestone in strengthening our portfolio,
completing the divestiture of the non-strategic businesses that were
part of the Noveon International acquisition. All our businesses are
ncw complementary — both technically and commercially ~ and we
an: again dedicating increased attention to acquisitions that meet our

criteria for leveragability, strategic fit and financial performance.

We strengthened our global data communications network and
continued the consolidation of our business processes so that
inZormation can flow seamlessly across our company. We are larger
and more globally dispersed, yet we are becoming faster and more
agile with even greater accountability and controls.

Ttere is more to Lubrizol than what we make. Qur organization is
still guided by our founders’ principles and philosophy, highlighted
on this page. We are committed to safe operations and care for the
environment and, thus, were preud to receive Responsible Care®
Management System certification during the year. We also believe
in treating all employees with respect and a sense of worth and
continuing our emphasis on developing an inclusive and diverse
work force. As always, we encourage and reward personal initiative.
We know, as our founders did, that it takes more than technical and

commercial strength to make a specialty chemical company special.

1 would like to take this opportunity to welcome two new members
to our Board of Directors, Dr. Harriet Tee Taggart and Mr. James
E. Sweetnam, both of whom joined the board in February 2007.

: |
THE LUBRIZOL CORPORATE PHILOSOPHY

THE STRENGTH OF LUBRIZOL IS THE DEDICATION OF ITS EMPLOYEES
TO OUR COMPANY, OUR SHAREHOLDERS AND OUR CUSTOMERS

WE ARE COMMITTED TO: !

¥ Rewarding shareholders by providing a hlgh return
on invested capital.

'
% Providing superior products and outstandlng servuce
to our customers.

3 Investing in research and development to mamtam
and improve our technical position. !

B Insisting (jn honesty and integrity in dealing with
customers, suppliers and all third parties, and with
one another. ,

i Treating each employee with dignity and a sense
of worth and supporting open communications
with one another.

i
3 Developing and promoting personnel from within
our ranks on the basis of individua! performance.

¥ Rewarding employees’ efforts through a merit-oriented
compensation program.

3 Maintaining the health and safety of our employees,
customers and neighbors and to protecting the'environment.

1

Before her retirement at the end of 2006, Tee was Partner, Sclnior
Vice President and Global Investment Manager at Wellington
Management LLC, Jim is Senior Vice President and President —
Truck Group of Eaton Corporation. I would also like to express my
appreciation 1o Mr. Daniel E. Somers, who retired from the board
in February of this vear, having served since 1999, and to Dr. Peggy
Gordon Miller, who has served since 1993 and will retire when her
current term expires in April of this year. Both Dan and Peggy have
provided valuable guidance throughout their tenures, and we will

miss their thoughtful advice,

Another year of challenges has led to another year of accom-
plishments. As I look back over our recent successes and forward
to the opportunities that await us, | am both proud and excited to
be leading an organization with such a clear sense of its mission
and a confidence in its ability to carry it out. We will conti]nue
formulating successful solutions that enhance our customers’

businesses, our employees’ growth, our communities’ well-being .md -

our shareholders’ equity. We sincerely appreciate the confidence you.,
have demonstrated in us through your investment, and we commlt N
our dedicated effort to justify it. I

Sincerely, I

ot el

James L. Flambrick

Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

February 28, 2007

2006 Annual Report *+ 3
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WHEN YOUR CUSTOMERS INCLUDE THE WORLD’ S
LEADING OIL MARKETERS HIGH-PERFORMANCE;
FORMULATIONS ARE rJUST THE STARTING POINT.

i
As pioneers in the science of lubricasit additives, we know from

experience that any successful solution depends on providing
practical and relevant mnlo‘vauon \'thther it's a unique, rop tier
branded product or an efficient valur. engineered formulation, what
really matters is pr(mdmgl the right chemistry for the job. Finding
the ideal answer for cvcry application is an art in itself, one that
Lubzizol has perfected over decades of working in close partnership

with our customers.

As we enter 2007, our, Lubrizo] Additives segment has the
momentum to outpace the underlying additive market growth rate.
! ! , ;
New specificationsin the passenger carengine oiland heavy-duty diesel
engine oil markets are provi(liin'g opportunities for profitability in our
!
largest end-use market. At thelsame time, we are looking for growth

beyond additives for cnginlc :oiis. Fluids for hard-working hydraulics,

gear oils for powerful indus;tria.f machinery, and multi-purposef greases
and metalworking fluids all must deliver optimum performance under
extreme conditions — the vcry Condmons where Lubrizol solutions
thrive. Each of these apphcatmns represents another opportunity
for Lubrizol's formulators)to deliver improved performance through
technical innovation. As a rt:lsult, we are placing even more emphasis
on our driveline and indusEri:lil additives businesses, leveraging our
technical knowledge to build a stronger organization with sustainable

momentum and greater opportunity for growth. &
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¢ SUCCESSFUL SOLUTIONS ‘ 7 Lo 1\ NONS o ©
MAY START WITH CHEMISTRY, BUT THffY DON'T END THERE. OUR CUSTOMERS. * - ) ’ o {‘\ o

COUNT ON US FOR ON-TIME DELIVERY, SECURITY OF SUPPLY AND THE REAL, - N
MARKETABLE BENEFITS THAT SELL THEIR PRODUCTS. THAT'S THE TOTAL
LUBRIZOL FORMULATION FOR SUCCESS. ] o oo

Lubrizol Additives c @ .. [ MY .o
REVENUES . Py ® ¢ © © ®

]
$2.601 Billion * % e o o * .
. ' . . . *
ENGINE ADDITIVES O
) DRIVELINE and
N INDUSTRIAL OIL ADDITIVES
$1.666 Billion

$935 Million

% 2006 Annual Report » 5
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Lubrizol Advanced Materials
REVENUES

$1.440 Billion

PERFORMANCE COATINGS .\‘

$544 Million

NOVEON CONSUMER
SPECIALTIES

;

$373 Million
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A /‘ \ |
\{l T [ ii S } 'f
i N s | {
S
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: : ' : ETIGINEERED POLYMERS
L
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S /$523 Million
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LUBRIZOL HAS EXPANDED BEYOND ITS ORIGINS
IN LUBRICANT ADDITIVES TO SERVE THE MUCH
LARGER SPECIALTY CHEMICALS MARKET.

Today, our customer buse is as likely 10 include world leaders in
personal care and performance coatings as it is to include global oil
marketers. Chances are good that you'll find Lubrizol technology
in your car and in your home. The shine on your wood floors, the

sparkle on your freshly cleaned mirrors, even the spring in your

running shoes, are all improved by Lubrizol products.

All of our Lubrizol Advanced Materials businesses — Performance

Coatings, Engineered Polymers and Noveon Consumer Specialties—
share a common formula for success: create technically differentiated
products with performance or benefits that customers value. It's a
formula for growth, as our market-leading global brands attest. Our

ability to balance advanced technology and real-world practicality

has resulted in products with compelling value propositions:
corrosion-resistant TernpRite® piping that is more cost-effective
than metal piping systems; lotions that protect and rejuvenate
the skin; polymer filme. that allow fabrics to breathe; and safer,
environmentally friendly, flame-retardant coatings for mattress
covers, And we're not stopping there. We're already formulating the

products that will propel our growth in the future.

Qur growth plans extend beyond product innovation. As we

expand our business in Asia Pacific and Latin America, we're

building on our long history as a global company. Qur Lubrizol INNOVATIVE PRODUCTS
=g
PRACTICAL RESULTS AND DYNAMIC NEW MARKETS WILL
ALL PLAY A PART IN OUR FORMULATION FOR SUCCESS.
and making significant investments in infrastructure !

Additives segment has a long-standing presence in these

areas. Now, we are capitalizing on that regional knowledge

to grow our Lubrizol Advanced Marterials ) S R

businesses in these developing economies. @

2006 Annual Report * 7
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COMMUNICATION AND COLLABORATION

ARE THE DRIVING FORCES BEHINPI ALL CI!F OUR SUCCESSFUL PRODUCT
OFFERINGS. THE RIGHT COLLABOlFFATION UPFRONT YIELDS THE RIGHT
FORMULATION FOR SUCCESS. |




o | CHEMISTRY IS AN IMPORTANT INGREDIENT
' IN FORMULATING SUCCESSFUL SOLUTIONS. E :

At Lubrizol, we believe communication is equally important. :
Even the most advanced technology will miss the mark if it is
not formulated with the specific needs of the customer in mind.
Building a dynamic customer partnership takes ti‘me,patience and ) :
trust — on both sides. That’s why we work closely with our customers

to understand what they need and what they value, Tt’s a first step in

designing the right formulation. L
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The second step — translating the needs of our customers into
wotkable solutions — is just as critical. This demands strong ties
between our commercial and R&D organizations. By building our

internal partnerships, we strengthen our external relationships.

Although our business segments serve different markets, the
opportunities for collaboration are many. We're leveraging our
technical skall, product knowledge and practical approach across
Lubrizol Additives and Lubrizol Advanced Materials. Together,
our businesses — and the people behind them — are a powerful

formulation for success. W

2006 Annual Report » 9
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MANAGEMENT’'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

This Management's Discusslon and Analysls of Financial Condition and
Results of Operatlons should ba read In conjunction with the consoli-
dated financial statements, the: notes thereto and the historical sumy-
mary appearing elsewhere In this annual report. Historical results and
percentage relationships set forth in the consoclidated financlal state-
ments, including trends that might appear, should not be taken as indica-
tive of future operations. The following discusslon contains forward-look-
Ing statements that involve rislts and uncertaintles. Our actua! results
may differ materlally from those discussed in such forward-looking state-
ments as a result of varlous fictors, including those described under
the section “Cautionary Statements for Safe Harbor Purposes” Included
elsawhere in this annual report.

Overview

GENERAL We are an innovative specialty chemical company that
produces and supplies technologies that improve the quality and per-
formance of our customers’ proclucts in the global transportation, indus-
trial and consumer markets. Our business is founded on technological
leadership. Innovation provides opportunities for us in growth markets
as well as advantages over our competitors. From a base of approximately
1,700 patents, we use our product development and formulation exper-
tise to sustain our leading marliet positions and fuel our future growth.
W create additives, ingredients, resins and compounds that enhance the
performance, quality and value of our customers’ products, while mini-
mizing their environmental im:pact. Our products are used in a broad
range of applications, and are sold into stable markets such as those for
engine oils, specialty driveline lubricants and metalworking fluids, as
well as higher-growth markets such as personal care and over-the-coun-
ter pharmaceutical products and performance coatings and inks. Our
engineered polymers products alse are used in a variety of industries,
including the construction, sperting goods, medical products and auto-
motive industries. We are an industry leader in many of the markets in
which our product lines compete,

We are geographically diverse, with an extensive global
manufacturing, supply chain, technical and commercial infrastructure,
We operate facilities in 29 countries, including production facilities in
20 countries and [aboratories in 13 countries, in key regions around the
world through the efforts of raore than 6,700 employees. We sell our
products in more than 100 countries and believe that our customers
value our ability to provide customized, high-quality, cost-effective per-
formance formulations and solutions worldwide. We also believe that
our customers value our global supply chain capabilities.

As part of our corporate goal'to enhance our “one company”
identity and to reflect more accurately our positioning in the market-
place, we completed a corporate identity review in the fourth quarter of
2006. We made a final deterraination in January 2007 that the wade
name “Noveon” no longer would be used to describe the specialty chem-
icals business segment of our company and that its use would be discon-
tinued except in connection with the consumer specialties product line.
We acquired the rights to the Moveon trade name in June 2004 when we
aequired Noveon International, Inc. (Noveon International). At the time
of acquisition, an appraised value was attached to the Noveon trade
name, We recorded a pretax charge of $41.2 million ($25.4 million

after-tax) to reduce the related asset to its estimated fair value. This
charge was reflected in the fourth quarter of 2006 as we believed at that
time we would more likely than not discontinue the use of the Noveon
trade name, except in the limited context of our consumer specialties
product line.

In addition, we made a decision to change the names of our
business segments. We believe that these names are a better fit with
the corporate brand that we are presenting to our markets. These name
changes do not change the way we manage our segments or the product
lines included in the segments.

Following are the name changes to our segments:

Former Name New Name
Lubricant Additives Lubrizol Additives
Specialty Chemicals Lubrizol Advanced Materials

On February 7, 2007, we completed the acquisition of a broad
line of additive products used in the metalworking markets worldwide
from Lockhart Chemical Company {Lockhart), a private company with
headquarters in Gibsonia, Pennsylvania. Lockhart is recognized in the
metalworking industry for its application and formulation capabilities
and quality products. We purchased Lockhart’s entire metalworking
product line, which includes: narural, synthetic and gelled sulfonates;
emulsifier packages; corrosion inhibitors and lubricity agents; grease
additives; oxidates; esters; soap; semi-finished coatings; and rust preven-
tatives. In 2006, these product lines had annualized revenues of approxi-
mately $20.0 million.

In May 2006, we sold the food ingredients and industrial
specialties business (FIIS) and the active pharmaceutical ingredients and
intermediate compounds business (A&I), both of which were included
in the Lubrizol Advanced Materials segment. A&I and almost all of the
FIIS divestiture reported into the Noveon consumer specialties product
line, while a small portion of the FIIS divestiture reported into the per-
formance coatings product line, We recorded a $15.9 million after-tax
loss on the sale of these divested businesses. During the first quarter
of 2006 and in connection with the held-for-sale classification, we per-
formed an impairment test resulting in a $60.6 million after-tax impair-
ment charge in the first quarter of 2006. We have reflected the results of
these divested businesses in the discontinued operations - net of tax line
item in the consolidated statements of income for all periods presented.

In February 2006, we sold certain assets and liabilities of our
Felene® resins business {Telene), which was included in the Lubrizol
Advanced Materials segment. We have reflected the results of Telene
in the discontinued operations — net of tax line item in the consolidated
statements of income for all periods presented, including an after-tax
loss an the sale of $0.7 million.

In December 2005, we sold certain assets, liabilities and stock
of our Engine Control Systems (ECS) business and, in September 2003,
we sold certain assets and labilities of our 1.8, and U.K. Lubrizol Per-
formance Systems (LPS) operations, both of which were included in
the Lubrizol Additives segment. We have reflected the results of these
businesses in the discontinued operations — net of tax line item in the
consolidated statements of income for 2005 and 2004.

& n

The Lubrizol Corporation
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On June 3, 2004, we completed the acquisition of Noveon
International, a leading global producer and marketer of technologicalty
advanced consumer specialties, engineered polymers and performance
coatings used in the industrial and consumer markets, We acquired
Noveon International for cash of $920.2 million (inclusive of certain
seller expenses of $32.9 million) plus transaction costs of $11.4 million
and less cash acquired of $103.0 million. In addition, we assumed
$1,103.1 million oflong—terrh indebtedness from Noveon International.

In connection with the acquisition of Noveon International,
we targeted non-core businesses with total revenues of approximately
$500.0 million for disposition. All disposition activities related to these
businesses were completed by the end of 2006.

LUBRIZOL ADDITIVES SEGMENT Challenging industry market forces
and conditions continue to influence the Lubrizol Additives business. A
key factor is the low global growth rate for this market, which we believe
is in the range of approximately 096 to 1% per year. Additional charac-
teristics of this market are:

e Consolidation of the additive industry and capacity reductions in
recent years, which has tighténed the supply of lubricant additive
components and packa.g;t:s.I

e Frequent product specification changes primarily driven by original
equipment manufacturers (OEMs) and the impact of environmen-
tal and fuel economy regulations on the OEMs. The specification
changes require us to incur product development and testing costs,
but also enable us to apply our technology know-how to create prod-
ucts and solve problems. We believe our technelogy, and our expertise
in applying it, are key strengths,

¢ Improved engine design, which can result in longer lubricant
drain intervals. Longer drain intervals reduce demand for finished
lubricants.

¢ New vehicle production levels, which affect our driveline fluids
in particular because the initial factory fill is an important market
factor in that product line.’

o In recent years, a general tightening of supplies leading to significant
increases in raw matertal and energy costs.

We believe we are the market leader in lubricant additives
and intend to remain the leader by continuing to invest in this business.
Our strategy is 1o continue to optimize our product line mix with exist-
ing production capacity. Our Laibrizol Additives segment represents
approximately 64% of consolidated revenues.

LUBRIZOL ADVANCED MATERIALS SEGMENT Our Lubrizol Advanced
Materials segment’s growth strategy involves a combination of internal
growth and acquisitions. Since 2000 and prior to the Noveon Inter-
national acquisition, we made cight acquisitions with aggregate annual

revenues at the time of acquisition of approximately $200.0 million.

1
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We have a strategy to continue to achieve internal growth
in the Lubrizol Advanced Materials segment by using our strengths,
including our technology, formulating skills and broad geographic
infrastructure, to develop and invest in new performance technologies
in higher-growth industrial and consumer markets. Key factors to our
success continue to be the introduction of new products, development
of new applications for existing products, cross-selling of products, the
integration of acquisitions and geographic expansion. Qur Lubrizol
Advanced Materials segment rcprcsems approximately 36% of consoli-
dated revenues. |

|

PRIMARY FACTORS AFFECTING 2006 RESULTS FROM CONTINU-
ING OPERATIONS The factors that most affected our consolidated 2006
results from continuing operations were:

o Qur ability to raise selling prices to recover raw material cost increases
from 2006 and prior years. i

[
o Volume increases of 6% in the Lubrizol Advanced Materials segment
and just under one-half percent in the Lubrizol Additives segment.

e Increased operating costs d%m to general salary and benefit cost
increases and the hiring of growth resources, costs associated with a
newly commenced project to implement a common information
systems platform primarily in the Lubrizol Advanced Materials
segment, the impact of vaIiaBlc accounting for some of our liability-
based incentive compensatmn plans, the adoption of Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards {SFAS) No. 123R “Share-Based
Payment” for the accounting of stock-based awards, and a $2.9 mil-
lion pension sertlement charge for a non-qualified plan distribution.

o Pretax impairment charges of $41.2 million associated with the
impairment of the Noveon tfade name and $10.7 million related to
plant and line closures in bol:h the Lubrizol Additives and Lubrizel
Advanced Materials _segmcnté.

® Reduced interest expense — nér of $17.7 million as a result of higher
interest income of $12.3 million associated with greater cash and
short-term investment balances, primarily related to the cash pro-
ceeds from the 2006 divestitures and lower interest expense of $5.4
million associated with reducéd debt levels.

e Increased other income of $4.7 million primarily from legal sette-
ments with suppliers.

1
o Reduced effective tax rate primarily due to the favorable provision
impacts of foreign opcrations.:

Raw material costs iricreased 14% in 2006 after increasing
18% excluding the impact of acquisitions in 2005. Qur results were
affected by how quickly and the extent to which we were able to raise
selling prices in response to raw material, utility and other operating
cost increases, Both the Lubrizol Additives and Lubrizol Advanced
Materials segments implemented price increases throughout 2006 in
response to continuing increases in these costs. However, we have not yet

recovered the full effect of the cumulative cost increases.

o
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2006 Results of Operations Compared with 2005

Income from continuing operarions increased $20.3 million to $181.8
million for 2006 compared to $161.5 million for 2005, The increase
in earnings from continuing operations primarily was attributable o
improvements in the combinaion of price and product mix, higher
volume and reduced interest ¢xpense—net, which more than offset
higher raw material and utility costs, higher restructuring and impair-

. ment charges and higher selling, technology, administrative and research

(STAR) expenses.

We recorded restructuring and impairment charges that
reduced income from continuing operations by $0.47 per diluted share
in 2006, which primarily related to a pretax impairment charge associ-
ated with the Noveon trade name and the phase-out of a manufacturing

+ facility located in Bromborough, United Kingdom. We incurred testruc-
| turing and impairment charges of $0.15 per diluted share in 2005, which

- primarily related to the phase-out of manufacturing facilities located in
. Bromborough, United Kingdony; Linden, New Jersey; and Mountain-

top, Pennsylvania, as well as other workforce reductions.

Net income for 2006 includes the factors described above for

. income from continuing operations and the impact of discontinued

' operations. Loss from discontinued operations — net was $76.2 million

in 2006 compared to income from discontinued operations — net of
$27.8 million in 2005. The loss from discontinued operations — net in
2006 primarily related to a $60.6 million after-tax impairment charge
recorded in the first quarter of 2006 to reflect the FIIS business at its fair
value and a $16.6 million after-tiux loss on the sale of divested businesses.

. ANALYSIS OF REVENUES The changes in consolidated revenues are

summarized as follows:

ANALYSIS OF COSTS AND EXPENSES

{in Miflions of Dollars) 2006 2005 5 Change % Change
Costofsales............... $3,041.9 | $2,6906.6 $345.3 13%
Selling and administrative

EXPENSES ...t e s 381.7 348.4 333 10%
Research, testing and

development expenses . ..... 2055 198.9 6.6 3%
Amortization of

intangible assets . ......... 23.7 235 0.2 1%
Restructuring and [

impairment charges ........ 519 15.8 36.0 *
Total costs and expenses . . . .. $3,704.7 | $3,283.3 %4214 13%

~ {in Millions of Dollars} - 2006 2005 $ Change % Change
o MNetsales.................. 54,036.4 | $3.618.8 $4176 12%
- Royalties and other revenues. . . 4.4 3.4 1.0 29%
j Totalrevenues ............. 54,040.8 | $3,622.2 $41B6 12%

The increase in revenues in 2006 compared to 2005 primarily
was due 10 a 10% improvement in the combination of price and product
mix and a 2% increase in volume. We experienced volume gains in all
geographic zones except Europe.

ANALYSIS OF VOLUME - 2006 VS. 2005 Volume patterns vary in dif-
ferent geographic zones. The following table shows our 2006 volume by

geographic zone as well as the changes compared with 2005:

: 2006
P Volume % Change
;. NOMRAMENEa . ..o ooe i, 46% 1%

1 EUROP . o vttt e et e 27% (1%)
}; Asia-Pacific /Middle East. . ............... 22% &%
“ LatinAmerica ... ... . v e _ 5% 11%
R L 100% 2%

Segment volume variznces by geographic zone, as well as the

: factors explaining the changes in segment revenues for 2006 compared
i with 2005, are contained under the “Segment Analysis” section.

* Calcutation not meaningful

The increase in cost of sales for 2006 compared to 2005 pri-
marily was due to higher average raw material cost and higher manu-
facturing expenses. Average raw material cost increased 14% in 2006
compared to 2005 primarily due to higher petrochemical raw material
cost. Total manufacturing expenses increased 4% in 2006 compared to
2005, primarily due to higher salaries and benefits, higher utility costs
and increased volume. On a per-unit-sold basis, manufacturing costs
increased 2% in 2006 compared to 2005.

Gross profit (net sales less cost of sales) increased $72.3 mil-
lion, or 8%, in 2006 compared to 2005. The increase primarily was due
to improvement in the combination of price and product mix and higher
volume partially offset by higher average raw material cost. In addition,
gross profit was impacted unfavorably by higher salaries and benefits,
an increase in utility costs and an unfavorable currency impact in 2006
when compared to 2005. Although we were successful in raising selling
prices to offset higher cost of sales, our 2006 gross profit percentage
(gross profit divided by net sales) decreased to 24.6% compared to 25.5%
in 2005 due to the increase in net sales from our pricing responses to
escalating raw material costs.

Selling and administrative expenses increased $33.3 million,
or 10%, in 2006 compared to 2005. The increase primarily reflects an
increase in salaries and benefits including the addition of growth
resources, an increase of $4.5 million associated with a newly com-
menced project to implement a common information systems platform
primarily in the Lubrizol Advanced Materials segment, the unfavorable
impact of variable accounting for some of our liability-based incentive
plans, a $2.9 million pension settlement charge for a non-qualified pen-
sion plan distribution and incremental stock-based compensation expense
of $2.4 million associated with the adoption of SFAS No. 123R.

The timing and amount of research, testing and development
expenses (technology expenses) are affected by lubricant additives product
standards, which change periodically to meet new emissions, efficiency,
durability and other performance factors as OEMs improve engine and
transmission designs. Technology expenses increased $6.6 million, or
3%, in 2006 compared to 2005 primarily due to increases in annual
salaries and benefits. During 2006 and 2005, approximately 87% of our
technology costs were incurred in company-owned facilities and approx-
imately 13% were incurred at third-party facilities.
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In 2006, we recorded aggregate restructuring and impairment
charges of $51.9 million, or $0.47 per diluted share, primarily related
to the write-down of a trade name in the Lubrizol Advanced Materials
segment and the phase-out of a manufacturing facility in the Lubrizol
Additives segment. !

The components of the 2006 restructuring and impairment
charges are detailed as follows:

Other
Asset Plant Exit

{in Mitlions of Doltars} Impairments Costs  Severance Total

Noveon trade name

i

impaiment . . ............ i ' 5412 $ - s - $41.2
Bromborough, U.K. closure. . . . - 4.8 1.9 6.7
Lubrizol Advanced Materials .

plant and line closures o

and workforce reductions ... | 3.3 0.2 0.6 41
OthEr. .o eeeainns ! : - {01) {0.1)
Total restructuring and ! i 7

impairment charges . . ... .. I $44.5 $5.0 $24 $51.9

As part of our corporate goal to enhance our “one company”
identity and to reflect moré ac;:urntcl)' cur positioning in the market-
place, we completed a corporate identity review in the.fourth quarter
of 2006. We made a final determination in January 2007 that the trade
name “Noveon”no longer would be used to describe the specialty chemi-
cals business segment of our company and that its use would be discon-
tinued except in connection' with the consumer specialties product line.
We acquired the rights to the Noveon trade name in June 2004 when we
acquired Noveon International. At the time of acquisition, an appraised
value was attached to the Noveon trade name. We calculated a pretax
charge of $41.2 million ($25.4 million after-tax) to reduce the related
asset to its estimated fair value. This charge was reflected in the fourth
quarter of 2006 as we believed at that time we would more likely than
not discontinue the use of the Noveon trade name, except in the limited
context of the consumer spe;cia.lties product line.

In September 2006, we entered into an agreement to sell the
manufacturing facility located in Bromborough, United Kingdom. The
sale closed in January 2007, In connection with the sale, we received net
cash proceeds of $5.9 million and recorded a pretax gain of $2.9 million
during the first quarter of 2:{)01 The gain will be classified as a restruc-
turing credit associated with closure of the facility. Production from the
Bromborough facility was transferred to higher-capacity Lubrizol facili-
ties in France and the United Srates. The sale of the facility will avoid
approximately $3.0 miilion to $5.0 million in restructuring costs that
would have been associated with demolition of the plant facilities on
the site. On January 17, 2005, we announced our plans to phase-out
production at the Bromborough facility by the end of 2006. At that
time, we estimated that total restructuring costs, including employee
severance and other plant closure costs (including planned demolition
costs), would be approximatély $15.0 million. Cumulative pretax charges
of approximately $12.8 million were incurred through 2006, of which
$6.7 million were incurred in 2006, to satisfy severance and retention
obligations, plant dismantling, site restoration and other site environ-
mental evaluation costs.

‘

14 @& The Lubrizol Corpora;ion

We have invested approxxmately $15.3 million in capital
related to the Bromborough closure through December 31, 2006 for
capacity upgrades in France an%i the United States. We expect to invest
an additional $4.0 million related to these capacity upgrades through the
first quarter of 2007.

In the first quarter of 2005, we decided to close two Lubrizo)
Advanced Materials performance coatings production facilities in the
United States. One facility, lochted in Mountaintop, Pennsylvania, was
closed in October 2005 and :sold in January 2006. We recorded an
additional $0.8 million in asset impairments and other exit costs and
$0.6 million in severance obligations in 2006 relating to the other facil-
ity located in Linden, New Jersey, which was closed in the third quarter
of 2006. Additional asser impairment charges of $2.7 million were
recorded in 2006, which primarily related to the planned closure of a
performance coatings production line in the first quarter of 2007,

In addition, we expect these workforce reductions, facility
closures and wansfers of prod;.lction to more efficient manufacturing
locations to generate annual prcrax savings of approximately $5.3 mil-
lion for the Lubrizol Advanced Materials segment and approximately
$12.0 million for the Lubrizol| Additives segment. Approximarely $8.4
million of these savings were realized in 2006.

The charges for these’cost reduction initiatives and impair-
ments are reported as a separate line item in the consolidated statements
of income, entitled “Restructuring and impairment charges” and are
included in the “Toral cost and expenses” subtotal on the consolidated
statements of income. |

|
ANALYSIS OF OTHER ITEMS ﬂND NET INCOME

{!n Millions of Doitars) 2006 2005  § Change % Change
Other income -net ......... $§ 83 $ 16 $ 67 *
Interest expense —net....... 79.3 97.0 (17.7}  (18%)
Income from continuing

operations before !

income taxes ......, Cinee i 265.1, 2435 216 9%
Provision for income taxes. .. . 1 833 82.0 1.3 2%
Income from continuing !

operations. . ............. ,181.8 161.5 20.3 13%
Discontinued operations -

netoftax ............... (76.2) 278 {104.0) *
Netincome ............... $1056 | $189.3  $(83.7)  (44%)
* Calcutation not meaningful

The increase in other income —net for 2006 compared to
2005 primarily was due to the favorable legal settlements of insurance
and commercial matters of $10.4 million and an increase in the net gain
on the sale of property of $1. 3|million, partially offset by an increase in
currency transaction losses of SZ 4 million and an increase in the elimi-
nation of minority interest of §2.4 million dlue to higher profitability of
our joint ventures.

The decrease in interest expense — net for 2006 compared to
2005 primarily was due to an increase in interest income of $12.3 million
as a result of our increased cas:h and short-term investments from the
divestiture proceeds and a decrease in interest expense of $5.4 million
due to a reduction in our Jong-term debt balances.
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Qur effective tax rate was 31.4% in 2006 compared to 33.7%
in 2005. The decrease in the effective tax rate primarily was due to the

! favorable provision impacts of foreign operations.

Primarily as a result of the above factors, income from con-

| tinuing operations per diluted share was $2.62 in 2006 compared to

$2.35 in 2005, Loss from discontinued operations per diluted share was
$1.10 in 2006 compared to inceme from discontinued operations per
diluted share of §0.40 in 2005. The loss from discontinued operations
per diluted share of $1.10 in 2006 consisted of operating income of $0.01
per diluted:share, excluding an $12.87 per diluted share impairment charge
and a $0.24 per dituted share loss on the sale of divested businesses.

2005 Resiults of Operations Compared with 2004

Our 2005 revenues as compared to 2004, excluding the impact of
acquisitions, increased primarily due to improvements in the combina-
tion of price and product mix, cffset by a slight decrease in volume. The
increased revenues partially were offset by higher raw material costs and
higher utility costs. Primarily a: a result of these factors and the impact
of acquisitions, gross profit incrzased 22% in 2005 compared with 2004.
Excluding the impact of acquisitions, gross profit increased 4% in 2005
compared to 2004.

ANALYSIS OF REVENUES Th: changes in consolidated revenues are
summarized as follows:

Toetd

Segment volume variances by geographic zone, as well as the
factors explaining the changes in segment revenues for 2005 compared
with 2004, are contained under the “Segment Analysis” section.

ANALYSIS OF COSTS AND EXPENSES

Excluding
the Impact of
Acquisitions
-] % - $ %
{in Miltions of Dollars) 2005 2004 Change Change Change Change
Costof sales ... .. $2,696.6 $2,101.7 $594.9 28% $304.0 1|4%
Selling and
administrative
expenses . ..... 3484 284.8 636 22% 9.1 '3%

’ Research, testing

and development )
expenses ...... 198.9 184.8 14.1 8% {(58.7) (3%)

Amontization
of intangible '
assets ........ 235 16.9 6.6 39% - *

Write-off of acquired
in-process
research and
development . . . . - 34.0 (34.0) * {34.0) ¥

Restructuring and
impairment

charges ....... 15.9 38.1 (22.2) * (240 | *

Total costs .
and expenses. . . $3,283.3 $2,660.3 $623.0 23% $2494 9%

E
the Impact of
Acquisttions

$ % $ %
{in Millions of Dollars} 2005 2004 Change Change Change Change

Net sales........ $3,618.8 $2,860.5 $7583 27% $333.0 12%
Royalties and
other revenues . . 34 39 (05) (13%) {0.5) (13%)

Total reveniies . .. $3,622.2 $2864.4 $757.8 26% $3325 12%

The 2004 acquisitions contributed $425.3 million toward the
increase in 2005 consolidated revenues compared with 2004. Acquisi-
tions in 2004 included Noveor: International and the hyperdispersants
business purchased from Avecia.

Excluding the impact of acquisitions, the increase in consoli-
dated revenues in 2005 compaied to 2004 was due to a 12% increase in
the combination of price and product mix,

ANALYSIS OF VOLUME - 20035 VS. 2004 Volume patterns vary in dif-
ferent geographic zones. The fcllowing table shows our 2005 volume by
geographic zone as well as the <hanges compared with 2004:

Excluding
the Impact of
2005 Acquisttions
Volume % Change % Change
North America . . .....ovivrennn 46% 6% {6%)
EUrope. . ... 28% B% 3%
AsiaPacific /Middle East. .. ..... 21% 13% 8%
LatinAmerica ... ... 0. __ 5% 6% 2%
Total .......... ... it 100% 8% -

* Calculation not meaningful
1

Cost of sales increased due to acquisitions, higher average
raw material cost and higher manufacturing expenses. Excluding ‘the
impact of acquisitions, average raw material cost increased 18% in 2005
compared with 2004. The increase in the material costs during the lat-
ter half of 2005 largely was driven by supply disruptions caused by the
U.S. Gulf coast hurricanes. Material cost, including acquisitions, also
included inventory step-up adjustments associated with the increa‘sed
valuation of inventory of $12.5 million in 2004 for the Noveon Inter-
national and hyperdispersants acquisitions. The Noveon International
portion of the inventory step-up adjustment was $9.8 million, or $0.11
per diluted share.

Total manufacturing expenses increased 19% (5% excluding
the impact of acquisitions) in 2005 compared with 2004. Excluding the
impact of acquisitions, the increase primarily was due to an increase in
utility costs as well as an unfavorable currency impact. On 2 per-unit-
sold basis, manufacturing costs increased 5% in 2005 compared to 2004,
excluding the impact of acquisitions. '

Gross profit increased $163.4 million, or 22% ($29.0 million,
or 4%, excluding the impact of acquisitions), in 2005 compared with
2004. Excluding the impact of acquisitions, the increase primarily was
due to higher average selling price, partially offset by higher unit average
raw material cost and higher utility costs. Our 2005 gross profit percent-
age decreased to 25.5% (24.7% excluding the impact of acquisitions)
compared to 26.5% in 2004. The decrease primarily was due to higher
raw material costs outpacing our ability to raise selling prices sufficiently
to sustain gross profit percentages.

The Lubrizol Corporation 9 15
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Selling and administrative expenses increased $63.6 million,
or 22% (89.1 million, or 3%, excluding the impact of acquisitions), in
2005 compared with 2004, {The increase in selling and administrative
expenses, excluding the impact of acquisitions, primarily was due to an
increase in safaries and incerfative compensation expense, offset partially
by non-recurring litigation expense of $1.9 million incurred in 2004,

Technology expenses, excluding the impact of acquisitions,
decreased 3% in 2005 compared with 2004. The decrease primarily was
due to the 2004 reduction in workforce. During 2005 and 2004, approx-
imately 87% of our technology tosts were incurred in company-owned
facilities and approximately 1;3% were incurred at third-party facilities.

The increased amortization expense in 2005 compared with
2004 primarily was due to the Noveon International and hyperdisper-
sants acquisitions in 2004. These two acquisitions resulted in an increase
in gross amortizable intangible assets of approximately $320.3 million
with useful lives ranging between 3 and 20 years.

We included a one-time, non-cash charge of $34.0 miltion,
or $0.39 per share, in total costs and expenses in 2004 to write-off the
estimated fair value of acquired in-process research and development
(IPR&D) projects associated with the Noveon International acquisition.
Costs to acquire IPR&D projects that have no alternative future use and
that have not yet reached teci‘lnological feasibility at the date of acquisi-
tion are expensed upon acquisition. We cbtained appraisals to determine
the estimated fair value of IPR&D projects. There were approximately
nine projects acquired in the Nm‘con International transaction in several
different product lines. The projects were at varying stages of complete-
ness ranging from the early development stage to prototype testing at
the time of acquisition. No further adjustments were made in 2005 to
the valuation in connection with the completion of the Noveon Interna-
tional purchase accounting, '

In 2005, we recorded restructuring and impairment charges

aggregating $15.9 million, or $0.15 per diluted share, primarily related

to the decision to close three manufacturing facilities, as well as other
workforce reductions.

The components of the 2005 restructuring and impairment
charges are detailed as follows:

s Other
! Asset Plant Exit
‘Impalrments  Costs

(tn Millions of Dollars} Severance Total

+

Lubrizol Advanced Materials
plant closures and

workforce reductions . ... | $4.2 $1.0 $3.8 $ 9.0
Bramborough, UK. closure, . ' 0.7 1.7 37 6.1
Corporate / other '

workforce reductions . ... - - 0.7 0.7

Novean International [
restructuring liabilities
assumed. ............. - - [0 a1

Total restructuring and

Impairment charges . . . . . i $4.9 $159

|
|
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In May 2005, we announced the reorganization of the
Lubrizel Advanced Materials performance coatings product line. This
product line includes businesses acquired from Noveon International as
well as businesses included in our legacy operations. In connection with
the reorganization, we eliminated 26 positions in North America and
Europe. These reductions were Tomplctcd during 2005 and resulted ina
severance charge of $1.9 million in 2005.

In the first quarter Of 2005, we made the decision and the
announcement to close two Lubnm] Advanced Materials performance
coatings production facilities in the United States. The aggregate restruc-
turing charge recorded for t.hcsr': closures for the year ended December
31, 2005 was $6.6 million, comprised of $4.2 million in asset impair-
ments, $0.9 million in exit costs and $1.5 million in severance costs. We
recorded an impairment charpe for both plants in the first quarter of
2005 to reduce the related assets to their estimated fair values. The esti-
mated fair value of the assets was determined primarily from third-party
appraisals. Production from these sites was transferred to other facilities
in the United States. One facillry, located in Mountaintop, Pennsylvania,
was closed in October 2005 and sold in January 2006, while the other
facility, located in Linden, New Jersey, was closed in the third quarter
of 2006. These closures resulted in a workforce reduction of 62 employ-
ces. We also recorded Europeidn-related restructuring charges in the
Lubrizol Advanced Materials segment of $0.4 million in severance costs
and $0.1 million in other exit costs during the fourth quarter of 2005.

In December 2004, we decided to close the Lubrizol Addi-
tives manufactuting facility in|Bromborough, United Kingdom. We
announced this decision in January 2005, A $17.0 million impatrment
charge was recorded in December 2004 to reduce the related assets to
their estimated fair values. Production phase-out of this site began in the
third quarter of 2005 and was completed in the third quarter of 2006.
During this phase-out, UK, pr?duction was transferred to facilities in
France and the United States. There were 70 employees impacted by
this closure. The aggregate restructuring charge recorded for this closure
through December 31, 2005 was $6.1 million. Total 2005 charges were
comprised of $0.7 miltion in asset impairments, $1.7 million in exit costs
and $3.7 million in severance costs.

In the second quarter of 2005, we continued a process of
identifying further opportunities to increase efficiency and productvity,
reduce costs and support our mtegration strategy of the Noveon Interna-
tional acquisition. As a result, we reduced headcount in the general and
administrative area of our Ohio headquartcrs Through these restructur-
ing efforts, we eliminared seven positions resulting in a severance-related
charge of $0.7 milfion in 2005.!All of the affected employees had left
their positions by June 30, 2005 and the remaining personnel-related
costs were paid by the end of 20(;)6.

In addition, we rca]izc:d approximately $18.3 million of pretax
savings in 2005 relating to the 2004 restructuring programs.

The charges for these cost reducton initiatives and impair-
ments are reported as a separate line item in the consolidated income
statements, entitled “Restructuring and impairment charges” and are
included in the “Total cost and expenses” subtotal on the consolidated

statements of income. '
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ANALYSIS OF OTHER ITEMS AND NET INCOME

Excluding
the Impact of
Acquisitions
$ % $ %
{in Millions of Dollars) 2005 2004 Change Change Change Change
Other income—-net ... $ 16 % 54 $ (3.8 * $(4.5) *
Interest expense —net . 970 723 24.7 * (8.8) *
Income from continuing
operations before
income taxes . ..... 2435 1372 1063 77% 87.4 64%
Provision for
income taxes ...... 820 500 320 64% 28.2 56%
Income from continuing
operations. ........ 1615 87.2 743 85% 59.2 68%
Discontinued
operations — net
oftax ............ 27.8 6.3 215 * B.7 *
Net income . ........ $189.3 $935 $ 958 102% $67.9 73%

*Calculation not meaningful

The change in other income — net in 2005 predominantly was
due to the non-recurring 2004 grain of $6.4 million on a currency forward
contract to purchase pound srerling related to the acquisition of the
hyperdispersants business. We secured the forward contract in Decem-
ber 2003 and completed the acquisition at the end of January 2004.

The increase in interest expense — net in 2005, compared with
2004, primarily was due to the Noveon International pretax acquisition-
related financing costs of $82.0 million, or $0.77 per diluted share, in
2005 compared to $56.7 million, or $0.66 per diluted share, in 2004,
These costs were comprised of the interest incurred relating to the per-
manent financing as well as interest on the bridge loan and assumed
Noveon International debt not repaid at the time of the acquisition of
$42.6 million, amortization of bridge loan fees of $11.2 millien and
termination of an interest rate swap of $2.9 million. We obrained per-
manent financing for the Novzon International acquisition in the third
guarter of 2004,

We had an effective: tax rate of 33.7% in 2005 as compared
with 36.4% in 2004. [tems driving the decrease in tax rate included
reduced tax costs associated with zctual and planned foreign dividends,
the more favorable impact of foreign tax rate differences and higher U.S.
tax benefits on exports. These factors partially were offset by inereased
state income taxes and lower non-taxable currency gains as compared
to 2004.

As of December 31, 2005, we had U.S5. net operating loss
carryforwards (NOLs) of $178.4 million. These NOLs are a combina-
tion of NOLs acquired from Noveon International, as well as those
generated in 2004 primarily as a result of transaction-related costs.

Primarily as a result of the above factors, our income from
continuing operations per diluted share was $2.35 in 2005 compared to
$1.56 in 2004. Income from discontinued operations per diluted share
was $0.40 in 2005 compared to $0.11 in 2004. Income from discontin-
ued operations in 2005 included $0.28 per diluted share of operating
income from the FI1IS and A&I businesses, $0.10 per diluted share
related to LPS and ECS, of which $0.04 was attributable to the gain on
sale, and $0.02 per diluted share in operating income related to the
Telene resins business. Restructuring and impairment charges recorded
in 2005 reduced earnings by $0.15 per diluted share. Earnings in 2004
included a one-time write-off for IPR&D) projects from the Noveon
International acquisition of $0.38 per diluted share, a purchase adjust-
ment associated with the increased valuation of Noveon International-
acquired inventory of 80.11 per diluted share, restructuring charges of
$0.46 per diluted share, acquisition-related financing costs of $0.66 per
dituted share and a gain on a foreign currency forward contract of $0.07
per diluted share.

Segment Analysts

We primarily evaluate performance and allocate resources based on seg-
ment operating income, defined as revenues less expenses identifiable
to the product lines included within each segment, as well as projected
future rerurns. Segment operating income will reconcile to consolidated
income from continuing operations before income taxes by deducting
corporate expenses and corporate other income {expense) that are not
attributable to the operating segments, restructuring and impairment
charges and net interest expense.

'The proportion of consolidated revenues and segment operat-
ing income attributed to each segment was as follows:

2006 2005 2004
REVENUES:
Lubrizol Additives. .............. 64% 63% TO0%
Lubrizol Advanced Matenals. . ... .. 36% 37% 30%
SEGMENT OPERATING INCOME:
Lubrizol Additives. . ............. 65% 64% 75%
Lubrizol Advanced Materials. . ... .. 35% 36% 25%
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OPERATING RESULTS BY SEGMENT

2005 vs. 2004
. Excluding the Impact
2006 vs, 2005 of Acquisitions
{in Millions of Dollars) 2006 2005 2004 $ Change % Change $ Change % Change
REVENUES:
Lubrizol Additives. . ... ... . . e $2,600.5 $2,280.0 $1,998.6 $320.5 14% $281.4 14%
Lubrizol Advanced Materials. . ...................... 1,440.3 1,342.2 865.8 9813, % 51.1 6%
Total . oottt $4,0408 | 536222  $2.864.4 $418l6 12% $3325 12%
GROSS PROFIT: |
Lubrizol ADGItIVES . . . . oo e i e $ 5813 531.2 $ 508.4 s 50!1 9% $ 228 4%
Lubrizol Advanced Materials. . .......... . ... ... .0 413.2 391.0 2504 22!2 6% _E 2%
FORBL - - oo $ 994.5 9222  $ 7588 5 723 8% $ 200 a%
OPERATING INCOME: ’
Lubrizol Additives. . ... . ... e § 306.1 266.6 $ 2409 § 395 15% $ 257 11%
Lubrizol Advanced Materials. . ...................... 167.6 150.9 78.6 16.!7 11% 18.1 23%
B = $ 473.7 417.5 $ 3195 $ 56.|2 13% $ 438 14%

Lubrizol Additives Segment

2006 COMPARED WITH 2005 Revenues increased 14% in 2006 when
compared to 2005. The increase primarily was due to improvement in
the combination of price and product mix, while a slight increase in
volume was offset by a slight unfavorable impact of currency.

Volume patterns vary in different geographic zones. The fol-

lowing table shows our volume by geographic zone in 2006 as well as the
changes compared with 2005:

and utility cost increases. The cﬁéctive dates of the selling price increases
varied by geographic zone. The gross profit increase primarily was due to
an improvement in the combination of price and product mix partially
offset by a 19% increase in average material cost in 2006 as compared
to 2005. Manufacturing costs on a per-unit-sold basis increased 3% in
2006 compared to 2005. The inérease was due in part to higher utility
costs as well as higher operating supplies and outside services partially
offset by lower depreciation expense, employee benefits and a reclassifi-
catton of certain expenses from manufacturing to STAR due to a change
in organization structure in our European operations. In addition, man-

2006
Volume % Change
NorthAmerica . .. ... ..o inaaot. 38% 1%
LT o 30% (3%)
AsiaPacific /Middle East. . ............... 26% 2%
LatinAmerica . ........... .. ... 0oL, _ &% 5%
Total .. ... ... ... e % -

ufacuring costs were impacted favorably by approximately $5.2 million
in 2006 as we curtailed production activity at our Bromborough, UK.
plant in accordance with our previously announced timetable to close
this facility.

The gross profit perccﬂtage declined to 22.4% in 2006 com-
pared with 23.3% in 2005. The decline in gross profit percentage primar-
ily was due to continuing raw material cost increases throughout most of

Volume increased slightly in 2006 compared to 2005; how-
ever, excluding the impact of nonrecurring, temporary business gains in
2005, volume increased 2% in 2006 compared to 2005,

The decrease in volime in Europe was due in part to a change
in a customer sourcing from Furcpe to North America. The volume
growth in the Asia-Pacific/Middle East region primarily resulted from
growth in China, which represents our third largest country in terms of
volume sold despite the fact that a majority of the 2005 temporary busi-
ness gains occurred in this region. The volume growth in Latin America
primarily was driven by stronger demand by our major international
customers.

Segment gross profit increased 9% in 2006 compared to 2005
as we continued to recover from margin erosion that occurred in 2005
and prior years. The Lubrizo! Additives segment implemented a series of
price increases in 2006 and 2005 in response to continued raw material
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2006 outpacing the timing of price increases.
STAR expenses increased 7% in 2006 compared to 2005. This

increase primarily was due to an increase in selling and administrative
expenses of $14.8 million. The higher selling and administrative costs
primarily resulted from the impact of reclassifying to STAR certain
expenses that previously were clagsified as manufacturing resulting from
a change in organization structure in our European operations, increases
in base and variable compensation and a change in the timing of annual
salary increases. The balance of the change in STAR expenses was due to
an increase in technical expenses of $3.5 million primarily associated
with technical programs within our driveline and industrial oils addi-
tives packages. '

Other income was ilnf)ucted favorably by $11.7 million pri-
marily due to legal settlements of insurance and commercial matters as
well as the gain on sale of certain properties.




- A0

Segment operating inzome (revenues less expenses attribut-
able to the product lines aggregat=d within each segment) increased5%
in 2006 compared to the prior year due to the factors discussed above.

2005 COMPARED WITH 2004 Segment revenues increased 14% in
2005 compared to 2004, due to a 12% improvement from the combina-
tion of price and product mix, and a 1% increase in both volume and
currency.

Volume patterns vary in different geographic zones. The fol-
) lowing table shows our volume by geographic zone in 2005 as well as the
! changes compared with 2004:

2005
Volume % Change
, NOth AMerica . .. ...t e 38% (5%)
i ‘ EUTODE . 4 v vt vvveer o ome et e e 31% 3%
‘  AsiaPacific/Middle East. . ........ooeo 25% 9%
v LatinAmerica ..ol aii _;6% 2%
Total ... ... i % 1%

Total volume increased 1% in 2005 compared to 2004. Our
results reflect some spot business or temporary business gains during
) 2005.This increase partially was offset by the final piece of lost business
! of a major international customer in the second half of 2004 and the
; impact on volumes of the higher concentration associated with the new
| passenger car technical standard GF-4 as compared to GF-3. Exclud-
ing these three specific factors, violume increased 3% globally and 1% in
North America compared to 2004,

Higher volume in Eusope in 2005 compared with 2004 pri-
marily was due to increases in or engine additives product line due to
improved product mix and market share gains. The Asia-Pacific/ Middle
East region benefited from overall expanded growth in that market,
particularly China, as well as spot business gains. Excluding the spot
business gains, volumes increased 5% in Asia-Pacific/ Middle East.

1 ‘The Lubrizol Additives segment implemented a series of price

! increases in 2005 in response to continued raw material cost increases
| as well as higher prices for natura] gas and electricity used in our plants.
l’ The effective dates of the price increases varied by geographic zone.

; Segment gross profit increased $22.8 million, or 4%, in 2005
compared to 2004. The increase primarily was due to the cumulative
impact of the selling price incr:ases as well as an increase in volume,
largely offset by higher average 1aw material cost and to a lesser extent,
higher utility costs. In 2005, average unit raw materiat cost increased
22% compared to 2004, Manufa:turing expenses increased 3% in 2005;
however, on a per-unit-sold basis, manufactusing expenses increased

expenses was driven by higher utilities and maintenance costs in 2005
partially offset by lower employee benefit expense and lower environ-

mental accruals.

Gross profit as a percentage of net sales for the segment was
23.3% for 2005 compared with 25.5% in 2004, The decline primarily was
due to the time lag between the effective date of selling price increases

in the wake of continuing raw material cost increases and raw material
costs rising proportionally faster than selling prices.
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STAR expenses decreased 1% in 2005 compared to 2004, pri-
marily due to lower technical expenses of $3.1 million. The decrease in
technical expenses primarily was due to lower outside technical expenses
impacted by delays in the industry specifications for new lubricant addi-
tive programs.

Segment operating income increased 11% in 2005 compared
with 2004 due to the factors discussed above.

Lubrizol Advanced Materials Segment

2006 COMPARED WITH 2005 Revenues for the Lubrizol Advanced
Materials segment increased 7% in 2006 compared with 2005. The
increase was due to a 6% increase in volume and a 1% improvement
in the combination of price and product mix. The improvement in the
combination of price and product mix primarily occurred-in our Noveon
consumer specialties product line.

Volume patterns vary in different geographic zones. The fol-
lowing table shows our volume by geographic zone in 2006 as well as the
changes compared with 2005:

2006 )
Volume % Change
North America. :........oooviiiinann, 65% 1%
0o - 18% . 4%
AsiaPacific /Middle East. . .. ............. 13% 28%
Latin America ... .. i e 4% 32%
Total .. ... e e w 6%

only 1% as compared 1o the prior year. The increase in manufacturing -

Qur engineered polymers and Noveon consumer specialties
product lines both had increases in volume in North America in 2006
compared to 2005, The increase in our engineered polymers product line
was due to increased customer demand in both our Estane® thermo-
plastic polyurethane business (Estane) and our TempRite® engineered
polymers business (TempRite). TempRite benefited from continued
conversions from metals to plastics. The increase in the Noveon con-
sumer specialties. product line primarily was due to increased customer
demand in our personal care and home care business and tolling sales to
the buyer of our FIIS business. Our performance coatings product line
had a slight decrease in volume in North America in 2006 compared 'to
2005, which we believe primarily was due to the continued migration of
the textile industry from North America to China.

Our engineered polymers and performance coatings product
lines had increases in Europe in 2006 compared to 2005. The increase
in our performance coatings product line primarily was due to customer
demand and market share gains in the textiles market and customer
demand in the paints and coatings market. The increase in our engi-
neered polymers product line was due to market-share gains in our
Estane business and business gains in our TempRite business result-
ing from continued conversions from metals to plastics. Our Noveon
consumner specialties product line had a decrease in volume in Europe in
2006 compared to 2005 primarily attributable to our AMPS® specialty
monomers business. The increase in Asia-Pacific/Middle East volume
for 2006 primarily was duc to higher customer demand and market-share
gains in both our Estane business and performance coatings product line,
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predominately in the textiles market, and higher customer demand in
our Noveon consumer specialties product line. We also experienced
higher customer demand in the TempRite business, particularly in the

Middle East and India.

Segment gross profit increased $22.2 million, or 6%, in 2006
compared to 2005. The increase in segment gross profit in 2006 primar-
ily was the result of highcr' revenues due to the increase in volume and
improvement in the combination of price and product mix partially off-
set by higher average raw material cost and manufacturing costs. Average
raw material cost increased 4% in 2006 compared to 2005. Manufactur-
ing costs primarily were higher due to increased utility costs, the impact
of reclassifying certain expenses from STAR to manufacturing as a result
of a change in organizational structure in our European operations and
higher volume.

The gross profiv percentage for this segment was 28.7% in
2006 compared to 29.1% in 2005. The decrease in gross profit percent-
age in 2006 was due to higher average raw material cost partially offset
by an improvement in the combination of price and product mix.

STAR expenses increased §9.0 million, or 4%, in 2006 com-
pared to 2005. The increase in STAR was due to higher salaries and
incentive compensation and increased hiring to support growth initia-
tives partially offset by the impact of reclassifying certain expenses from
STAR to manufacturing as a result of a change in organizational struc-
ture in our European operations and reductions in bad debt expense.

Segment operating income increased $16.7 million in 2006
compared to 2005. The increase in segment operating income primar-
ily was due to the increase in segment gross profit as described above,
partially offset by the increase in STAR expenses.

2005 COMPARED WITH 2004 In 2005, revenues for the Lubrizol
Advanced Materials segment increased 55% compared with 2004 pri-
marily due to the 2004 acquisitions of Noveon International and the
hyperdispersants business. Excluding the impact of acquisitions, seg-
ment revenues increased 6% in 2005 compared with 2004 due o a 10%
improvernent in the combination of price and product mix partially off-
set by a 4% decrease in volume. The improvements in price and product
mix occurred relatively evenly across all three of our product lines as we
had implemented price increases to offset rising raw material costs.

Volume patterns J‘vary in different geographic zones. The fol-
lowing table shows our volume by geographic zone in 2005 as well as the

changes compared with 2004: .
Excluding
the Impact of
2005 Acquisitions
Volume % Change % Change
North America . ... ... ...t 8% 28% {T%)
Europe.................. HP 19% A0% 2%
AsiaPacific /Middle East. . .... ., 10% 44% (3%}
Latin America .. ..........:... 3% 32% -
Total ...............00. HI 100% 31% (4%)
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Excluding the impact of acquisitions, all three product lines
showed volume decreases in North America. These decreases primarily
were due to our exiting certain:low-margin business, deterioration in the
textiles market and some matket-share loss as a result of competitive
activity in response to our pricé increases. The volume increase in Europe
primarily was in our Noveon donsumer specialties product line and was
due to increased sales in our AMPS specialty monomers business.

Segment gross profit increased $140.5 million, or 56%
(increased $6.2 million, or 296) excluding the impact of acquisitions), in
2005 compared with 2004. E:xciuding the impact of acquisitions, the
increase in segment gross profit in 2005 resulted from higher revenues
due to an improvement in the combination of price and product mix
partially offset by lower volumé dnd higher raw material costs and utility
expenses, Average raw materi':ﬂ cost increased 12% in 2005 compared
with 2004, Raw material cost for 2004 included the impact of $7.5 mil-
lion of inventory step-up amortization from acquisition accounting.
Excluding the impact of the step-up in 2004, average raw material cost
increased 13% in 2005 mmp:!.red with 2004. Manufacturing expenses
increased 9% in 2005 compa’rcd with 2004 primarily due to higher
spending related to utilities. Average unit manufacturing expense
increased 14% due to the combination of lower volumes and higher

utility and operating cxpcnscs.:

Gross profit as a pércentage of net sales was 29.1% (28.0%
excluding the impact of acquisitions) in 2005 compared with 29.0% in
2004. Excluding the impact of the inventory step-up amortization, the
gross profit percentage for 2004 was 29.8%. The decrease in gross profit
percentage in 2005 was due to higher average raw material cost and
higher manufacturing costs partially offset by an improvement in the
combination of price and product mix.

STAR expenses increased $62.9 million, or 40%, in 2005
(decreased $11.4 million, or 7%, excluding the impact of acquisitions)
compared with 2004, Excludir;g the impact of acquisitions, the decrease
in STAR expenses primarily v{ras due to reduced corporate administra-
tive and technical services provided to the segment, the consolidation
of some segment administrative functions into corporate functions and
savings from a restructuring in our performance coatings product line.

1

Segment operating income increased $72.3 million in 2005
(increased $18.1 million, cxclug!ing the impact of acquisitions} compared
with segment operating incothe of $78.6 million in 2004, Excluding
the impact of acquisitions, the increase in segment operating income
primarily was due to the increase in segment gross profit and lower
STAR expenses. !

1

Return on Average Shart%holders’ Equity

Return on average sharcholdt’!rs’ equity was 6.5% in 2006, 12.2% in
2005 and 7.6% in 2004. The }cmrn on average shareholders’ equity is
calculated as current year net income divided by the rolling 12-month
average of shareholders’ equity for the current and prior years. The
earnings (loss} impact of distontinued operations, restructuring and
impairment charges and the write-off of acquired IPR&D in 2004
lowered the return on average sharcholders’ equity by approximately
5.6%, 0.8% and 4.7% in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.
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. Working Capital, Liquidity and Capital Resources

SELECTED MEASURES OF LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
The following table summarizes our financial performance indicators
of bquidiry:

| 2006 2008

J}; Cash and short-term investments

j {inmillions ofdollars} . .............-v.. $ 575.7 $262.4
Working capital {in millions of dollars} ....... $1,204.3 $907.4

L CUMBNLIALIO . oo vr e 29 2.4

! Debt as a % of capitalization .............. 47.5% 51.6%
Net debt as a % of capitalization ........... 36.1% 47.3%

SUMMARY OF CASH FLOWS The following table summarizes the major
components of cash flows:

i fin Millions of Dollars) 2006 2005 2004

:‘ Cash provided by (used for}:

1' Operating activities. .. . ......... $334.8 $362.2  $ 3316
l; Investing activities ... .......... 151.4 (106.8)  {1,088.8)
N Financing activities. ............ (183.9) (312.8) 808.5
l . Effect of exchange-rate
! i changesoncash.............. 11.0 {16.1) 259
th Net increase (decrease) in cash

' and short-term investments. . . ... $313.3 $(73.5) $ 772

OPERATING ACTIVITIES The decrease in cash provided by operating
activities in 2006 compared with 2005 primarily relates to a decrease
in payables and accrued expenses, including the payment of accounts
payable of approximarely $27.0 million that were retained at the closing
. of the FIIS divestiture and uafavorable timing of accounts payable
| disbursements in 2006 compared to 2005, In addition, we experienced
higher inventory levels due to increased raw material costs, as well as
an increase in finished goods inventory caused by lower year-end ship-
* ment volumes.

' We manage our levels of inventories and accounts receivable
on the basis of average days szles in inventory and average days sales
in receivables. We establish our targer for accounts receivable by taking
into consideration the weighted average of our various terms of trade for
each segment. We establish ou: target for days sales in inventory with
the goal of minimizing our investment in inventories while at the same

time ensuring adequate supply for our customers. Despite the increase
in working capital due to higher average selling price and higher inven-
tory costs, we improved our days outstanding in accounts receivable and
days in inventory.

INVESTING ACTIVITIES Our cipital expenditures in 2006 were $130.9
million, as compared with $135.7 million and $133.2 million in 2005
and 2004, respectively. Capital expenditures for the Lubrizol Additives
segment primarily are made to maintain existing manufacturing capac-
ity. Approximately 30% of the capital expenditures in the Lubrizol
i, Advanced Materials segment related to increasing capacity. In 2007, we

estimate annual capital expenditures will be approximately $175.0 mil-

lion to $180.0 million. The higher level of estimated capital expenditures
h in 2007 is driven by our plans to build production capacity for our
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Lubrizol Advanced Materials product lines in China, North America
and Europe to meet growing demand, as well as to bring both segments
onto a common information systems platform.

The sales of FIIS and A& were completed on May 1, 2006
and May 23, 2006, respectively. In consideration for these divested
businesses, we received net cash proceeds of approximately $254.8 mil-
lion and $10.4 million, respectively. The FIIS sale resulted in a raxable
gain, which was offset by our remaining net operating loss carryfor-
wards. The sale of Telene was completed in February 2006 for net cash
proceeds of $6.2 million,

FINANCING ACTIVITIES Cash used for financing activities of $183.9 mil-
lion in 2006 primarily consisted of repayments of long-term debt and
the payment of dividends, partially offset by proceeds from the exercise
of stock options. This compares to $312.8 million used for financing
activities in 2005, which primarily consisted of net repayments of long-
term debt of $280.4 million and the payment of dividends, partially
offset by borrowings under our euro revolving credit facility and pro-
ceeds from the exercise of stock options.

Other than the €85.0 million cutstanding under our euro
revolving credit facility, we have no other debt that is prepayable with-
out incurring a penalry.

CAPITALIZATION AND CREDIT FACILITIES At December 31, 2006, our
total debt outstanding of §1,541.7 million consisted of 67% fixed-rate
debt and 33% variable-rate debt, including $400.0 million of fixed-rate
debt that effectively has been swapped to a variable rate. Qur weighted-
average interest rate as of December 31, 2006 was approximately 5.8%.

Our net debt to capitalization ratio at December 31, 2006
was 36.1%. Net debt represents total short-term and long-term debt,
excluding original issue discounts and unrealized gains and losses on
derivative instruments designated as fair-value hedges of fixed-rate debt,
reduced by cash and short-term investments. Capitalization is calculated
as shareholders’ equity plus net debt. Toral debt as a percent of capital~
ization was 47.5% at December 31, 2006.

Qur ratio of current assets to current liabilities was 2.9 and
2.4 at December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

On September 20, 2006, we amended our five-year unsecured
committed U.S. bank credit agreement to reduce the revolving credit
facility from $500.0 million to $350.0 million and extend the mam-
rity date to September 2011. In addition, as of September 20, 2006,
our direct and indirect domestic subsidiaries were released as guarantors
under the credit agreement, and we no longer are subject to any invest-
ment or acquisition restrictions. This credit facility allows us to borrow at
variable rates based upon the U.S. prime rate or LIBOR plus a specified
credit spread. As of December 31, 2006, we had no outstanding borrow-
ings under this agreement.

In addition, at December 31, 2006, two of our wholly owned
foreign subsidiaries had a €250.0 million revolving credit facility that
matures in September 2010. This credit agreement permits these foreign
subsidiaries to borrow at variable rates based on EURIBOR plus a spec-
ified credit spread. We have guaranteed all obligations of the borrowers
under the credit agreement. On September 20, 2006, we amended this
credit agreement such that we no longer are subject to any investment or
acquisition restrictions. No other terms or conditions of the agreement
were modified. As of December 31, 2006, we had outstanding borrow-
ings of €85.0 million under this agreement.

The Lubrizol Corporation @ 21




MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS continueo

The cash balance of $575.7 million at December 31, 2006
will be used to fund ongeing operations, pay down debt, pursue acqui-
sition opportunities and buy back shares sufficient to offset future
dilution from our stock-based incentive compensation plans. Given the
call premium on our long-term deby, it is unlikely that we will reduce
debt significantly before our next scheduled maturity in late 2008.
‘Therefore, it is possible that we will carry excess cash until our next
scheduled maturity.

CONTRACTUAL CASH OBLIGATIONS The following table shows our
contractual cash obligations under debt agreements, leases, non-cancel-
able purchase commitments and other long-term liabilities at December
31, 2006:

Payments Due by Perlod
' 2008- 2010 2012

(i Millions of Dollars) Total 2007 2009 2011 and After
Total debt™, . ... ... $1.5491 S 3.7 §5826 S112.7 $ 8501
Interest® ... ,..... 95?.6 809 1501  103.0 620.6
Operating leases .. . . 623 - 174 23.0 136 8.6
Non<cancelabie

purchase

commitments® . . 178.0 77.9 86.6 9.2 43
Other long-term ’

liabilities 4 _ ... 888 64.1 8.6 0.6 15.5
Total contractual : !

cash chligations. .. $2,832.8 52437 $850.9 5239.1 $§1,499.1

{1} Total debt includes both the current and long-term portions of debt as reported
it Note 7 ta the consolidated financial statements, excluding original issue
discounts and unrealized gains on derivative instruments designated as fairvalue
hedges of fixedrate debl.

(2) Represents estimated contractual interest payments for fixedrate debt only. We
are not able to estimate reasonably the cash payments for interest associated
with variable-rate debt due to the significant estimation required relating to both
market interest rates as well a5 projected principal payments.

(3) Noncancelable purchase comr}n':ments primarily include raw materiais purchased
under take-or-pay contracts, orumiming, warehousing and service contracts, ulility
purchase agreements, terminal agreements and toll processing arrangements.

(4) Other fong-term liabilities disciosed in the tabie represent long-term liabilities
reported in cur consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2006 under
“noncurrent liabiiities, " excluding pension, postretirement, postemployment,
environmental and other non-contractual liabilities.

(5) We are required to make minimum contributions to our U.S. defined benefit
pension plans pursuant to the minimum funding requirements of the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and the Employee Retirement Income
Security Act of 1974, as amended. Funding requirements for plans outside the
United States are subject to applicable local regulations. in 2007, we expect to
make employer contributions of approximately $57. 7 million to the qualified plans
to satisfy these minimurn statutory funding requirements. in 2007, we expect to
make payments of approximately $1.8 million relating to our unfunded pension
plans. The expected payments associated with the unfunded plans represent
an actuarial estimate of future assumed payments based upon retirement and
payment patterns. Actual emounts paid could differ from this estimate. In addi
tion, non-pension postretirement benefit payments are expected te approximate
$4.6 million in 2007. We have included these expected contridutions of $64.1
million in the sbove table, Due to uncertainties regarding significant assumptions
involved in estimating future required contributions to our defined benefit pension
and other plans, such as interest rate levels, the amount and timing of asset
returns and future restructurings, if any, we are not able to reasonably estimate
our contributions beyond 2007,

In addition, at December 31, 2006, we had $45.7 million
of contingent obligations under standby letters of credit issued in the
ordinary course of business to financial institutions, customers and

insurance companies to secure short-term support for a variety of com-
mercial transactions, insurance and benefit programs.
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We had $1,541.7 mi:].h'on of debt outstanding at December 31,
2006 compared to $1,670.8 million outstanding at December 31, 2005.
Our total debt as a percent of capitalization has decreased from 51.6%
at December 31, 2005 to 47.5% at December 31, 2006, We believe our
future operating cash flows willl be sufficient to cover our debt repay-
ments, other contractual obligations, capital expenditures and dividends.
In addition, we have untapped borrowing czpacity that can provide us
with additional financial resources. We currently have a shelf registration
statement filed with the Sccurlities and Exchange Commission (SEC)
under which $359.8 million of|debt securities, preferred shares or com-
mon shares may be issued. Injaddition, as of December 31, 2006, we
maintained cash and short—tcn%n investment balances of $575.7 million
and had $304.3 million avai labic under our ULS. revolving credit facility
and €165.0 million available urider our euro revolving credit facility.

GUARANTEES On May 1, 20IO6, we sold the FIIS business to SPM
Group Holdings, LLC, now kiiown as Emerald Performance Materials,
LLC (Emerald}. As a result of the sale, Emerald became responsible
for a supplier contract with SK Corporation (SK). We have provided a
guarantee to SK for the timely ]I)crformance of Emerald’s payment obli-
gations, SK may make a demand for payment of outstanding obligations
under this guarantee, which extends to January 31, 2008, provided they
are unable to collect payment from Emerald using commercially reason-
able efforts. The guarantee is re\irocablc by us upon 60 days’ prior written
notice, Because of the existing revocation clause, we estimate that the
maximum liability under the guarantee would be approximately $15.2
million. However, we believe that it is highly unlikely that an event
would occur requiring us to pay any monies pursuant to the guarantee.
Accordingly, no Liability has been reflected in our consolidated balance
sheet at December 31, 2006. |

INDEMNIFICATIONS [n conncétion with the sale of the FiIS business,
we have provided indemnifications to Emerald with respect to the busi-
ness sold. These indemnifications have been associated with the price
and quantity of raw material pu'rchascs, permit costs, costs incurred due
to the inability to obtain permits and environmental matters, We believe
that losses incurred in any of tl;lesc marters would not have a material
effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations. For
those indemaification agrecmcrilts where a payment by us is probable
and estimable, a liability has bcc;n recorded as of December 31, 2006.

Critical Accounting Policies
1

The preparation of financial statg:ments and related disclosures in accor-
dance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America requires us o make judgments, assumptions and estimates at
a specific point in time that afféct the amounts reported in the accom-
panying consolidated financial statements and related notes. In preparing
these financial statements, we have utilized available information includ-
ing our past history, industry sralndards and the current economic envi-
ronment, among other factors, in forming our estimates and judgments
of certain amounts tncluded in’ the consolidated financial statements,
giving due consideration to materiality. It is possible thar the ultimare
outcome as anticipated by management in formulating our estimates
inherent in these financial staterents may not materialize. Application
of the critical accounting policies described below involves the exercise
of judgment and the use of assmﬁptions as to future uncertainties and, as
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“ a result, actual results could differ from these estimates. In addition,

| other companies may utilize diffzrent estimates, which may impact the
comparability of our results of operations to similar businesses.

;& ACCOUNTING FOR RESERVES AND CONTINGENCIES Our accounting
| policies for reserves and contingzncies cover a wide variety of business
" activities, including reserves for potentially uncollectible receivables,
" slow-moving or obsolete inventory, legal and environmental exposures
. and tax exposures. We accrue these reserves when our assessments indi-
cate that it is probable that a liability has been incurred or an asset will
not be recovered and an amount «an be reasonably estimated. We review
these estimates quarterly based or: currently available information. Actual
results may differ from our estimates and our estimates may be revised
upward or downward, depending upon the outcome or changed expecta-
tions based on the facts surrounding each exposure. We discuss annually
with the audit committee of our board of directors our reserves and con-

tingencies, as well as our policies and processes for evaluating them.

?: ACCOUNTING FOR SALES DISCOUNTS AND REBATES Sales discounts
- and rebates are offered to certain customers to promote customer loyalty
- and to encourage greater product sales. These rebate programs provide
' that upon the atrainment of pre-established volumes or the attainment
; of revenue milestones for a specified period, the customer receives credits
| against purchases. We estimate the provision for rebates based upon the
lspeciﬁc terms in each agreement ar the time of shipment and an esti-
mate of the customer’s achievement of the respective revenue milestones.
| Customer claims, returns and zllowances and discounts are accrued
| based upon our history of claims and sales returns and allowances, The
!l estimated provisions significantly could be affected if furure occurrences
"and claims differ from these assumptions and historical trends.

» DETERMINATION OF NET PERIODIC PENSION COST Each year we

review with our actuaries the actuarial assumptions used in the deter-
' mination of ner periodic pension cost, as prescribed by SFAS No. 87,
-“Employers Accounting for Pensions.” The determination of net peri-
odic pension cost is based upon & number of actuarial assumptions. The
two most critical assumptions are the expected return on plan assets and
! the discount rate for determining the funded status. Other assumptions
include the rate of compensation increase and demegraphic factors such
as retirernent age, mortality and turnover. We review the critical assump-
tions for our U.S. pension plans with the audit committee of our board
‘of directors, Qur net periodic pansion cost for all pension plans was

$49.8 million in 2006, $40.9 million in 2005 and $34.9 million in 2004.
"The net periodic pension cost included a settlement loss of $2.9 million,
; $0.3 million and $7.7 millien in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. In
accordance with generally accept=d accounting principles, actual resules
that differ from the assumption: are accumulated and amortized over

future periods and, therefore, affect expense recognized and obligations
recorded in future periods.

In developing our asswmption for the expected [ong-term rate
of return on plan assets, we considered historical returns and the future

‘expectations for returns for each asset class, as well as the target asset
lallocation of the pension portfolic. In 2006, we lowered our assump-
“tion for the U.S. pension plans by 25 basis points to 8.25% (7.48% on a
 weighted-average basis for all plans) based on our investment mix and
projected market conditions. We believe 8.25% represents a reasonable
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return that could be achieved over the long term using our current asset
allocation. At December 31, 2006, our U.S. pension plans’ assets had an
investment mix that approximated 73% in equity securities and 27% in
debt securities.

A change in the rate of return of 100 basis points would have
the following effects on 2007 net periodic pension cost: ‘

100 Basis Point

(in Miltions of Doilars) Increase Decrease
US.pensionplans. .. .............c..cocu.n. 5(2.7) s2.7
International pensionplans ................. (1.9) 1.9
All pENSIoN PlaNS .. oot e e e 5{4.6) $4.6°

The selection of a discount rate for pension plans is required
1o determine the value of future pension obligations and represents our
best estimate of our cost in the marketplace 1o settle all pension obli-
gations through annuity purchases, We determined the discount rate
based upon current market indicators, including yields from dedicated
bond portfolios that provide for a general matching of bond marturi-
ties with the projected benefit cash flows from our plans. The dedicated
bond portfolios consist of non-callable corporate bonds that are at least
AA- quality, The 2006 year-end discount rate assumption for our U.S.
pension plans was set at 6.25%, which is an increase from 5.75% used
in 2005. On a worldwide basis, the 2006 weighted-average discount rate
utilized increased to 5.67% from 5.28% used in 2005,

A change in the discount rate of 100 basis points would have
the following effects on 2007 net periodic pension cost:

100 Basls Point
{ln Miilfions of Doflars) Increase Decrease
US.pensionplans...............ccoeunnn 5(3.0} 5 7.0
International pensionplans . ................ (5.2) 34
Allpensionplans . . ....cvv e cin e $(8.2) $10.4

The accumulated benefit obligation for all pension plans
worldwide exceeds the value of plan assets by $67.1 million. This repre-
sents a $45.5 million improvement in funded status from the $112.6 mil-
fion in the total unfunded accumulated benefit obligation reported
in 2005, The accumulated benefit obligation exceeded the plan assets
for the U.S. pension plans by $30.3 million and the non-U.S. plans by
$36.8 million in 2006. The primary driver behind the $45.5 million
decrease in the unfunded benefit obligations was a resuit of favorable
investment returns during 2006,

Changes in pension plan assumptions are expected to decrease
pension expense for most pension plans worldwide in 2007, The 2007
pension expense is expected to be approximately $40.2 million, exclud-
ing the impact of any settlement charges. The expected decrease in
pension expense in 2007, excluding the impact of settlement charges,
primarily is due to an increase in expected returns on assets due to the
increase in fair value of plan assets at December 31, 2006, a reduction
in the amortization of actuarial losses and the increase in the discount
rate for all plans, offset by an increase in interest cost associated with an
increase in the projected benefit obligation.
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DETERMINATION OF POSTRETIREMENT BENEFIT COST Annually,
we review with our actuaries the key economic assumptions used in
calculating postretirement benefit cost as prescribed by SFAS No. 106,
“Employers’ Accounting for Postretirement Benefits Other than Pen-
sions.” Postretirement benefits include health care and life insurance
plans. The determination of postretirement benefit cost is based upon a
number of actuarial assumptions, including the discount rate for deter-
mining the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation, the assumed
health care cost trend ratés and the ultimate health care trend rate.
Except for the ULS. plans, the same discount rate selected for the pen-
sion plans generally is used for calculating the postretirement benefit
obligation by country. Net non-pension postretirement benefit (credit)
cost was {$1.1) million in 2006, $2.4 million in 2005 and $5.8 million
in 2004,

A change in the discount rate of 100 basis points would have
the following effects on 2007 postretirement benefit cost:

100 Basls Point
(i Milions of Dolfars) Increase Decrease
.5, pensionplans . . ....... e 5(0.4} $0.4
Internaticnal pensionplans . ... .............. (01) 0.1
Allpensionplans .................. . $(0.5) $0.5

A change in the assumed health care cost trend rate of 100
basis points would have the following effects on 2007 postretirement
benefit cost:

100 Basls Paint
(In Miltions of Dollars) Increase Docrease
U.5. postretirement plans. . . .I ............... s1.1 $(1.0)
! .
Intemational postretirement plans .. .......... 0.3 10.2)
All postretirement plans ................... 514 §{1.2)

ACCOUNTING FOR BUSINESS COMBINATIONS We allocate the pur-
chase price of business combinations to assets acquired and liabilities
assumed based on their relative fair value at the date of acquisition
pursuant to the provisions of SFAS No. 141, “Business Combinations.”
In estimating the fair value of the tangible and intangible assets and
liabilities acquired, we consider information obtained during our due
diligence process and udlize various valuation methods including mar-
ket prices, where available, appraisals, comparisons to transactions for
similar assets and llablhtlcs and present value of estimated future cash
flows. We are required to make subjective estimates in connection with
these valuations and allocations.

ACCOUNTING FOR IMPAIRMENT OF LONG-LIVED ASSETS We review
the carrying value of our long-lived assets, including property and
equipment, whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying value of the assets may not be recoverable. An impairment
loss exists when estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to
result from the use of the asset, including disposition, are less than the
carrying value of the asset, The measurement of the impairment loss to
be recognized is based on the difference between the fair value and the
carrying amounts of the assets. Fair value generally is determined based
upon a discounted cash flow analysis. In order to determine if an asset
has been impaired, assets are grouped and tested at the lowest level for
which identifiable, independent, cash flows are available.
i

i
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‘The determination of both undiscounted and discounted cash
flows requires us to make significant estimates and considers the expected
course of action at the balance sheet date. Subsequent changes in esti-
mated undiscounted and discounted cash flows arising from changes
in anticipated actions could impact the determination of whether an
impairment exists, the amount of the impairment charge recorded and
whether the eftects could materially impact our consclidated financial
statements, i
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS The results of a component of our busi-
ness that either has been dispésed of or is classified as held for sale are
reported in discontinued operanons in accordance with the requirements
af SFAS No. 144. We clnsnfy a component of our business as held for
sale if it meets the following criteria as of each balance sheet date:

* We commit to a plan to seli the disposal group.
|

o The disposal group is available for immediate sale in its present condi-
tion, subject only to the terms that are usual and customary for sales
of such disposal groups.

* An active program to locate a buyer and other actions required to
complete the plan to sell have been initiated.

¢ 'The sale of the disposal group is probable and the transfer is expected
to qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one year.

o The disposal group is being marketed actively for sale at a price that is
reasonable in relation to its current fair value.

s Actions necessary to complcte the plan indicate that it is unlikely that
significant changes to the plan will be made or that the plan will be
withdrawn, |

The results of operations of ail entities that have been dis-
posed of or are classified as hcld for sale have been classified in the (loss)
income from discontinued operations — net of tax line item in the con-
solidated statements of incum(!: for all periods presented., The 2006, 2005
and 2004 cash flow statements are presented on a consolidated basis,
including both continuing opérations and discontinued operarions.

|
ACCOUNTING FOR IMPAIRMENT OF GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE

ASSETS Goodwill represents|the excess of purchase price and related
costs over the value assigned to the net tangible and identifiable intan-
gible assets of businesses acquired. In accordance with SFAS No. 142,
“Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” goodwill is to be tested annu-
ally and between annual tests if events occur or circumstances change
that would more likely than |:10t reduce the fair value of an operating
segment below its carrying amount. We have elected October 1 as
the annual evaluation date to test for potential goodwill impairment.
The snnual goodwill impairment test requires us to make a number
of assumptions and estimates! concerning future levels of earnings and
cash flow, which are based upon our strategic plans. The combination
of a discounted cash flow ana.;lysis and terminal value model is used to
determine the fair value of cach reporting unit. While we use available
information to prepare esnmates and to perform the impairment evalu-
ation, actual results could dlﬂ'?r significantly resulting in future impair-
ment and losses related to recorded goodwill balances. No impairment
of goodwill was identified in the annual impairment test completed in
2006. (See Note 6 1o the consolidated financial statements.)
i
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Intangible assets resulting from business acquisitions, includ-
ing customer lists, purchased technology, trademarks, patents, land-use
irights and non-compete agreems:nts, are amortized on a straight-line
;method over periods ranging from 3 to 40 years. Under SFAS No. 142,
intangible assets determined to kave indefinite lives are not amortized,
but are tested for impairment at least annually. We have elected Octo-
ber 1 as the annual evaluation dute to test for potential impairment of
indefinite lived intangible assets. The combination of a discounted cash
flow analysis and terminal value model is used to determine whether
the fair valué of an intangible assot exceeds its carrying amount. As part
of the annual impairment test, the non-amortized intangible assets are

{reviewed to determine if the indefinite status remains appropriate.

ter of 2006 and made a final determination in January 2007 that the
‘trade name “Noveon” no longer would be used to describe the specialty
chemicals business segment of our company and that its use would be
discontinued except in connection with the consuimer specialties product

b
}
'i We completed a corpoate identity review in the fourth quar-
f

line. As a result, an impairment charge for the Noveon trade name was
recognized in accordance with SFAS No. 142. We calculated a pretax
charge of $41.2 million ($25.4 million after-tax) to reduce the related
asset to its estimated fair value. This charge was reflected in the fourth
quarter of 2006 as we believed a:: that time we would more likely than

not discontinue the use of the Neveon trade name, except in the limited
context of the consumer specialtics product line.

|ASSET-RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS We account for asset retirement
obligations in accordance with SFAS No. 143, “Accounting for Asset
Retirement Obligations” and Financial Accounting Standards Board
(FASB) Interpretation {FIN) MNo. 47, “Accounting for Conditional
Asset-Retirement Obligations —in interpretation of FASB Statement
No. 143.” FIN No. 47 requizes the recognition of a liability for the fair
value of a legal obligation to perform asset-retirement obligations
(AROs) that are conditional on a future event if the amount can be
reasonably estimated. We have identified AROs related to certain of our
leased facilities and to asbesto: remediation activities that may be
required at other company-own=d facilities in the future. We record
liabilities for AROs at the time that they are identified and when they
can be reasoﬁably estimated. Due to the long-term, productive nature of
isome of our manufacturing operations, absent plans or expectation of
plans to initiate asset retirement activities, we are unable to reasonably
estimate the fair value of such asbestos remediation liabilities since the
potential settlement dates cannot be determined at this time.

NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
SFAS No. 158

:In Septeraber 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 138, “Employers’
tAccounting for Defined Benefi: Pension and Other Postretirement

1 This statement requires an employer to recognize a plan’s funded status
in its statement of financial position, measure a plan's assets and obli-
igations as of the end of the employers fiscal year and recognize the
}changcs in a plan’s funded status in comprehensive income in the year
iin which the changes occur. SFAS No. 158's requirement to recognize
'a plar's funded status and new disclosure requirements are effective for
us as of December 31, 2006. Th: requirement to measure plan assets
and benefit obligations as of the <late of our fiscal year-end statement of

sftnancial position is effective for sscal years ending after December 15,
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2008. Currently, we measure plan assets and benefit obligations as of the
date of our fiscal year-end. We adopted the required provisions of SFAS
No. 158 on December 31, 2006.

The incremental effects of adopting SFAS No. 158 on our
consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2006 were as follows:

Balance Balance
Before Alter
Applying SFAS ng
SFAS No. 158 SFAS
No. 158 Adjustments No. 158
Current assets:
Other current assets........... $ 1049 $ (6.9} $ 98.0
Noncurrent assets:
Otherassets. ................ 5 610 5 1.0 $ 620
Intangibte assets—net .. .... ... $ 3266 5 (3.8} $ 3228
TOtal 885818, . v v v e e $4,395.9 $ (9.7} $4,386.2
Current liabilities:
Accrued expenses and other I
current fiabilities ... ......... $ 286.8 5 1.0 5 2878
Noncurrent liabilities:
Pension obligations. . .......... $ 1301 $88.4 $ 2185
Other postretirement '
benefit obligations . . ......... $ 963 $(14.3) 5 820
Deferred income taxes ......... 5 116.2 ${27.3) 5 889
Taotal liabilities . . ... _........... $2,578.3 5478 $2,626.1
Accumulated other comprehensive '
income {loss). .. ....ouan 5 4.6 ${57.5) % (52.9)
Total shareholders’ equity ........ $1,764.9 ${57.5)

$1,707.4

iPlans — an arhendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88,106,and 132(R).” -

b

SFAS No. 157

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No.157, “Fair Value Measure-
ments.” This statement defines fair value, establishes a framework for
measuring fair value in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles {GAAP) and expands disclosure abour fair value measure-
ments. SFAS No. 157 does not expand the use of fair value measures in
financial statements, but simplifies and codifies related guidance within
GAAP. SFAS No. 157 establishes a fair value hierarchy using observable
market data as the highest level and an entity’s own fair value assump-
tions as the lowest level. STAS No, 157 is effective for fiscal years begin-
ning after November 15, 2007 and interim perieds within those years.
SFAS No. 157 requires adoption prospectively as of the beginning of the
fiscal year in which this statement is initially applied, with the exception
of certain financial instruments in which adoption is applied retrospec-
tively as of the beginning of the fiscal year in which this statement is
initially applied. We currently are evaluating the impact of this recently
issucd standard on our consolidated financial statements.

SAB No. 108

In September 2006, the SEC released Staff Accounting Bulletin (SAB)
No. 108, “Considering the Effects of Prior Year Misstatements when
Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year Financial Statements.”
This bulletin provides guidance on how the effects of prior-year uncor-
rected financial statement misstatements should be considered in quan-
tifying a current-year misstatement. SAB No. 108 requires registrants
to quantify misstatements using both an income statement (rollover)
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and balance sheet (iron curtain) approach and evaluate whether either
approach results in a misstatement that, when all relevant quantitative
and qualitative factors are;considered, is material. If prior-year errors
that previously had been considered immaterial now are considered

material based on either approach, no restatement is required so long .

as management properly applied its previous approach and all relevant
facts and circumstances were considered. If prior years are not restated, a
cumulative-effect adjustment is recorded in opening accumulated earn-
ings as of the beginning of the fiscal year of adoption. SAB No. 108
is effective for us for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2006. Our
adoption of this standard did not have an impact on our consolidated
financial statements.

FIN No. 48

In July 2006, the FASB issued FIN No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty
in Income Taxes,” that prescribes a recognition threshold and measure-
ment attribute for the financial statement recognition and measurement
of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. Under
FIN No. 48, a contingent tax asset only will be recognized if it is more
likely than not that a tax position ultimately will be sustained. After
this threshold is met, a tax position is reported at the largest amount
of benefit that is more likely than not to be realized. FIN No. 48 also
provides guidance on derecognition, classification, interest and penaltics,
accounting in interim periods and disclosure. FIN No. 48 is effective for
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2006, FIN No. 48 requires the
cumulative effect of applying the provisions to be reported separately as
an adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings in the year of
adoption. We currently are Evaluating the impact of this recently issued
Interpretation on our consolidated financial statements.

SFAS No. 154

InMay 2005, the FASB issyed SFAS No. 154,“Accounting Changes and
Error Corrections.” This standard establishes new standards on account-
ing for changes in accounting principles. Pursuant to the new rules, all
such changes must be accounted for by retrospective application to the
financial statements of prior periods unless it is impracticable to do so.
SFAS No. 154 completely replaces Accounting Principles Board (APB)
Opinion No. 20, “Accounting Changes,” and SFAS No. 3, “Reporting
Accounting Changes in Interim Financial Statements,” though it carries
forward the guidance in those proncuncements with respect to account-
ing for changes in estimates, changes in the reporting entity and the
correction of errors. This statement is effective for accounting changes
and corrections of errors beginning January 1, 2006. Our adoption of
this standard did not have a material impact on our consolidated finan-

cial statements.
i

SFAS No. 123R .

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123R. This standard
requires compensation costs related to share-based payment transac-
tions to be recognized in the financial statements. With limited excep-
tions, the amount of compensation cost is measured based on the grant-
date fair value of the equity or liability instruments issued. In addition,
liability awards are remeasured each reporting period. Compensation
cost is recognized over the period that an employee provides service in
exchange for the award, This standard replaces SFAS No. 123, “Account-
ing for Stock-Based Compensation,” and supersedes APB Opinion
No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” and applies to all
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awards granted, modified, repurchased or cancelled after July 1, 2005.
In April 2005, the SEC amended the compliance date of SFAS No.
123R through.an amendment of Regulation S-X. We adopted SFAS
No. 123R on January 1, 2006! The adoption of SFAS No. 123R incre-
mentally increased before-tax compensation expense by approximately
$2.4 million during 2006.

SFAS No. 151

In November 2004, the FASBi issued SFAS No. 151, “Inventory Costs,”
to clarify the accounting for abnormal amounts of idle facility expense,
freight, handling costs and wasted material. This standard requires that
such items be recognized as current-period charges, The standard also
establishes the concept of “normal capacity” and requires the allocation
of fixed-production overhead to inventory based on the normal capacity
of the production facilities. Any unallocated overhead must be recog-
nized as an expense in the period incurred. This standard was effective

|
i
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for inventory costs incurred beginning January 1, 2006. The adoption of
. ) o .

this standard did not have a material impact on our consolidated finan-

cial statements. I

1
]

Cautionary Statements for Safe Harbor Purposes

This Management's Discussim%i and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations contain:s forward-looking statements within the
meaning of the federal securities laws. As a general matter, forward-
looking statements are those Efocuscd upon future plans, objectives or
performance as opposed to historical items and include statements of
anticipated events or trends and expectations and beliefs relating to mat-
ters not historical in nature, F;or'"ward—looking statements are subject to
uncertainties and factors relating to our operations and business environ-
ment, all of which are difficultito predict and many of which are beyond
our control. These uncertainties and factors could cause our actual results
to differ materially from thost matters expressed in or implied by any
forward-looking statements, although we believe our expectations
reflected in those forward-looking staternents are based upen reasonable
assumptions. For this purposc,l any statements contained herein that are
not statements of historical fact should be deemed to be forward-look-
ing statements.

We believe that th;: following factors, among others, could .
affect our future performance :fmd cause our actual results to differ mate-
rially from those expressed or implied by forward-looking statements
made in this annual report:

e The cost, availability and c{uaﬁry of raw materials, especially petro-
[eum-based products.

o Our ability to sustain profitability of our products in a competitive
environment. i

o The demand for our products as influenced by factors such as the global
economic environment, longer-term technology developments and the
success of our commercial doivelopment programs.

o The risks of conducting business in foreign' countries, including the
effects of fluctuations in currency exchange rates upon our consoli-
dated results and political, secial, economic and regulatory factors.

o ‘The extent to which we BI'BI successful in expanding our business in
new and existing markets ar}d in identifying, understanding and man-
aging the risks inherent in tlhose markets.




® The effect of required principal and interest payments on our ability to
fund capital expenditures and acquisitions and to meet operating needs.

‘e Our ability to identify, complete and integrate acquisitions for profit-
able growth and operating efficiencies.

® Qur success at continuing to develop proprietary technology to meet
or exceed new industry performance standards and individual cus-
| tomer expectations.

* Our ability to implement a new common information systems

platform primarily into our Lubrizol Advanced Materials segment
1 successfully, including the management of project costs, its timely
completion and realization of its benefits.

's Our ability to continue to reduce complexities and conversion costs and
modify our cost structure to maintain and enhance our competitiveness.

j# Our succéss in retaining and growing the business that we have with

| our largest customers.
- & The cost and availability of energy, especially natural gas and electricity.
1? ¢ The effect of interest rate fluctiations on our net interest expense.

@ The risk of weather-related disruptions to our Lubrizol Additives
production facilities located ncar the ULS, Gulf coast.

| ® Significant changes in governraent regulations affecting environmen-

| tal compliance.

:Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures
| About Market Risk

. We operate manufacturing and blending facilities, laboratorics and

offices around the world and wtilize fixed-rate and variable-rate debt
s to finance our global operations. As a result, we are subject to business
risks inherent in non-U.S, activities, including political and economic
‘ uncertainties, import and export limitations, and marker risks related 1o
changes in interest rates and forelgn currency exchange rates. We believe
the political and economic risk:. related to our foreign operations are
mitigated due to the stability of the countries in which our largest for-

. eign operations are located.

In the normal course of business, we use derivative financial
instruments including interest rate and commadity hedges and forward
. foreign currency exchange contracts to manage our market risks. Our

. objective in managing our exposure ro changes in interest rates is to limit

¢ the impact of such changes on our earnings and cash flow. Our objec-
tive in managing the exposure to changes in foreign currency exchange
rates is to reduce volatility on our earnings and cash flow associated with
such changes: Our principal cunency exposures are the euro, the pound
sterling, the Japanese yen and certain Latin American currencies. Our

objective in managing our exposure to changes in commodity prices is
i to reduce the volatility on earnings of utility expense. We do not hold
derivatives for trading purposes.

We.measure our.mark.et risk related to our holdings of finan-
|i cial instruments based on charges in interest rates, foreign currency
rates and commodity prices utilizing a sensitivity analysis. The sensi-
+ tivity analysis measures the potential loss in fair value, cash flow and
l% earntngs based on a hypothetical 10% change (increase and decrease) in
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interest, currency exchange rates and commodity prices. We use current
market rates on our debt and derivative portfolios to perform the sensi-
tivity analysis. Certain items such as lease contracts, insurance contracts
and obligations for peasion and other postretirement benefits are not
included in the analysis,

Qur primary interest rate exposures relate to our cash and
short-term investments, fixed-rate and variable-rate debt and interest
rate swaps. The calculation of potential loss in fair value is based on an
immediate change in the net present values of our interest rate-sensitive
exposures resulting from a 1086 change in interest rates. The potential
loss in cash flow and income before tax is based on the change in the
net interest income/expense over a one-year period due to an immediate
109 change in rates. A hypothetical 10% increase in interest rates would
have had a favorable impact and a hypothetical 10% decrease in interest
rates would have had an unfavorable impact on fair values of $41.1 mil-
lion and $42.7 milkion ar December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. In
addition, a hypothetical 10% increase in interest rates would have had
an unfavorable impact and a hypothetical 10% decrease in interest rates
would have had a favorable impact on cash flows and income before tax
of $1.6 million and $1.8 million in 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Our primary currency exchange rate exposures are to foreign
currency-denominated debt, intercompany debt, cash and short-term
investments and forward foreign currency exchange contracts. The cal-
culation of potential loss in fair value is based on an immediate change
in the U.S. dollar equivalent balances of our currency exposures due to a
109 shift in exchange rates. The potential loss in cash flow and income
before tax is based on the change in cash flow and income before tax over
a ong-year period resulting from an immediate 10% change in currency
exchange rates. A hypothetical 10% increase in currency exchange rates
woutld have had an unfavorable impact and a hypothetical 10% decrease
in currency exchange rates would have had a favorable impacr on fair
values of $3.5 million at December 31, 2006, In addition, a hypothetical
10% increase in currency exchange rates would have had a favorable
impact and a hypothetical 10% decrease in currency exchange rates would
have had an unfavorable impact on fair values of $6.8 million at Decem-
ber 31, 2005. Further, a hypothetical 10% increase in currency exchange
rates would have had an unfavorable impact and a hypothetical 10%
decrease in currency exchange rates would have had a favorable impact
on cash flows of $21.1 million and $21.4 million and on income before
tax of $4.0 million and $4.4 million in 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Our primary commodity hedge exposures relare to natural
gas and electric utility expenses. The calculation of potential loss in
fair value is based on an immediate change in the U.S. dollar equivalent

. balances of our commodity exposures due to a 10% shift in the underly-

ing commodity prices. The potential loss in cash flow and income before
tax is based on the change in cash flow and income hefore tax over a
one-year period resulting from an immediate 10% change in commodity
prices. A hypothetical 10% increase in commodity prices would have
had a favorable impact and a hypothetical 10% decrease in commodity
prices would have had an unfavorable impact on fair values, cash flows
and income before tax of $1.3 million and $0.9 million in 2006 and
2005, respectively.
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MANAGEMENT;S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FlNANCIAI;. REPORTING

The management of The Lubrizol Corporation and its subsidiaries (the
Company) is responsible .for establishing and maintaining adequate
internal control over financial reporting. The Lubrizol Corporation’s
internal control system was designed to provide reasonable assurance to
the Company’s management and board of directors regarding the prepa-
ration and fair presentation of published financial statements.

All internal control systems, no matter how well designed,
have inherent limitations. Therefore, even those systems determined to
be effective can provide enly reasonable assurance with respect to finan-
cial statement preparation and presentation.

The Lubrizol Corporation’s management assessed the effec-
tiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as
of December 31, 2006. In making this assessment, management used
the criteria set forth by the Committee of Spensoring Organizations
of the Treadway Commission (COSQY} in Internal Control — Integrated
Framework. Based on this assessment, management believes that, as
of December 31, 2006, the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting is effective based on those criteria.

Management's assessment of the effectiveness of internal con-
trol over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006 has been audited
by Deloitte 8 Touche LLP, an independent registered public accounting
firm, who expressed an unqualified opinion as stated in their report, a
copy of which is included in this annual report.

NEW YORK STOCK EXCHANGE CERTIFICATIONS

On April 25, 2006, James L. Hambrick, as chief executive officer,
certified, as required by Section 303A.12{a) of the New York Stock
Exchange (NYSE) Listed Company Manual, that as of that date he
was not aware of any violations by the Company of the NYSE's Corpo-
rate Governance listing standards. This certification has been delivered
to the NYSE,

The chief executive officer and chief financial officer cer-
tifications created by Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Ouxdey Act of 2002
are included as exhibits to our Form 10-K and are incorporated herein
by reference. I
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REPORTS OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Deloitte.

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS AND BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE
LUBRIZOL CORPORATION

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accom-
panying Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial
Reporting, that The Lubrizol Corporation and subsidiaries (the “Com-
pany”) maintained effective internal control over financial reporting
as of December 31, 2006, Dased on criteria established in Infermal
Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Spensoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission. The Company’s man-
agement is tesponsible for maintaining effective internal control over
financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of inter-
nal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is 1o express an
opinion on management's assessment and an opinion on the effective-
ness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based
on our audir.

We conducted ow- audit in accordance with the standards
of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonzble assurance about whether effective internal control over finan-
cial reporting was maintained in ali marerial respects. Our audit included
obtaining an understanding <f internal control over financial reporting,
evaluating management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design
and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such
other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We
believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinions.

A company’s internial control over financial reporting is a pro-
cess designed by, or under the supervision of, the company’s principal
executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar
functions, and effected by the company’s board of directors, manage-
ment, and other personnel ty provide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purpases in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial
reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the
maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company;
(2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as neces-
sary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expen-
ditures of the company are being made only in accordance with autho-
rizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) pro-
vide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of
unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that
coutd have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over
financial reporting, including the possibility of collusion or improper
management override of controls, material misstatements due to error
or fraud may not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. Also, pro-
jections of any evaluation of the effectiveness of the internal control
over financial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that
the controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions,
or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that the Com-
pany maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as
of December 31, 2006, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based
on the criteria established in Internal Control — Integrared Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Tread-
way Commission. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in
all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting
as of December 31, 2006, based on the criteria established in Internal
Control - Integrated Framework 1ssued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the con-
solidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31,
2006 of the Company and our report dated February 28, 2007 expressed
an unqualified opinion on those financial statements and included an
explanatory paragraph regarding the Company’s adoption of new
accounting standards.

Deboitly + Joucke Z2P

Cleveland, Ohio
February 28, 2007
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REPORTS OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM continuen

Deloitte.

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS AND BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE
LUBRIZOL CORPORATION

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of The
Lubrizol Corporation and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December
31, 2006 and 2005, and the related consolidated statements of income,
shareholders’ equity, and cash fows for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2006. These financial statements are the
tesponsibility of the Company’s management. Qur responsibility is to
express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards
of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free
of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial state-
ments. An audit alse includes assessing the accounting principles used
and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements pres-
ent fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of The Lubrizol
Corporation and subsidiaries at December 31, 2006 and 2005, and the
results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years
in the period ended December 31, 2006, in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

30@ The Lubrizol Corporation

As discussed in Notes 2 and 16 to the consolidated finan-
cial statements, the Company clianged its method of accounting for
stock-based compensation with the adoption of Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards (“SFAS™) N;0.123R,“Share-Based Payment”effec-
tive January 1, 2006. Also, as discussed in Note 13 to the consolidated
financial statements, the Company changed its method of accounting
for defined pension and other postretirement plans with the adoption of
SFAS No. 158, “Employers” Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension
and Other Postretirement Plans” d{:ffcctivc December 31, 2006.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of
the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting
as of December 31, 2006, based on the criteria established in Inrernal
Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsor-
ing Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated
February 28, 2007 expressed an unqualified opinion on management’s
assessment of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting and an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

Deboitly + Joucke 22 FP

Cleveland, Ohio

February 28, 2007 '
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!
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

i
:Jn Millions of Dollars Except Per Share Data)

Year Ended December 31

1Net L7 1=

:Royalties and Other revenues .. ... ... it it eranear o oennns

TOtA rOVOMUES . . . . . . ...\ o e cit ot it s
;Fost o7 | -1 T e
;Selling and administrative eXPenSes . ... vt e et e
iResearch, testing and development expenses . . ...
Amortization of intangible assets. ............. ..o i
}iWriteoff of acquired in-proce:ss research and development. . ............
‘:!Restructuring and impairmenz charges. ... ... ..o

Totalcosts and @XPONSES. . . . . .. ..o v it v arncaeootornnn
"Other MEOME — NBL . .ottt it a it na s aanes e

IEEIESE MG OMIE & v v e et e e s e e et et te st i aaa e e

(INLErest eXpense . ... ... ... i

‘Income from continuing operstions before income taxes ...............

i;Provision for inCOmMe taxes. ... .. vr i e

Income from continuing operations . ....... .. . i

|
-(Loss) income from discontinued operations —net oftax . ..............

CNELINCOME L . .ttt e et e e i e
g;
,‘ Basic earnings (loss} per share:

! Continuing OPErations. . ... vv ettt in et i e

Discontinued Operations . . ... ..ot ii it e

13 Net income pershare, BasiC. ... .. .o it i i e

i
|
1 Diluted earnings (loss) per share:
‘ Continuing operations. . . ... .. o i e e

Discontinued Operations: . . .. ...ttt st i e

|
} Net income per share, diluted. . . ... ... . . i

i Dividends pershare . . . ... .. it e e

|

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements,

2006 2005 2004
$4,036.4 $3,618.8 $2,860.5
4.4 3.4 39
4,040.8 3,622.2 2,864.4
3,041.9 2,696.6 2,101.7
381.7 3484 284.8
205.5 198.9 184.8
23.7 235 16.9
- - 34.0
51.9 15.9 38.1
3,704.7 3,283.3 2,660.3
8.3 1.6 5.4
20.4 8.1 48
(99.7) (105.1) (77.1)
265.1 2435 137.2
83.3 82.0 50.0
181.8 161.5 87.2
(76.2) 27.8 6.3
$ 105.6 $ 189.3 $ 935
$ 265 $ 238 $ 157
(1.11) 0.41 0.11
$ 1.54 $ 279 $ 1.68
s 262 $ 235 $ 156
(1.10) 0.40 0.11
$ 1.52 $ 275 $ 1.67
$ 104 $ 1.04 $ 104
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(in Millions of Dollars Except Share Data)

ASSETS

Cash and short-term INVesStmEntS. . . ... ... . i i i i e et e ettt

Receivables

=21 oL = T

Other current assets i

Total current assets

|
Property and equipment - at cost !

Less accumulated depreciation I

Property and equipment — net

Goodwill

Intangible assets - net

Investments in nonconsolidated companies !

Other assets ' |

|
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY ‘1
Short-term debt and current portion of long-term debt L

Accountis payable |

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities |

Total current liabilities

Long-term debt

Pension obligations

Other postretirement benefit obligations . .. ... .. .. ... . . e l

NONCUITENt liabilities . o ot ot it e e e e e e e e !

Deferred INCOME LaXES . . . . . ..\ e ettt e e e et e e e e e e e e |
!

TJotal liabilities . . .. .. ... ... ... . . e e e e aa !

Minority interest in consolidated companies. . ... ... o i i i e e e i

Contingencies and COMMItMENtS. . .. ... .. e e ’

Preferred stock without par value —unissued. . ... ... . i e l

Common shares without par value — 69,020,569 and 68,043,241 ‘
outstanding shares at December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively ................. ..

.................................................

December 31

2006 2005
$ 5757 $ 2624
573.6 585.6
589.0 586.0
98.0 138.3
1,836.3 1,572.3
2,546.0 2,621.5
1,464.7 1,437.1
1,081.3 1,184 4
1,076.1 1,138.8
322.8 404.6
7.7 7.6
62.0 58.6
$4,386.2 $4,366.3
$ 3.7 $ 7.9
340.5 372.2
287.8 2848
632.0 664.9
1,5638.0 1,662.9
218.5 125.7
82.0 102.6
66.7 78.3
88.9 113.7
2,626.1 2,748.1
52.7 51.0
710.1 663.7
1,050.2 1,016.0
(52.9) (112.5}
1,7074 1,567.2
$4,386.2 $4,366.3

The accompanying notes are 8n integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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; 1
{
. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

|
l

(lf Millions of Doltars}

Year Ended December 3:].:

(f:ash provided by (used for):

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

I‘f!et 1o Ts 2 21= T R
f:.djustments to reconcile net income to cash provided by operating activities:
| Depreciation and amortization. . ... .. .. oo i
Write-off of acquired in-process research and development ... ... ...
J. Deferred iNCOME TAXES . . o oot i e e ien et
|5 Deferred COMPENSALION . <o v vttt er e e e iia i naeaeees s
i Restructuring and impainnent charges . . ...... ...t
§  Loss (gain) from divestitures and sales of property and equipment . . ..

i Change in current assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions
and divestitures:

RECEIVADIES « « v o v et e e ettt e e ettt e

i INVENLOMIES. - o oot v et i e it i e s
i Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other current liabilities .
Other current @ssels . . oo i i e it r s e saa s

i Change in noncurrent liabilities. . .. ... ... oo
I Otheritems —nNet ... .. i e e

¢ Total operating activities. . . .. .. ...... ... . ... . oons

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

ECapital eXpenditures . . ... e
Acquisitions — net of cash recelved and liabilities assumed . . ... ........
Net proceeds from divestitures and sales of property and equipment. .....
Other BMS —MEL. . .. ..ot

i Total investing acHVIHIOS . . .. . ... c.oiuieeei i

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

J'Changes inshorttermdebt —net. . ... ..o i
Repayments of longtermdebl. . ... ...t
:Proceeds from the issuance of long-termdebt . . . .............. ... ...
DIVIAENGS PAIK . . - - e e

iProceeds from sale of common shares, net of underwriting commissions
¢ and offering expenses of $20.2 million. .. ... ... i

j!Payment of debt ISSUBNCE COSES & oot i i i it et e s naa s
E!Payment of treasury rate lock upon settlement ... ... ..o il
Payment on termination of interest rate swWaps .. ... oo et i e
}Proceeds from the exercise af stock options . .. ... oo i oo o

‘ Total financing activities . . . . .. ......... ... ... o e

f,Effect of exchange rate changesoncash. ... ..... ... ..o vt

.‘?Net increase (decrease) in ciash and short-term investments. .. .........
1Cash and short-term investments at the beginning ofyear ..., ..........

‘QCash and short-term investmants at theendofyear. . ............. ...

i
isl’he accompanying notes are an integra’ part of these consolidated financial statements.

2006

$ 105.6

161.8

29.8
19.5
105.6
9.6

(3.4}
{56.2)
(58.5)

3.4

(114.7)

6.6
11.0

334.8

(130.9)

281.9
0.4

1514

(0.6}
(143.9)

(71.2)

31.3

(183.9)
11.0

313.3
262.4

$ 575.7

2005 2004 -
$ 189.3 $ 935
179.8 154.7
- 34.0
10.3 5.9
16.3 3.4
111 275
(3.9) 3.1
i

(52.9) (38.4)
(47.5) (50.0)
56.0 80.5
6.9 2.5
{37.5) (5.4)
5.4 9.0
(8.6) 5.9
362.2 331.6

(136.7) (133.2) -
- (958.4)
30,1 3.0
(0.2 (0.2
(106.8) (1,088.8)
(4.0) (72.6)
(512.2) (1,193.0)
235.8 1,743.3
(70.4) (57.6)
|

- 470.0
(0.8) (16.8)
- (73.9)

- (2.9}
38.8 12.0
(312.8) 808.5
(16.1) 25.9
(73.5) 77.2
335.9 258.7
$ 262.4 $ 3359
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CONSOLIDATEb STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
¢ :

Shareholders’ Equity

| . Number of ) Accumulated Other -
v . Shares Common - Ret;lned Comprehensive -
(in Millions) l . ) Qutstanding Shares Earrli?gs {Loss} Income . Total
BALANCE, JANUARY 1, 2004, e R 51.6. $123.8 $ ée;s.s $ (36.0) $ 953.3
Comprehensive incomb: i’ |
Net income 2004 . . . .: ... - 93.5 - 93.5
Other comprehensiv'.e ncome . ...l - - 515 515
Total comprehensive irncqi'ne e e : 145.0
Dividends declared. .. .. L. ... ... - (61.6) - (61.6) '
Common shares — |35ued in publrc offerings. . .. ... 14.7 4700 - .- - 470.0
Deferred stack compensatron R 3.4 i - - 3.4 !
Comrnon shares — treasury. ‘
Shares issued upon Ie,xercise ‘of " . _
stock options and awards ................. _0_5 134 - - 13.4
BALANCE, DECEMBER 31 2004 ............... €66.8 ' 610.6 8l917.4 155 . 1,523.5
Comprehensive income: ': - ;
Net income 2005. .1 . v yeve it ceee i - 189.3 - 189.3
Other comprehenswe ioss. . ................ - [ - (128.0) {128.0)
Total comprehensive 1rf|come e | 61.3
Dividends declared. . ' e - (70.7) - (70.7)
Deferred stock compeﬁsation e e 8.8 |- - 8.8
Common shares — treaas.ur;/: ' '
Shares issued upon exercise of .
stock options and'awards B e 12 44.3 L - 443
BALANCE, DECEMBER§31, 2005..... e 68.0 663.7- 1,0|1‘6.0 {112.5) 1,567.2
Comprehens'rve'income%: " ' '
Net income 2006 .| . £ ... - 105.6 - 105.6
Othercomprehensive% inpome: .............. .- - I - 1171 1171
Total comprehensive iﬁcoéﬁe . ................ : 222.7
Adjustment to recognize p:.:ansio:n and other ;
postretirement benefit plans funded status. . . ... - .- (57.5) {57.5)
Dividends declared. . . ! . : - r ................ - ('F]_,.4) - {(71.4)
Deferred stock compensafion e 11.2 - - 11.2
Common shares - treasury
Shares issued upon exercrse of
stock options and aw ards‘. ................ 10 35.2 |- - 35.2
BALANCE, DECEMBER l31,[“ 2006................ 6_9_0 $710.1 s1,05d.2 $ (52.9) $1,707.4
H‘ ‘
The accompanying notes are an jntegral part of these consolidated financial statements.
! 1
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%' NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 (in Millions Except Per Share Data)

i
‘Note 1 - Nature of Operations

| The Lubrizol Corporation (the company) is an innovative specialty

'ilcht:mical company that produces and supplies technologies that improve -

the quality and performance of its customers’ products in the global
;;'transportation, industrial and consumer markets. These technologies
Sinclude lubricant additives for engine oils, other transportation-related
fluids and industrial lubricants, as well as additives for gasoline and
ii-diescl fuel. In addition, the company makes ingredients and additives
. for personal care products and pharmaceuticals; engineered polymers,
including plastics technology; and performance coatings in the form of
j| specialty resins and additives.

b The company is organized into two operating and report-
"ing segments: Lubrizol Additives (formerly known as the “Lubricant
il Additives” segment) and Lubrizol Advanced Materials (formerly known
{‘i as the “Specialty Chemicals” segment). Refer to Note 15 for a further
, description of the narure of the company’s operations, the product lines
¢ within each of the eperating segments, segment operating income and
1; related financial disclosures for the reportable segments.

I Note 2 - Significant Accounting Policies

%CONSOLIDATION The consolidated financial statements include the
< accounts of the company and irs consolidated subsidiaries. ‘The com-
| pany consolidates certain entities in which it owns less than a 100%
| equity interest if it is either deeined to be the primary benefictary in a
" variable intcrest entity, as defined in Financial Accounting Standards
. Board (FASB) Interpretation (FIN) No. 46 (revised December 2003),
; “Congolidation of Variable Interest Entities” or where its ownership
interest is ar least 50% and the company has effective management con-

» trol. The equity method of acccunting is applied to non-consolidated

. the entity with respect to its operations and major decisions. The book
value of investments carried on the equiry method was $6.3 million and
$6.1 million at December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Investments

and 2005, respectively.

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS "[he results of a component of the com-
- pany that cither has been disposed of or is classified as held for sale
are reported in discontinued operations in accordance with the require-
ments of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 144,
. "Accounting for the Impairmen: or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets.” A

component of an entity is classified as held for sale when the transaction
has been approved by the appropriate level of management and there are
no known significant contingen-ies outstanding that would prevent the
sale from closing within one year. The results of operations of all entities
that have been disposed of or that are classified as held for sale in 2006
and 2005 have been classified a3 discontinued operations in all periods
. presented in the consolidated stutements of income. The 2006, 2005 and
2004 cash flow statements are presented on a consolidated basis, includ-
ing both continuing operations and discontinued operartions.

USE OF ESTIMATES The preparation of consolidated financial state-
ments in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
! United Scates of America requires management to make estimates and
; assumptions that affect the repocted amounts of assets and liabilities and

entities in which the company can exercise significant influence over -

carried at cost were $1.4 million and $1.5 million at December 31, 2006-

disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the darte of the financial
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during
the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

CASH EQUIVALENTS The company invests its excess cash in short-term
investments with various banks and financial institutions. Short-term
investments are cash equivalents, as they are part of the cash manage-
ment activities of the company and are comprised of investments having
maturities of three months or less when purchased.

INVENTORIES Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market value.
Cost of inventories is determined by either the first-in, first-out {FIFO)
method or the moving-average method, except in the United States for
chemical inventories, which primarily are valued using the last-in, first-
out {LIFO) method.

The company accrues volume discounts on purchases from
vendors where it is probable that the required volume will be artained
and the amount can be reasonably estimated. The company records the

discount as a reduction in the cost of the purchase (generally raw materi--

als), based on projected purchases over the purchase agreement period.

In November 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 151, “Inven-
tory Costs,” to clarify the accounting for abnormal amounts of idle
facility expense, freight, handling costs and wasted material. This stan-
dard requires that such items be recognized as current-period charges.
The standard also establishes the concept of “normal capacity” and
requires the atlocation of fixed production overhead to inventory based
on the normal capacity of the production facilities.- Any unallocated
overhead must be recognized as an expense-in the period incurred. This
standard was cffective for inventory costs incurred beginning on January
1, 2006. The company’s adoption of this standard did not have a material
impact on its financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT Property and equipment are carried at
cost. Repair and maintenance costs are charged against income while
renewals and betterments are capitalized as additions 1o the related assets.
Costs incurred for computer software developed or obtained for internal
use are capitalized for application development activities and immedi-
ately expensed for preliminary project activities or post-implementation
activities. Accelerated depreciation methods, which are used in com-
puting depreciation on certain machinery and equipment, comprised
approximately 6% of the depreciable assets at December 31, 2006
and 2005. The remaining assets are depreciated using the straight-line
methed. The estimated useful lives are 10 to 40 years for buitdings and
improvements for buildings and land. Estimated useful lives range from
3 to 20 years for machinery and equipment.

IMPAIRMENT OR DISPOSAL OF LONG-LIVED ASSETS The company
reviews the carrying value of its long-lived assets, including property and
equipment, whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying value of the assets may not be recoverable. An impairment
loss exists when estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to
resuft from the use of the asset, including disposition, are less than the
carrying value of the asset. The measurement of the impairment loss to
be recognized is based on the difference between the fair value and the
carrying armounts of the assets, Fair value is generally determined based
on a discounted cash flow analysis. In order 1o derermine if an asset has
been impaired, assets are grouped and tested at the lowest level for which
identifiable, independent, cash flows are available.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS conminuep
(In Millions Except Per Share Data)

GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS Goodwll represents the excess of
purchase price and related costs over the value assigned to the net tangible
and identifiable intangible assets of businesses acquired and is not amor-
tized in accordance with SFAS No. 142, *Goodwill and Other Intangible
Assets.” Goodwill is tested for impairment annually, and between annual
tests if an event occurs or circumstances change that indicates the car-
rying amount may be impaired. The company has elected to perform its

annual tests for potential impairment of goodwill and indefinite-lived -

intangible assets as of October 1 of cach year. Impairment testing is per-
formed at the reporting unit level. An impairment loss generally would
be recognized when the carfying amount of the reporting unit’s net assets
exceeds the estimated fair value of the reporting unit. The estimated fair
value of a reporting unit is determincd through a combination of dis-
counted cash flow analysis and terminal value caleulations.

Intangible assets resulting from business acquisitions, includ-
ing customer lists, purchased technology, trademarks, patents, land-use
rights and non-compete agreements, are amortized on a straight-line
method over periods ranging from 3 to 40 years. Under SFAS No. 142,
intangible assets determined to have indefinite lives are not amortized,
but are tested for impairment at least annually. As part of the annual
impairment test, the non-amortized intangible assets are reviewed to
determine if the indefinite status remains appropriate.

DEFERRED FINANCING COSTS Costs incurred with the issuance of
debt and credit facilities are capitalized and amortized over the life of
the associated debt as a component of interest expense using the effec-
tive interest method of amortization. In June 2004, the company initially
financed the Noveon International, Inc. acquisition with a temporary
bridge facility. Fees associated with the bridge facility were capitalized
and amortized over the bridge financing period. A rotal of $11.2 mil-
lion was incurred in bridge facility fees in June 2004. These fees were
expensed ratably through September 2004 when the bridge facility was
repaid in full. In September 2004, the company incurred $16.8 million
in debt issuance costs and fees relating to the issuance of $1,150.0 mil-
lion in senior notes and debentures, and a $1,075.0 million five-year
credit facilicy. Such costs are being amortized under the effective interest
method over the respective terms of the debt. Net deferred financing
costs were $15.7 million and $18.3 million at December 31, 2006 and
2005, respectively. Amortization expense incurred in 2006, 2005 and
2004 was $2.9 million, $3.6 million and $1.6 million, respectively.

ENVIRONMENTAL LIABILITIES The company accrues for expenses associ-
ated with environmental remediation obligations when such expenses are
probable and reasonably estimable, based upen current law and existing
technologtes. These accruals are adjusted as further information develops
or circumstances change. Costs of future expenditures for environmental
remediation obligations are not discounted to their present value.

SHARE REPURCHASES The company uses the par-value method of
accounting for its treasury shares. Under this method, the cost to reac-
quire shares in excess of paid-in capital related to those shares is charged
against retained earnings.

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION The assets and liabilities of the
company’s international subsidiaries are translated into U.S. dollars at
exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date, while revenues and
expenses are translated at weighted-average exchange rates in effect
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during the period. Unrealized translation adjustments are recorded as a
component of accumulated other comprehensive income or loss in the
consolidated statements of shareholders’ equity, except for subsidiar-
ies for which the functional currency is other than the local currency,
where translation adjustment:s are recognized in income. Transaction
gains or losses that arise from exchange rate changes on transactions
denominated in a currency other than the funcrional currency, except
those transactions that function as a hedge of an identifiable foreign
currency commitrnent or as a hedge of a foreign currency investment,
are included in income as incurred.

|
REVENUE RECOGNITION Revenues are recognized at the time of ship-

ment of products to customers, or at the time of transfer of title, if later,
and when collection is reasonably assured. All amounts in a sales trans-
action billed to a customer related to shipping and handling are reported
as revenues, ‘

Provisions for sulcs: discounts and rebates to customers are
recorded, based upon the terms of sales contracts, in the same period the
related sales are recorded, as a deduction to the sale. Sales discounts and
rebates are offered to certain castomers to promote customer loyalty and
encourage greater product sales. These rebate programs provide that upon
the atrainment of pre-established volumes or the attainment of revenue
milestones for a specified period, the customer receives credits agatnst
purchases. The company estimates the provision for rebates based on the
specific terms in each agreemerit at the time of shipment and an estimare
of the customer’s achievement of the respective revenue milestones.

COMPONENTS OF COST OF SALES Cost of sales is comprised of raw
material costs including freight and duty, inbound handling costs asso-
ciated with the receipt of raw materials, direct production, maintenance
and utility costs, plant and engineering overhead, terminals and ware-
housing costs, and outhound stiﬁpping and handling costs.

RESEARCH, TESTING AND DEVELOPMENT Research, testing and
development costs are expensed as incurred. Research and development
cxpenses, excluding testing, were $135.3 million in 2006, $128.1 miilion
in 2005 and $103.7 million in 2004. Costs to acquire in-process research
and development {IPR&D) projects that have no alternative future use
and that have not yet reached technological feasibility at the date of
acquisition are expensed upon acquisition.

INCOME TAXES The companytprovides for income taxes in accordance
with SFAS No. 109, “Accoun';ing for Income Taxes.” SFAS No. 109
requires the recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities for the
expected future tax consequences of temporary differences between the
financial statement carrying amounts and the tax bases of the assets
and liabilities.

In June 2006, the ]'"ASB issued FIN No. 48, “Accounting for
Uncertainty in Income Taxes,” that prescribes a recognition threshold and
measurement atiribute for the financial statement recognition and mea-
surement of a tax position takcril or expected to be taken in a tax return.
Under FIN No. 48, a contingent tax asset only will be recognized if it is
more likely than not that a tax position ultimately will be sustained. After
this threshold is met, a tax position is reported at the largest amount
of benefit that is more likely than not to be realized. FIN No. 48 also
provides guidance on derecognition, classification, interest and penal-

tics, accounting in interim periods and disclusure. FIN No. 48 is effective
1
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?1('01‘ fiscal years beginning after Ducember 15, 2006. This Interpretation
'tequires the cumulative effect of applying the provisions to be reported
:§epmtely as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings
in the year of adoption. We currently are evaluating the impact of this
*'%recentiy issued Interpretation on our consolidated financial statements.

jPER SHARE AMOUNTS Net income per share is computed by dividing
:j—;et income by average common shares outstanding during the period,
including contingently issuable shares. Net income per diluted share
includes the dilutive impact resulting from outstanding stock options
émd awards. Per share amounts are computed as follows:

|

2006 2005 2004

; ‘Numerator:
Income from continuing operations . . ...... 51818 | $161.5 $87.2
; {Loss) income from discontinued
operations~netoftax................ (76.2) 27.8 6.3
‘ Netincome........ e e $105.6 | $189.3 $93.5

Denominator:

. Weighted-average common shares

,oooutstanding .. ... e 68.7 67.9 8557

i Dilutive effect of stock options and awards. . 06 0.9 0.3
Denominator for net income

| pershare,dilated. ............ . ... €9.3 68.8 56.0

Basic earnings (loss) per share:

; Continuing operations. ................. $ 265 (% 238 $1.57
Discontinued operations . ............... {1.11) 0.41 011
Net income per share, basic ... .......... $154 | 5 278 $1.68

Giluted eamnings {loss) per share:

Continuing operatiens. . ... .. ... ...... 5262 | % 235 $1.56
Discontinued operations .. .. .. .......... {1-.10) 0.40 011
" Net income per share, diluted .. .......... $ 1.52 ' $ 2.75 $1.67

There were no shares excluded from the diluted earnings per
share calculations because they weze antidilutive in 2006 and 2005. There
iwere 1.1 million weighted-average shares issuable upon the exercise of
stock options and awards that weve excluded from the diluted earnings

per share calculation because they were antidilutive in 2004,
i

ACCOUNTING FOR DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS Derivative financial
instruments are recognized on the balance sheet as either assets or ha-
bilities and are measured at fair value. Derivatives that are not hedges
are adjusted to fair value through income. Depending upon the nature
of the hedge, changes in fair value of the derivative are either offset
against the change in fair value of assets, liabilities or firm commitments
‘,through earnings or recognized in other comprehensive income or loss

|;until the hedged item is recognized in earnings. The ineffective portion
|:of a derivative's change in value is recognized immediately in earnings.
1The company only uses derivative financial instruments to manage well-
|‘deﬁned interest rate, foreign currency and commodity price risks. The

i o .
company does not use derivatives for trading purposes.
I

tCOSTS ASSOCIATED WITH EXIT OR DISPOSAL ACTIVITIES Liabilities
for costs associated with exit or disposal activities are recognized and
;measurcd initially at fair value when the liability is incurred pursuant to
;thc requirements of SFAS Ne. 146, “Accounting for Costs Associated
with Exit or Disposal Activities.”

ASSET-RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS The company accounts for asset-
retirement obligations in accordance with SFAS Ne. 143, “Accounting
for Asset-Retirement Obligations” and FIN No. 47, “Accounting for
Conditional Asset-Retirement Obligations —an interpretation of FASB
Staternent No. 143." FIN No. 47 requires the recognition of a liability
for the fair value of a legal obligation to perform asset-retirement obliga-
tions {ARQs) that are conditional on a future event if the amount can
be reasonably estimated. The company has identified AROs related to
certain of our leased facilities and to asbestos remediation activities that
may be required in the future. However, due to the long-term, produc-
tive nature of the company’s manufacturing operations, absent plans or
expectation of plans to initiate asset-retirement activities, the company
is unable to reasonably estimate the fair value of such asbestos remedia-
tion liabilities since the potential settlement dates cannot be determined
at this time.

GUARANTEES FIN No. 45, “Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure
Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebt-
edness of Others” requires the recognition of a liability for any guarantees
entered into or modified. At December 31,2006, the company had guar-
anteed the timely performance of payment obligations under supplier
contracts by a third-party purchaser of the company's food ingredients
and industrial specialties (FIIS) business. The company believes that it is
highly unlikely that an event would occur requiring the company to pay
any monies pursuant to the guarantee. Accordingly, no liability has been
reflected in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet at December
31, 2006 (see Note 18). The company did not have any other material
guarantees within the scope of FIN No. 45 at December 31, 2006 and
2005, respectively.

STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION Effective January 1,2006, the company
adopted the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123R, “Share-
Based Payment,” using the modified prospective transition method and
therefore has not restated results for prior periods. Under this transition
method, stock-based compensatien expense for 2006 includes compen-
sation expense for all stock-based compensation awards granted prior
to, but not yet vested as of, January 1, 2006, based on the grant-date
fair value estimated in accordance with the original provisions of SFAS
No. 123, “Accéunting for Stock~Based Compensation.” Stock-bused
compensation expense for all stock-based compensation awards granted
after January 1, 2006 is based on the grant-date fair value estimated in
accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 123R. The company recog-
nizes these compensation costs, net of a forfeiture rate, on a straight-ltine
basis over the requisite service period of the award, which generally is
the option vesting term of three years with the options becoming exer-
cisable 50% one year after date of grant, 75% after two years and 100%
after three years. The company estimates the forfeiture rate based on its
historical experience during the preceding 10 years.

The following table shows the pro forma effect on net income
and earnings per share if the company had applied the fair-value rec-
ognition provisions of SFAS Na. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation,” to stock-based employee compensation for 2005 and
2004. There is no pro forma presentation necessary after December 31,
2005 as the company adopted the fair value recognition provisions of
SFAS No. 123R on January 1, 2006,
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2005 2004
Reportedmetincome . .. ........ovvinians $189.3 $93.5
Plus: Stock-based employee t_;nmpensatiun
(net of tax) included in netincome . ....... 5.5 21
Less: Stock-based employee compensation
(net of tax) using the fair value method. . . .. __ (6.9 _ {69
Proformanetincome.. ... ............... $188.3 $89.5
Repaorted net ingome per share, basic .. ... .. $ 279 51_68
Pro forma net income per share, basic . ... ... m E
Reported net income per share, diluted ... ... $ 2.75 ﬁ?
Pro forma net income per share, diluted. .. . .. $ 2.74 E-O-

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS In September 2006, the FASB issued
SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements.” This statement defines fair
value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) and expands dis-
closure about fair value measurements. SFAS No. 157 does not expand
the use of fair value measures in financial statements, but simphfies and
codifies related guidance within GAAP. SFAS No. 157 establishes a fair
value hierarchy from observable market data as the highest level to fair
value based on an entity’s own fair value assumptions as the lowest level,
SFAS No. 157 is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15,
2007 and interim periods within those years. SFAS No. 157 requires
adoption prospectively as of the beginning of the fiscal year in which
this statement is initially applied, with the exception of certain finan-
cial instruments, in which' adoption is applied retrospectively as of the
beginning of the fiscal year in which this statement is initially applied.
The company is currently evaluating the impact of this recently issued
standard on its consolidared financial statements.

ACCOUNTING CHANGES AND ERROR CORRECTIONS In September
2006, the Securities and Exchange Commission {SEC} released Staff
Accounting Bulletin (SAB) No. 108, “Considering the Effects of Prior
Year Misstatements when Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year
Financial Statements.” SAB No.108 provides guidance on how the effects
of prior-year uncorrected financial statement misstatements should be

considered in quantifying a current-ycar misstatement, SAB No. 108

requires registrants to quantify misstatements using both an income
statement (rollover} and balance sheet (iron curtain) approach and eval-
uate whether either approach results in a misstatement that, when all
relevant quantitative and qualitative factors are considered, is material. If
prior-year errors that previously had been considered immaterial now
are considered material based on either approach, no restatement is
required so long as management properly applied its previous approach
and all relevant facts and circumstances were considered. If prior years
are not restated, a cumulative-effect adjustment is recorded in opening
accumulated earnings as of the beginning of the fiscal year of adoption.
SAB No. 108 is effective for us for the fiscal year ending December 31,
2006. The company's adoption of this standard did not have a material
impact on its consolidated financial statements.

In May 2005, the FASB issued SFAS No. 154, “Accounting
Changes and Error Corrections.” This standard establishes new stan-
dards on accounting for changes in accounting principles. Pursuant to
the new rules, all such changes must be accounted for by retrospec-
tive application to the financial statements of prior periods unless it is
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impracticable to do so. SFAS No. 154 completely replaces Accounting
Principles Board (APB) Opinion No. 20 and SFAS No. 3, though it
carries forward the guidance in those pronouncements with respect to
accounting for changes in estimates, changes in the reporting entity,
and the correction of errors. This statement is effective for accounting
changes and corrections of efrom beginning January 1, 2006. The com-
pany’s adoption of this standard did not have a material impact on its
consolidated financial statements.

RECLASSIFICATIONS Certain prior period amounts have been reclassi-
fied to conform to the current year presenration.

Note 3 - Acquisitions

On February 7, 2007, the contpany completed the acquisition of a broad
line of additive products used in the metalworking markets worldwide
from Lockhart Chemical Company (Lockhart), a private company with
headquarters in Gibsonia, Pennsylvania. Lockhart is recognized in the
metalworking industry for its application and formulation capabilities
and quality products. The company purchased Lockhart’s entire metal-
working product line, which includes: natural, synthetic and gelled
sulfonates; emulsifier packages; corrosion inhibitors and lubricity agents;
grease additives; oxidates; esters; soap; semi-finished coatings; and rust
preventatives. In 2006, these product lines had annualized revenues of
approximately $20.0 million.

On June 3, 2004, the company completed the acquisition of
Noveon International for cas]; of $920.2 million {inclusive of $32.9 mil-
lion in certain seller expenses) plus transaction costs of $11.4 million
and less cash acquired of $103.0 million. In addition, the company
assumed $1,103.1 million of long-term indebtedness from Noveon

International.

The acguisition and related costs initially were financed with
the proceeds of 2 $2,450.0 million 364-day bridge credit facility. Shortly
after the acquisition, the company repaid substantially all of the assumed
long-term debt of Noveon International with proceeds of the temporary
bridge loan. In addition, the temporary bridge loan was repaid in full
in September 2004 with the proceeds from the permanent financing
obtained by the issuance of senior notes, debentures and equiry and the
borrowing of $575.0 million ¢f bank term loans, resulting in proceeds of
approximately $2,170.0 millici)n, net of underwriting commissions, dis-
counts and transaction costs. The company recorded the various assets
acquired and liabilities assurned, primatily working capital accounts, of
Noveon International at their estimated fair values determined as of the
acquisition date under the purchase method of accounting. Acniarial
valuations were completed for the projected pension and other post-
employment benefit obligations and were reflected in the purchase price
allocation, Appraisals of long-lived assets and identifiable intangible
assets, including an evaluation of IPR&UED projects, also were obtained.

The purchase price included the estimated fair value of
IPR&D projects totaling $34.0 million that, as of the acquisition date,
had not yet reached technological feasibility and had no alternative furure
use. As a result, the full amount allocated to IPR&ID was expensed in
2004. There were nine projcéts_ acquired in the Noveon International
transaction in several different product lines. The projects were at vary-
ing stages of completeness ranging from the early development stage to
prototype testing at the time of acquisition. The inventory step-up to
fair value totaled $24.2 million, of which $9.8 millien was expensed in
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2004 As the remaining step-up r:lates to inventories accounted for on
the LIFQ method of accounting, the company does not anticipate that
addltlonal amounts of step-up will be expensed in the near term.

35 The 2004 historical results of the company include revenues
iand expenses of Noveon Internarional since the date of acquisition.

i In January 2004, the ¢y>mpany completed the acquisition of
'the coatings hyperdispersants business from Avecia for cash totaling
$129.7 million, including transaction costs of $2.2 million. This business
!is headquartered in Blackley, Unized Kingdom and develops, manufac-
‘tures and markets high-value additives that are based on polymeric
?idispcrsion technology and used ir coatings and inks.

'Note 4 - Divestitures

In May 2006, the company sold the FIIS business and the active phar-
Imaceutlcal ingredients and intermediate compounds business (A&},
,both of which were included in the Lubrizol Advanced Materials
.scgmem A&l and almost all of FIIS were included in the Noveon con-
J'sumcr specialties product line. A small portion of the FIIS divestiture
was included in the performance oatings product line. In consideration
for the FI1IS and A&I businesse:, the company received net cash pro-
iceeds of approximately $254.8 million and $10.4 million, respectively.
“The company recorded a2 $10.4 million pretax ($15.9 million zfter-tax}
loss on the sale of these divested lusinesses. The tax charge of $5.5 mil-
\Itlion primarily related to the difference in book and rax basis in goodwill.
“The net charge of $76.2 million tecorded in discontinued operations in
12006 also reflected a $60.6 million after-tax goodwill impairment charge
in the first quarter of 2006 to reduce the FI1S business to its carrying
; value. The company performed th: impairment test on the FII5 business
.in connection with its classificatien as held for sale and estimated its fair
value based on expected proceeds from the sale, less transaction costs.
In addition, a charge of $4.4 million pretax ($2.9 million after-tax) was
recorded in the fourth quarter o' 2006 to write-off an intangible asset
associated with the FIIS business.

The company performed a SFAS No. 144 impairment test
Lof the FIIS business at December 31, 2005 and determined that the
testimated fair value of the FIIS b siness exceeded its carrying value. The
| company calculated the fair value using a probability-weighted assess-
"; ment based on selling the businesses versus continuing operations of the
Ebusincsses. Based on the results of this impairment analysis, an impair-
‘ ment charge was not warranted at December 31, 2005.
) In February 2006, the zompany sold certain assets and Eabili-
ties of its Telene® resins business (Telene), which was included in the
! Lubrizol Advanced Materials segment, The company received net cash
| proceeds of $6.2 million for the rale of Telene.

The results of the FII!5, A&J and the Telene businesses were
reflected in the (loss) income from discontinued operations — net of tax
!t line item in the consolidated stazements of income for 2006, 2005 and

( 2004, respectively.
’ In December 2005, the company sold certain assets, liabili-
:I ties and stock of its Engine Control Systems (ECS) business and, in
| September 2005, the company told certain assets and liabilities of its
[ U.S. and U.K. Lubrizol Performznce Systems (L.PS) operations, both of
i* which were included in the Lubrizol Additives segment. The company
|‘ reflected the results of these businesses in the (loss} income from discon-
! tinued operations — net of tax line: item in the consolidated statements of
I" income for 2005 and 2004, respectively.

|

Revenues from discontinued operations were $143.8 million,
$476.7 million and $295.1 million in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.
Loss from discontinued operations — net of tax was $76.2 million in
2006 and primarily related to a $60.6 million after-tax goodwill impair-
ment charge on the FIIS business recorded in the first quarter of 2006
and a $16.6 million after-tax loss on the sale of divested businesses. Loss
from discontinued operations ~ net of tax in 2006 includes income tax
expense of $%.4 million. Income from discontinued operations —net
of tax in 2005 was $27.8 million and includes income tax expense of
$15.5 miilion. Income from discontinued operations - net of tax in 2004
was $6.3 million and includes income tax expense of $3.1 million.

The company’s consolidated balance sheet ar December 31,
2006 does not reflect any businesses classified as discontinued operations
as all activities related to discontinued operations were fully completed
during 2006. The company’s consolidated balance sheet at December
31, 2005 included $132.1 million in current assets, $115.6 million in
net property and equipment, $87.6 million in goodwill, $24.8 million in
net intangible assets, $0.6 million in other current assets, $8.5 million in
current liabilities and $6.4 million in long-term liabilities pertaining to
businesses reflected as discontinued operations.

Note 5 - Inventories

2008 2005
Finishedproduets. . ... oo v iiinnne e $315.0 $21986
ProductS inproCess . . . o oo v e eennvnnnn.n 108.2 86.9
Rawmaterfals .. ...t 138.2 151.2
Supplies and engine testpants. ............ 27.6 283
Totalinventory ........................ $589.0 $586.0

Inventories valued using the LIFO method were 40% and 42% of
consolidated inventories at December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.
The current replacement cost of these inventories exceeded the LIFO
cost at December 31, 2006 and 2005 by $132.8 million and $121.5 mil-
lion, respectively.

Note 6 — Goodwill and Intangible Assets

GOODWILL Goeodwill is tested for impairment at the reporting unit
level as of October 1 of each year or if events or circumstances occur
that would meore likely than not reduce the fair value of a reporting unit
below its carrying amount. No impairment of goodwill was identified in
connection with the 2006, 2005 or 2004 annual impairment test.

‘The carrying amount of goodwill by reporting segment follows:

Lubrizod
Advanced Lubrizol
Materials Addlitives Total
1
Balance, January 1, 2005 .. ...... $1,052.8 $100.9 $1,153.8 |
i
Goodwill acquired . . . .......... 329 - 329 ¢
Transiation & other adjustments . . {42.8) (5.1) (47.9) I
Balance, December 31, 2005 ..... 1.043.0 95.8 1,138.8 I
Goodwill of divestitures. .. ...... {87.6) - (87.6)
Transtation & other adjustments . . 22.9 2.0 24.9
Balance, December 31, 2006 ..... § 9783 5978 $1,076.1
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The decrease in the carrying amount of goodwill from
December 31,2005 to December 31,2006 primarily reflects the elimina-
tion of the goodwill of divestitures in the Lubrizol Advanced Materials
segment of $87.6 million, of which $85.1 million was associated with
the FIIS business sold in the second quarter of 2006 and $2.5 million
related to the Telene business sold during the first quarter of 2006. The
$85.1 million goodwill reduction related to the FIIS business includes
an impairment charge of $60.6 million reflected in the first quarter of
2006 and a $24.5 million disposition of the residual balance at the time
of sale (see Note 4).

INTANGIBLE ASSETS 'The major components of the company's identifi-
able intangible assets are customer lists, technology, trademarks, patents,
land-use rights and non-compete agreements. Definite-lived intangible
assets are amortized over their useful Lives, which range between 3 and
40 years. The company’s indefinite-lived intangible assets consist of cer-
tain trademarks which are tested for impairment each year as of October
1 or more frequently if impairment indicators arise. Indefinite-lived
trademarks are assessed for impairment separately from goodwill. No
impairment of indefinite-lived trademarks was identified in connection
with the 2006, 2005 or 2004 annual impairment test. However, the
decrease in gross intangible assets from December 31, 2005 to Decem-
ber 31, 2006 primarily was due to a $41.2 million write-down of the
Noveon trade name in the Lubrizol Advanced Materials segment during
the fourth quarter of 2006 (see Note 17) and intangible assets associated
with the F1IS business sold during the second quarter of 2006.

The following table shows the components of identifiable
intangible assets as of December 31, 2006 and 2005:

Note 7 — Debt

‘The company’s debt is comprised of the following at December 31, 2006
and 2005: !

2006 2005

2006 2005
Gross Gross
Carrying Accumulated | Carrylng Accumulated
Amount Amortization | Amount  Amortization
Amortized intangible
assets:
Customer lists . . . . $145.0 $24.0 $151.5 $15.8
Technology . .... 139.8 44.9 144.4 356
Trademarks . ... .. 20.7 5.5 245 4.2
Patents......... 14,0 4.2 11.8 2.5
Land-use rights . . . 1.5 12 7.3 1.0
Noncompete
agreements .. .. 8.2 7.2 9.1 5.9
Other........... .09 0.7 5.4 0.7
Total amortized
intangible assets . . 3361 8717 354.0 85.7
Non-amortized
trademarks. . . .. 174.4 - 116.3 -
Total .............. 5410.5 $87.7 $470.3 $65.7

Short-term debt: .
Yen denominated, at weightedviaverage rates of
08%and0.5%. ......oi v irie i e -] 25|% 25
Other .. .. 0.2 0.8
Current portion of long-term det;:n ................ 1.0 46
Total .. .......0oovimean, L S 3.7}% 7.9
Long-term debt:

5.875% notes, due 2008, including a fair value
adjustment of $(1.1) million and $(0.6) million in
2006 and 2005, respectively, for unrealized losses
on derivative hedge instruments and remaining
unamertized gain on termination of swaps of
$5.2 million and $8.0 million in 2006 and 2005,
respectively . ............ L e $ 2041(|% 2074

4.525% notes, due 2009, net of original issue
discount of $0.2 million and $0.3 million in 2006
and 2005, respectively, and fair value adjustments
of ${4.1) million and ${4.3) million for unreatized
losses on derivative hedge instruments in 2006
and 2005, respectively ............... .. ... 377.5 395.4

5.5% notes, due 2014, net of original issue discount
of $2.4 million and $2.7 million in 2006 and 2005,
respectively .. ........... L 447.6 447.3

7.25% debentures, due 2025 ......... .. ..o oL 100.0 100.0

6.5% debentures, due 2034, net of original issue
discount of $4.8 miltion and $4.9 million in 2006
and 2005, respectively " ................ 295.2 2951

Debt supported by long-term banHing arrangements:

Euro revolving credit borrowing,iat EURIBOR plus
0.4% (4.1% and 2.9% at December 31, 2006

and 2005, respectively) ... . L. ..o Ll 112.2 215.6
OtEr e eeenennn, e 24 6.7

| 1,539.0] 16675

Less current portion. .. ....... A, 1.0 4.6
OB - o oo $1,538.0 | $1.662.9

Annual intangible amortization expense for the next five
years will approximate $22.5 million in 2007, $21.0 million in 2008 and
$19.3 million in 2009, 2010 and 2011, respectively.
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The scheduled prin!cipal payments for all outstanding debt
are $3.7 million in 2007, $200.5 million in 2008, $382.1 million in 2009,
$112.5 million in 2010, $0.2 milkion in 2011 and $850.1 million thereafter,

During the third quarter of 2006, the company repurchased
$18.2 million of its 4.625% notes due in 2009. The weighted-average
purchase price was 97.298% pér note, resulting in a gain on retirement of
$0.5 million. The company also accelerated amortization of $0.6 million
in debt issuance costs, original issue discounts and losses on Treasury
rate lock agreements associated with the repurchased notes. The remain-
ing outstanding balance on the 4.625% notes due in 2009 was $381.8
million as of December 31, 2096.

In September 2005, certain wholly owned international sub-
sidiaries of the company entered into a five-year unsecured committed
€250.0 million revolving credit agreement. This credit agreement per-
mits these designated international subsidiaries to borrow at variable
rates based on EURIBOR plus a specified credit spread. In September
2006, two of the company’s wholly owned foreign subsidiaries amended
their five-year unsecured committed €250.0 million credit agreement
such that neither the company nor its subsidiaries are any longer subject
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'to any investment or acquisition cestrictions. No other terms or condi-
tions of the agreement were modified. As of December 31, 2006 and
!32005,borrowings of €85.0 million and €182.0 million were outstanding

i . .
lunder this agreement, respectively:

In November 2004, the company entered into interest rate
|swap agreements that effectively converted the interest on $200.0 million
‘;of outstanding 4,625% notes due. 2009 to a variable rate of six-month
"LIBOR plus 40 basis points. In June 2004, the company entered into

interest rate swap agreements that effectively converted the interest on
i‘ $200.0 million of outstanding 5.£75% notes due 2008 to a variable rate
%?of six-month LIBOR plus 111 basis points. In addition, the company
“had an interest rate swap agreement, which expired in October 2006,
‘ that exchanged variable-rate intezest obligations on a notional principal
‘;‘amount of Japanese yen 500.0 million for a fixed rate of 2.0%.
? In September 2004, the company issued senior unsecured notes
-and debenrures having an aggrepate principal amount of $1,150.0 mil-
?lion including: $400.0 million 4.625% notes due October 1, 2009;
! $450.0 million 5.5% notes due October 1, 2014; and $300.0 million
 6:5% debentures due October 1, 2034. The price to the public was
l! $9.911% per 2009 note, 99.339%: per 2014 note and 98.341% per 2034
| debenture. The resulting original issue discount from the issuance of
, these notes and debentures of $£.3 million was recorded as a reduction
| of the underlying debt issuances and is being amortized over the life of
! the debt using the effective interest method. Interest is payable semi-
* annually on April 1 and October 1 of each year, beginning April 1, 2005.
[ The notes and debentures have no sinking fund requirement, but are
J' redeemable, in whole or in part, at the option of the company. The pro-
I ceeds from these notes and debentures were used to repay a portion of
the 364-day credit facility that was utilized to bridge finance the Noveon

‘ International acquisition. Including debt issuance costs, original issue
| discounts and losses on Treasury rate lock agreements, the 2009 notes,
i 2014 notes and 2034 debentures have effective annualized interest rates
i of approximately 5.3%, 6.3% and 6.79%, respectively, with a weighted-
average interest rate for the aggregate issuances of approximately 6.1%.

' In August 2004, the ccmpany entered into a five-year $1,075.0
* million unsecured bank credit ayyreement consisting of: $575.0 million
in term loans and a $500.0 milkion committed revolving credit facility.

This credit agreement permits the company to borrow at variable rates
i. based upon the U.S. prime rate or LIBOR plus a specified spread. The
! spread is dependent on the company’s long-term unsecured senior debrt
i rating from Standard and Poor’s and Moody's Investor Services. In Sep-~
. tember 2004, the company borrowed $575.0 million in term loans, the
i proceeds of which were used to repay a portion of the 364-day credit
| facility used to bridge finance the Noveon International acquisition.
' Principal on the term lozns was due quarterly in equal installments of

$14.4 million beginning March 31, 2005, with any remaining unpaid
;; balance due in September 2009. In the fourth quarter of 2004, the com-
i pany prepaid $75.0 million and, in 2003, the company prepaid the

remaining $500.0 million to pay off the bank term loan. The loans were

prepayable at any time without penalty. There were no outstanding

revolving credit facility borrowings as of December 31, 2006 and 2005.
i In Seprember 2006, the company amended its five-year unsecured com-

+ mitted U.S, bank credit agreement to reduce the amount of revolving
credit available under the agreement from $500.0 million to $350.0 mil-
lion and extended the maturity date to September 2011, In addition, the

company’s direct and indirect domestic subsidiaries were released as
| guarantors under the credit agreement, and the company no longer is

subject to any investment or acquisition restrictions. Due to provisions
in each of the three indentures underlying the company’s outstanding
public debt, upon effectiveness of the amendment to the credit agreement
described above, the company’s direct 2nd indirect domestic subsidiaries
were released as guarantors of the outstanding public debt effective in
September 2006.

In July 2002, the company terminated its interest rate swap
agreements expiring December 2008, which converted fixed-rate inter-
est on $100.0 million of its 5.875% debentures to a variable rate. In
terminating the swaps, the company received cash of $18.1 million,
which is being amortized as a reduction of interest expense through
December 1, 2008, the due date of the underlying debt. Gains and losses
on terminations of interest rate swap agreements designated as fair value
hedges are deferred as an adjustment to the carrying amount of the out-
standing obligation and amortized as an adjustment to interest expense
related to the obligation over the remaining term of the original contract
life of the terminated swap agreement. In the event of carly extinguish-
ment of the outstanding obligation, any unamortized gain or loss from
the swaps would be recognized in the consolidated statement of income
at the time of such extinguishment. In 2002, the company recorded a
$17.3 million unrealized gain, net of accrued interest, on the termina-
tion of the interest rate swaps as an increase in the underlying long-term
debt. The remaining unrealized gain was $5.2 million and $8.0 million
at December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

In November 1998, the company issued notes having an
aggregate principal amount of $200.0 million. The notes are unsecured,
senior obligations of the company that mature on December 1, 2008,
and bear interest at 5.875% per annum, payable semi-annually on June 1
and December 1 of each year. The notes have no sinking fund requirement
but are redeemable, in whole or in part, at the option of the company.
The company incurred debt issuance costs aggregating $10.5 million,
including a loss of $6.5 million related to closed Treasury rate lock
agreements originally entered into as a hedge against changes in interest
rates relative to the anticipated issuance of these notes.

The company has debentures outstanding, issued in June
1995, in an aggregate principal amount of $100.0 million, These deben-
tures are unsecured, senior obligations of the company that mature on
June 15, 2025, and bear interest at an annualized rate of 7.25%, payable
semi-annually on June 15 and December 15 of each year. The debentures
are not redeemable prior to maturity and are not subject to any sinking
fund requirements.

Interest paid, net of amounts capitalized, was $98.2 million,
$104.3 million and §80.0 million during 2006, 2005 and 2004, respec-
tively. The company capitalizes interest on qualifying capital projects. The
arnount of interest capitatized during 2006, 2005 and 2004 amounted to
$1.5 million, $0.7 million and $0.6 million, respectively.

Note 8 - Financlal Instruments

The company has various financial instruments, including cash and
short-term investments, investments in nonconsclidated companties,
foreign currency forward contracts, commodity forward contracts, inter-
est rate swaps and short-term and long-term debt. The company has
determined the estimated fair value of these financial instruments by
using available market information and generally accepted valuation
methodologies. The use of different market assumptions or estimation
methodologies could have a marerial effect on the estimated fair value
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arnounts. The estimated fair value of the company’s debt instruments
at December 31, 2006 and 2005 approximated $1,533.5 million and
$1,687.0 million, compared with the carrying value of $1,541.7 million
and $1,670.8 million, respectively.

The company is exposed to market risk from changes in inter-
est rates. The company's policy is to manage interest expense using a mix
of fixed-rate and variable-rate debt. To ranage this mix in a cost-efficient
manner, the company may enter into interest rate swaps in which the
company agrees to exchange, at specified intervals, the difference between
fixed and variable interest amounts calculated by reference to an agreed-
upon noticnal principal amount, Interest payments receivable and payable
under the terms of the interest rate swap agreements are accrued over the
period to which the payment relates and the net difference is treated as an
adjustment of interest expense related to the underlying liabilicy.

In November 2004, the company entered into interest rate
swap agreements that effectively convert the interest on $200.0 million
of outstanding 4.625% notes due 2009 to a variable rate of six-month
LIBOR plus 40 basis points. The fair value of the interest rate swaps
included in long-term debt was $(4.1) million and $(4.3) million at
December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. In June 2004, the company
entered into interest rate swap agreements that cffectively convert the
interest on $200.0 million of outstanding 5.875% notes due 2008 to a
variable rate of six-month LIBOR plus 111 basis points. The fair value
of the interest rate swaps included in long-term debt was $(1.1) mil-
lion and $(0.6} million at December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.
These swaps are designated as fair-value hedges of underlying fixed-rate
debt obligations and are recorded as an adjustment to long-term debt
and noncurrent assets or liabilities. These interest rate swaps qualify
for the short-cut method for assessing hedge effectiveness per SFAS
No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activi-
ties.” Changes in fair value of the swaps are offset by the change in fair
value of the underlying debt. As a result, there was no impact to earnings
in 2006 or 2005 due to hedge ineffectiveness.

The company alse had an interest rate swap agreement that
matured in October 2006 that exchanged variable-rate interest obligations
for a fixed rate on a notional principal amount of Japanese yen 500.0 mil-
lion. This interest rate swap was designated as a cash-flow hedge.

In April 2004, the company terminated interest rate swap
agreements resulting in a pretax charge of $2.9 million recognized in
2004. The interest rate swap, which had an original expiration date of
March 2005, exchanged variable-rate interest obligations on a notional
principal amount of $50.0 million for a fixed rate of 7.6%. The company
terminated the interest rate swap as a result of the company’s debt and
commercial paper. credit rating being downgraded upon the announce-
. ment of the Noveon International zcquisition effectively eliminating the
company’s access to the commercial paper market.

In June 2004, the company entered into several Treasury
rate lock agreements with an aggregate notional principal amount of
$900.0 million, all maturing Septernber 30, 2004, whereby the company
had locked in Treasury rates relating to s portion of the then antici-
pated public debt securities issuance. These rate locks were designated
as cash-flow hedges of the forecasted semi-annual interest payments
associated with the expected debt issuance. In Seprember 2004, the
company incurred 2 pretax loss on the termination of these agreements
in an aggregate amount of $73.9 millien, Gains and losses on termina-
tions of Treasury rate lock agreements designated as cash-flow hedges

42 € The Lubrizol Corporation

are deferred and amortized as an adjustment to interest expense over
the life of the corresponding!debt issuance using the effective interest
method. The unamortized balance of the Treasury rate lock recorded in
accumulated other comprehensive income, net of tax, was $41.2 million
and $44.5 milkion at Dccembér 31,2006 and 2005, respectively.

The company is exposed to the effect of changes in foreign
currency rates on its earnings and cash flow as a result of doing business
internationally. In addition to working capital management, pricing and
sourcing, the company selectively uses foreign currency forward contracts
to lessen the potential effect of currency changes. The maximum amount
of foreign currency forward contracts outstanding at any one time was
£35.5 million in 2006, $34.4 million in 2005 and $140.8 miltion in 2004,
At December 31, 2006, the campany had short-term forward contracts
to buy or sell currencies at varjous dates during 2007 for $28.8 million,
At December 31, 2005, the company had short-term forward contracts
to buy or sell currencies at various dates during 2006 for $27.3 million.
Changes in the fair value of these contracts are recorded in other income,
The fair value of these instmm;:nts at December 31,2006 and 2005, and
the related adjustments recorded in other income, were an unrealized
gain (loss) of $0.2 million and!$(0.2) million, respectively.

The company is exposed to market risk from changes in com-
modity prices. The company uses financial instruments to manage the
cost of natural gas and electricity purchases. These contracts have been
designated as cash-flow hedges and, accordingly, any effective unrealized
gains or losses on open contricts are recorded in other comprehensive
income or loss, net of related tax effects. At December 31, 2006 and
2005, the notional amounts of open contracts totaled $15.0 million and
$10.1 million, respectively. A hedge liability of $1.9 million ($1.2 mil-
lion net of tax) and $0.9 million ($0.6 million net of tax) was recorded
at December 31, 2006 and 2005. respectively, which represents the net
unredlized losses or gains based upon current futures prices at that date.
Ineffectiveness was determined to be immaterial in 2006 and 2005.
Contract maturities are less than 12 months. As such, the company
expects that all of these losses will be reclassified into earnings within
the next 12 months. '

Note 9 - Other Balanc;e Sheet Information

2006 2005
Receivables:
Customers .............0a. e $509.3 $533.9
Affiliates. ................. e 4.0 81
Other «..oovvvineeannanns : .......... 60.3 43.6
Total..........cocovuannn. e $573.6 $585.6

Receivables are net of ﬂlomnée for doubtful accounts of $7.5 million
and $10.1 million at December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

2006 2005

Property and equipment - at cost:

Land and improvements . ... .. S $ 177.0 $ 178.0
Buildings and improvements ... | ......... 457.8 456.2
Machinery and equipment . . ... : ......... 1,820.2 1,912.2
Construction in ProBIess. ... ..iv.vveea. .. 91.0 75.1
Total, . ... ..o i s $2,546.0 $2,621.5
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|ﬂ Depreciation expense of property and equipment from con- par value. Common shares outstanding exclude common shares held in
tinuing operations was $133.3 million, $139.4 million and $115.4 million treasury of 17.2 million and 18.2 million at December 31, 2006 and
in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Depreciation expense of property 2003, respectively.

li . . . - an

:hn.d.equ:pment frorr_n -d:sc-ontlnued operations was $4.4 .mllhon, $15.2 In September 2004, the company issued and sold 13.4 mil-
:i;mlhon and $21.3 million in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. lion common shares at a price of $33.25 per share. Net proceeds from
i 2006 2005 the sale of common shares were $427.2 million and were used primar-

ily to repay the temporary bridge loan that financed a portion of the

J/iccrued expenses and other cumrent liabilities: .
: Noveon International acquisition. In October 2004, the company issued

1u Employee compensation . . .. ............ $108.1 $ 994 an additional 1.3 million common shares at a price of $33.25 per share
L INCOME tOXES . . o' vv e eeseeenss 48.5 56.3 due to the exercise of the over-allotment option relating to the Septem-
Sates allowances and (ebates . . . .. .. ..... 33.8 30.3 ber common share offering. This issuance generated net proceeds to the
\ Taxes other than incame. . « . . . . . . . ... 312 212 company of $42.8 million, which were utilized to prepay $40.0 million
" in term loan debt.
lmerest. . ... 17.9 17.6
OMEr « oo 483 50.0 ‘The company has a shareholder rights plan under which one
right to buy one-haif common share has been distributed for each com-
Totah. ... ... ... $297.8 $284.8 . . P
‘ ] mon share held. The rights may become exercisable under certain cit-
It curnstances involving actual or potential acquisitions of 20% or more of
' Dividends payable at 1Jecember 31, 2006 and 2005 were the common shares by a person or affiliated persons whe acquire stock
!hyl7.9 mlxlhon and 517.'.7 million, res pectively, and are included in accounts without complying with the requirements of the company’s articles of
E?“Y"ble in the consolidated balanc: sheet. incorporation. The rights would entitle shareholders, other than this per-
i son or affiliated persons, to purchase common shares of the company or
!‘Ote 10 - Shareholders’ Equity of certain acquiring persons at 5096 of the then current market value. At

the option of the directors, the rights may be exchanged for common
shares, and may be redeemed in cash, securities or other consideration.
The rights will expire in October 2007.

jfhc company has 147.0 million authorized shares consisting of 2.0 mil-
l.ion shares of serial preferred stock, 25.0 million shares of serial prefer-
{';nce shares and 120.0 million common shares, each of which is without

Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income shown in the consolidated statements of shareholders’ equity at December 31, 2006, 2005
%;Lnd 2004 is comprised of the following:

i
I
IE
!

: Foreign Unrealized Unrecognired Accumulated
\ . Cumency - Treasury Galns {Losses) Penslon Plan and Other
: Translaticn Rate of Interest Other Postretirement - Comprehensive
' Adjustment . Locks ’ Rate Swaps Benefit Costs (Loss) income
i;!alance. January 1, 2004 ... ... ..., $ (4.1) 3 - ${1.8) $(30.1) $ (36.0)
ther comprehensive income {loss):
I Pretax ..... ..o 975 (72.9) ' 3.2 19 29.7
!; Tax benefit (provision} ................. ﬁ} 25.5 E) . ﬂ) 21.8
S TORAN, e 95.6 _{47.49) 21 1.2 51.5
Balance, December 31,2004 ......... PN 915 (47.4) 0.3 (28.9} 15.5
f;)ther comprehensive (loss) income:
'; Pretax ... .k ......................... (119.1) 4.4 - (19.1) (133.8)
i Tax benefit (Provision} .. ..ovvvvnrnnn.ns 1.9 __(15) - __54 5.8
[ Total (117.2) 2.9 - _(13.7) _(128.0)
!?alance, December 31,2005 ............. : (25.7) (44.5) 03 - {42.8) {112.5)
)ther comprehensive income (loss):
Pretax ............... .. ciiiiiian, 80.8 5.0 - 46,8 132.6
Tax benefit {provision) ................. 0.1 ﬂ) - ﬂ) ﬁ)
Total. .. ... 80.9 33 - 329 171
Adjustment to recognize pension and ither
postretirement benefit plans funded status:
Pretax ........cooiiiiniiiiiia - - - {84.8} {84.8)
Taxbenefit............. ... ... - - - 27.3 27.3
B - - - _{57.5) {57.5)
3alance, December 31,2006 ............. $ 55.2 w) w ﬂﬂfl Eﬂ)
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Note 11 - Other Income -~ Net

|
|
i
|
|

- | - :
The differences between the provision for income taxes at the
U.S. statutory rate and the tax shown in the consolidated statements of

2008 2008 2004 income are summarized as fclallows:
) I
St el | sioa 5 - $ - ' 2005 | 2008 2004
Currency exchange / transaction Tax at statutory rate of 35%. . .. .. .. $92.8 $85.2 $48.0
{lossygain ................... {2.9) {0.6) 6.6 U.5. and foreign tax an foreign
Equity earnings of nonconsolidated dividends ...............L.... 7.7 B.1 138
COMPANIES. - - . -+ ovevese s 1.0 o8 08 | 5. tax benefit an exports. . . .|, . . .. {4.1) (5.0) (1.8)
Other—net....oveennnvnn _2 A4 129 State and local income taxes. ; ..... 51 38 03
Total ..o $83 $1.6 $54 | Untaxed translation gains ... .. .. .. (0.5) (0.8) (2.5)
Pravision impacts of
Dividends received from nonconsolidated companies were $0.2 million foreign operations.........L.... {19.9) {(11.5) (8.0)
in 2006, $0.9 million in 2005 and $0.4 miliion in 2004. Other—net................h.... 1.7 22 0.2
Provision for income taxes....[..... $83.3 $82.0 $50.0
Note 12 - Income Taxes !

Income from continuing operations before income taxes consists of the
following:

The tax effects of temporary Idiﬂ‘emrxces that give rise to significant por-
tions of deferred tux assets and liabilities at December 31 are as follows:
|

2006 2005 2004 ]' 2006 2005
United States. .................. $ 755 $ 40.2 $ 322 Deferred tax assets:
Forelgn ... ...ovvi o 189.6 203.3 105.0 Accrued compensation and bei'neﬁts ......... $1352 $108.3
Total .. ..... .. oo 52651 $2435 $137.2 lnventory ________________ [ 22.4 16.7
Cash flow hedges . ........ | .............. 22,9 24.3
The provision for income taxes from continuing operations consists of Net operating losses and tax aredits
the following; carried forward. .. .... ... L, 29.9 94.9
2006 2005 2004 Other . ..ovviiniiiennns I .............. 238 27.0
Current: I Total gross deferred tax assets . ... ......... 234.2 271.2
United States: Less valuation aliowance .. . .. e (17.8) (18.1}
Federal ............. SR $(3.9) $ 4.0 $ 14 Net deferred tax assets . ..... : .............. 216.4 253.1
AL . e 0.7} {0.2) 1.4 Deferred tax liabilities: i
FOOIEN. . oo, 48.2 67.5 40.9 Depreciation and other basis differences. .. ... 203.8 2335
43.6 71.3 43.7 Foreign subsidiary and affiliate
undistributed eamings . .. .L..... ... .. ... 1.9 85
Deferred: 1
Other ... ... . i 1.9 135
United States: |
Total gross deferred tax liabilities . . .. ... .. .. 223.6 2535
Federal .................... 28.6 9.5 17.5 |
Net deferred tax liabilities ... .L............. § {12y $ (0.4)
State..........iiiiiis 8.5 6.1 (1.0) i _— —
]
Foreign._..................... 2.6 {49} {10.2) | K
——— E—— —— At December 31, 2006, the company had U.S. tax credit carryforwards
39.7 10.7 6.3 . [
and state and foreign net operating loss carryforwards (NOLs). The com-
Total ..o 583.3 $820 §.5.9_.9 pany’s U.S. tax credits totaled $15.3 million, of which $8.4 million expire
in 2007 through 2026, and $6.9 million have no expiration. The company
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had $9.3 million of state tax :bcncﬁt from NOLs, which expire in 2007.
through 2026. Foreign NOL% totaled $18.6 million, of which $15.0 mil-
ion expire in 2008 through 2021 and $3.6 million, which can be carried
forward indefinitely. Additionally, the company has incurred losses in a
foreign jurisdiction where realization of the future econormic benefit is so
remote that the benefit is notI reflected as a deferred tax asset.

Gross deferred tax;' assets as of December 31, 2006 and 2005
were reduced by valuation allowances of $17.8 million and $18.1 mil-
lion, respectively, to reflect the amounts expected to be realized. Of the
$17.8 million in valuation all%)wanccs at December 31, 2006, $10.2 mil-
lion relates to certain Noveon International deferred tax assets existing

|
i
|
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at the time of the 2004 acquisition. Any reversal of this portion of the
valuation allowance reduces goodwill, No valuation allowance has been
recogmzcd against the U.S. tax ceedits because management believes

that the company will generate suficient future raxable income during
the carryforward period in order to utilize these credits.

ULS. income taxes and foreign withholding taxes are not
provided on undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries, which are
(onSLdered to be indefinitely reinvested in the operations of such subsid-
1ant:s 'The amount of these earninzs was approximately $735.5 million
.=.t December 31, 2006. Determination of the net amount of unrecog-
nized taxes with respect to these eurnings is not practicable.

Income taxes paid during 2006, 2005 and 2004 were
u72 9 million, $75.7 million and $34.6 million, respectively.

1

i}Jote 13 - Pension, Profil Sharing and

Other Postretirement Benefit Plans

T!Ihe company has noncontributory Jefined benefit pension plans covering
most employees. Pension benefits under these plans are based on years of
tervice and the employee’s compersation. The company’s funding policy
in the United States is to contributz amounts to satisfy the funding stan-
ilards of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended {(IRC), and the
:Employec Retirement Income Se:urity Act of 1974, as amended, and
tlsewhere to fund amounts in accerdance with local regulations. Several
j)f the company’s smaller defined benefit plans are not funded.

The investment objective of the funded pension plans spon-

sored by the company and certain subsidiaries is to assure the timely
Hayment of promised benefits ar a minimum cost consistent with pru-
Hent standards of investment, given the strength of the company and the
jiubsidiaries, their earnings record, the adequacy of each plan’s funding
and the age of each entity’s work force. The plans utilize diversified
investment portfolios and seek to zarn returns consistent with a reason-
ablc level of rigk, The long-term expected return on plan agsets used to
:ictermmc the net periodic pension cost is based upon each entity’s
mvcstmcnt allocation and anticipated returns for specific investment
classes. In 2006, the company lowered the expected long-term rate of
return assumption for the U.S. penston plans 25 basis points to 8.25%
It7.48% on a weighted-average basis for all plans} based on investment
;rmx and projected market conditions.
h As long-term asset allocation is recognized as the primary
determinant of performance, the saonsoring entities generally utilize the
following asset allocation targets ta achieve their plan investment objec-
‘ftiveS' 70% equity securities and 30% debt securities. The non-U.S. plans
havc a slightly higher allocation to debt securities than the U.S. plans, As
appropnatc allocation targets and ranges may be established for various
subeategories, Allocations are revizwed periodically and adjusted as nec-
iessary, In January 2005, the company transferred the Noveon Interna-
;tiona.l U.S. pension assets into one master trust arrangement with the
jcompany's existing U.S. pension plans. As a result, the combined assets
Pare subject to the same overall investment strategy and management.

it

Approved pension plan investments include, but are not lim-
ited to: equities, fixed-income securities, venture capital, cash and cash
equivalent instruments and such other instruments (including murual
fund investments}), as the company may approve. Investments in tax-
exempt securities, commodities and options, other than covered calls,
and the use of leverage are prohibited. Plan investment managers may
use derivatives to hedge currency risk and to maintain full investment.
Any other use of derivative instraments must be approved by the spon-
soring entity.

The market values of pension plan assets are compared
periodically to the value of plan benefit obligations. The future value
of assets, as calculated based on the expected long-term rate of return,
are also compared to expected future plan benefit distributions and con-
tributions to determine the sufficiency of expected plan funding levels,
Investment asset allocations are revised as appropriate.

Plan assets are invested in marketable equity securities and

fixed-income instruments. The allocation of pension plan assets by major
asset class is shown below on a weighted-average basis:

Percentage of Plan
Assets at December 31
2006 ____ﬂ?_-_
Asset category:
Equity securities. .. ................... 73% T2%
Debt segurities .. ........... ... ... ... ﬂ%_. %
Total....... ... ... ... ... . i, ﬁ ﬁ

No equity or debt securities of the company or any of its
subsidiaries were included in the pension plans’ assets in 2006 and
20085, respectively.

The company also provides certain non-pension postretire-
ment benefits, primarily health care and life insurance benefits, for
retired employees. Most of the legacy Lubrizol full-time employees in
the United States may become eligible for health care benefits upon
retirement. Full-time employees who retired between January 1, 1992
and December 31, 2002 are also eligible for life insurance benefits.
Participants contribute a portion of the cost of these benefits. The com-
pany’s non-pension postretirement benefit plans are not funded. As part
of the Noveon International integration efforts to provide consistent
benefits, the company communicated 1o employees in May 2005 changes
to the benefits structure of certain of its U.S. pension and postretirement
benefit plans. This communication triggered a remeasurement of the
related benefit obligations and net periodic benefit cost in 2005 for both
the legacy Noveon International ULS. pension plans as well as for the
U.S. postretirement benefit plan. The net impact of the benefit and actu-
arial assumption changes reduced our aggregate net periodic pension
and postretirement benefit cost by 83.5 million in 2005. The annualized
savings resulting from this benefits change is estimated to be approxi-
mately $5.3 million.
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In Seprember 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No.158,“Employ-
ers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement
Plans — an amendment of:FASB Statements No.87, 88,106,and 132{R)”
SFAS No.158 requires an employer to recognize a plan’s funded status in
its statement of financial position, measure a plan's assets and obligations
as of the end of the employer’s fiscal year and recognize the changes in
a plan’s funded status in comprehensive income in the year in which the
changes occur. SFAS No. 158’ requirement to recognize a plan’s funded

status and new disclosure, requirements are effective for the company as-

of December 31, 2006. The requirement to measure plan assets and ben-

efit obligations as of the date of the company’s fiscal year-end statement

of financial position is effective for fiscal years ending after December

15, 2008. Currently, the company measures plan assets as of the date
of its fiscal year-end. The company adopted the required provisions of
SFAS No.158 on December 31, 2006.

!
The incremental effects of adopting SFAS No. 158 on the com-
pany’s consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2006 were as follows:

The change in the,projected benefit obligation and plan assets
for 2006 and 2005 and the amounts recognized in the consolidated bal-
ance sheets at December 31|for the company’s defined benefit pension
and non-pension postretirement plans were as follows:

Batance Batance
Before After
. Applying SFAS Applying
' SFAS No. 158 " SFAS
No. 158 Adjustments No. 158
1
Current assets: ‘
1
Other current assets. .. .. eese. 5 10498 $ (6.9} $ 98.0
Nohcurrent assets: I
Other assets........... L. .. 8 610§ 10 s 620
Intangible assets-net . ..... o 5 326.6 5 (3.8) $ 3228
Total assets. . . .....n.... L0, sa43958 ${9.7) 54,3862
)
Current liabilities: |
Accrued expenses and other
current liabilities ... ......... '$ 2868 § 10 $ 28718
Noncurrent lfabilities: o '
Pension obligations. . .. .. [ : .. § 1301 $884 $ 218.5
Other postretirement ,
benefit obligations . . ......... 5 963 $(14.3) $ B2.0
]
Deferred income taxes . ... ..... $ 1162 $(27.3) $ 889
Total liabilities. .. ........ ! .. {. .. 5$2,578.3 5478 $2,626.1
1
Accumulated other comprehensiv}z
income (1088}, ...\ .. L., § 48 ${57.5) $ {52.9)
Total shareholders’ equity e 51,764.9 ${57.5) 51,707.4

1
!
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CHANGE IN PROJECTED
BENEFIT OBLIGATION:

Projected benefit obligation at
beginning ofyear .........L..

Servicecost .. ..., ....... l .
Interestcost. . ........... ' ..
Ptan participants’ contribution]s .
Actuarial (gainyloss ......... -
Currency exchange rate change .
Plan amendments. . ....... ' .
Settlements/ curtailments . I .
Divestitures . ............ | .

Benefits paid. . . .. . e | AN

Benefit obligation at end of year! . .

CHANGE IN PLAN ASSETS:

Fair value of plan assets at ‘ ,
beginning ofyear .........!..

Actual return an plan assets. I .
Empioyer cantributions . . . .. ] ..
Settlements..............I..
Plan participants’ contrihmionla .
Currency exchange rate change .
Adjustments .. ...
Benefitspaid. . ...........! .-

Fair value of plan assets at
endofyear..............! ..

andodsmus..............)..

Items not yet recognized as a
component of net periodic
pension and other postretire-
ment benefit cost (credit):

Unrecognized net loss. ... ... N

Unrecognized net transition
obligation, .. .... e .

Unrecognized prior service
cost {credit)

Net amounts recognized. . . ... . o

Net amounts recognized in the
consolidated balance sheets:

Prepaid benefit cost ........ Ll
Intangible asset ........... ..
Accrued benefit liability, . . . .. o
Funded Status ............. ! .

Accumulated other
comprehensive 10ss ... .... Ll

Net amounts recognized. ... ... L.

Penslon Plans Cther Benefits
2006 2005 2006 2005
$6318 | $5585 [ 6 938 1% 1225

30.2 28.1 15 18
34.1 315 4.9 6.0
0.6 0.6 36 3.3
{21.0) 74.2 (1.8} (9.0}
328 (27.0} 0.2 (0.2}
25 23 - {22.1)
(2.8 (1.0 {1.5) -
{3.6) - (6.2) -
(25.5) (25.4) {8.2) (8.5}
689.1 641.8 86.6 93.8
400.5 357.2 - -
50.6 46,1 - -
23.5 38.2 4.6 5.2
- (0.9) - -
0.6 0.6 36 33
19.7 (15.3) - -
1.2 - - -
{25.5) {25.4} 8.2)] (85
470.6 400.5 - -
S(218.5)| (241.3)}] & (86.6) (93.8)
5 8986 1475 | $ 258 349
0.4 0.5 - -
23.0 22.7 (40.1) .(48.3)
5 113.0 170.7 | 5 (14.3) {13.4)
$_(72£) $(107.2)
$ 10| 8% 03]s -1% -
- 4.9 - -
({219.5)} (1365)| (B6.6)| (107.2)
${219.5) W)
60.7 -
Wﬂ) $(107.2)
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“ 'Ihe accumulated benefit obligation for all defined benefit pen-
sion plans was $537.7 million and $513.1 million at December 31,2006
a?nd 2005, respectively, The projected benefir obligation and fair value of
;:Ean assets for pension plans with projected benefit obligations in excess

The company’s actuarial assumptions used to determine ben-
efit obligations and earnings effects for its defined benefit pension and’
non-pension postretirement plans are as follows:

Pension Plans Other Benefits
c-f plan asscrs were $675.7 millior. and $456.1 million, respectively, at 2006 2005 2006 | 2005
December 31,2006, and $637.8 million and $395.9 million, respectively, f
The wei .
at December ?1 2005. The accumulated benefit obligation and fair value :s:c‘: E)h;i?;\:;ffi :r::#:‘ ptions '
clnf plan assets for penston plans with accumulated benefit obligations in obligations at December 31:
¢xcess of plan assets were $522.1 million and $450.1 million, respec- Measurement date . .......... i12/31 | 12731 | 12731 | 12,31
tlwely, at December 31, 2006 and $306.0 million and $189.4 million, DISCOUNt 1ate - o+ o oo se7% | s.08% 612% | 550%
rcspcctlvcly, at December 31,2005. Rate of compensation increass . . 3.85% 3.94% * *
Thc company amortizes gains and losses, as well as the effects The weighted-average assumptions ]
of changes in dctuarial assumptions and plan provisions, over the average used to determine net periodic :
temaining service period of participating employees expected to receive benefit cost for years ended
tl" 6 gd i P] P pating employe P December 31: .
enefits under the plans.
' P Discountrate ............... 5.28% 5.74% 554% | 6.20%
, Net periodic pension cost of the company’s defined benefit Expected long-term retumn |
pcnston plans consists of: onplanassets. .. .....ue s 7.48% | 7.72% * -
|l 2006 | 2005 2004 Rate of compensation increase.. | 3.95% { 4.08% * *
‘|»em0e cost — benefts earned during period. . . $30.2 $28.1 $22.0
I|1terest cost on projected benefit obligation . . 341 315 27.9 *Disclosure not applicable .
| '
Expected return onplanassets . ........... 28.3 {26.9) {27.4) . :
e o ° ] 283 The following table shows the amounts the company con-
ﬁ;monlzatlon ofipnor SEIVICE COSLS ... . one e 23 22 16 tributed to its postretirement plans in 2005 and 2006 and the expected!
ﬁllmortization of initial net obligation (asset) . . . 0.2 0.2 (0.7) contributions for 2007-
Flecognized netlactuarlal loss. . ............ 8.4 5.5 38 Pension Other -
Settlement / cu}tailment Lo 2.9 0.3 7.7 Plans Plans Tn'tall
i i .
r#et periodic pensioncost. . ............... $49.8 $40.9 $34.9 Employer ¢ontributions: ' .
‘ 2005 . 00 ie e e $38.2 $5.2 $43.4
'The company recorded a $7.7 million settlement charge in 2006 235 46 284
2'004 primarily associated with workforce reductions announced in June
2007 (expected) .. ............. 59.5 4.6 64.1

: '004 in the United States.

! The amount of net loss and prior service cost that is expected

to be recognized as a component of net periodic benefit cost in 2007 is
!-4 9 million and $2.4 million, respzctively.

l Net periodic non-pension postretirement benefit cost con-

H

Expected employer contributions for pension benefits in 2007
include $1.8 million for unfunded plans. The expected contributions to
these plans represent an actuarial estimate of future assumed payments
based on historic retirement and payment patterns. Actual amounts pald

ists of could differ from this estimate.
2006 2005 2004
- : Contributions by participants to the other benefit plans were
Siervice cost — benefits eamed during period. . . $1.5 $1.8 $2.5 $3.6 million and $3.3 million for the years ending December 31, 2006
lllnterest cost on projected benefit obligation . . 4.9 6.0 6.9 and 2005, respectively.
Amoartization of prior service credits. . ....... (8.2) (7.5) (6.1) 'The following table shows the benefits expected to be paid in
FI;ecognized net'actuariat loss. .. ........... 18 21 25 each of the next five years and the aggregate benefits expected to be paid
|
Siettlement /curtailment loss . . ............ (1.1} - - for the subsequent five years: !
Met periodic non-pension postretiremer t Pension Other Total
! benefit (Credit) COSL .- vvvvvreenreer e sl | $24  $5.8 Plans Benefits Benefits
2007 ..o e $ 263 $ 47 $ 31.0
The amount of net loss and prior service cost (credit) that is 2008, ...l 28.9 4.9 33.8
expected to be recognized as a component of net periodic non-pension 2008 . 32.0 5.2 37.2
postretirement benefit cost (credit) in 2007 is $1.3 million and $(6.6) D010 . oo 355 56 411
LT .
million, respectively. 2011, iii it 36.7 6.1 428
2012-2016. ... ... 217.8 351 2529
i
i
! (
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The other benefits in the above table are presented net of
expected Medicare Part I subsidy payments of $0.7 million in 2007,
$0.8 million in 2008, $0.9 million in 2009, $1.0 million in 2010, $1.1 mil-
lion in 2011 and $6.7 million in 2012~ 2016. The weighted average of
the assumed health care cost trend rates used in measuring the accumu-
lated postretirement benefit obligation for the company’s postretirement
benefit plans at December 31, 2006 was 9.609% (8.27% at December 31,
2005), with subsequent annual decrements to an ultimate trend rate of
5.10% by 2012. The assumed health care cost trend rates have a signifi-
cant effect on the amounts reported for the health care plans. A one-
percentage-point change in the assumed health care cost trend rate
would have the following effects as of and for the year ended December
31, 2006:

One-Percentage-Polnt
Increase Decrease
Effect on postretirement beqeﬂt obligation. . .. 58.9 5(7.7)
Effect on total service and interest

COSt COMPONENtS . ... .vuuivernnnnnn,, $0.8 5(0.7)

‘The company also has defined contribution plans, principally
involving profit sharing plans and/or 40i(k) savings plans, covering
most emnployees in the United States and at certain non-U.5, subsidiaries.
Expense for all defined contribution retirement plans was $16.3 million
in 2006, $15.3 million in 2005 and $12.8 million in 2004,

Note 14 - Leases ‘

"The company has commitments under operating leases primarily for office
space, terminal facilities, land, railcars and various computer and office
equipment. Rental expense from continuing operations was $26.4 mil-
lion in 2006, $28.2 million in 2005 and $25.3 millien in 2004. Future
minimum rental commitments under operating leases having initial or
remaining non-cancelable lease terms exceeding one year are $17.1 mil-
lion in 2007, $13.8 million in 2008, $9.2 million in 2009, $8.0 million in
2010, $5.6 million in 2011 and $8.6 millicn thereafter.

Note 15 - Segment and Geographic Information

The company is organized into two operating and reporting segments.
We changed the names of our two reporting segments in 2007. The
new segment names are Lubrizol Additives, previously known as Lubri-
cant Additives, and Lubrizol Advanced Materials, previously known as
Specialty Chemicals. The change was in name only as the management
structure of the segments and product lines included in each segment
remained unchanged. The Lubrizol Additives segment represented 64%
of the company’s consolidated revenues for 2006 and is comprised of the
company’s businesses in engine additives and driveline and industrial oil
additives. The Lubrizol Advanced Materials segment represented 36%
of the company’s consolidated revenues for 2006 and is comprised of the
businesses in Noveon consumer specialties, engineered polymers and
performance coatings,
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Lubrizol Additives consists of two product lines: engine addi-
tives and driveline and industrial oil additives. Engine additives is com-
prised of additives for lubnce}rnng engine oils, such as for gasoline, diesel,
marine and stationary gas chgines and additive components, additives
for fuel products and refinery and oil field chemicals, as well as out-
sourcing strategies for supplv chain and knowledge center management.
In addition, this product hne sells additive components and viscosity
improvers within its lubncant and fuel additives producr areas. Driveline
and industrial oil additives is comprised of additives for driveline oils,
such as automatic transmis:,;ion fAuids, gear oils and tractor lubricants
and industrial oil additives, jsuch as additives for hydraulic, grease and
metalworking fluids, as well as compressor lubricants. Lubrizol Addi-
tives product lines generall)jr are produced in company-owned shared
manufacturing facilities and largely sold to a common customer base.
During 2005, the companyjsold the equipment companies, ECS and
LPS, and recorded the results of operations of these businesses in the
(loss) income from discontinued operations — net of tax line item in the
consolidated statements of income in 2005 and 2004 {see Note 4).

'The Lubrizol Advanced Materials segment consists of Noveon
consumer specialties, engincered polymers and performance coatings
product lines. The Noveon consumer specialties preduct line is charac-
terized by global production of acrylic thickeners, specialty monomers,
film formers, fixatives, emolijénts, silicones, surfactants, botanicals and
process chemicals. The company markets products in the Noveon con-
sumer specialties product line to the personal care and pharmaceutical
primary end-use industries. The Noveon consumer specialties products
are sold to customers wotldwide and these customers include major
manufacturers of cosmetics, pérsonal care products, water soluble poly-
mers and houschold products. The engineered polymers product line is
characterized by products such as TempRite® engineered polymers and
Estane® thermoplastic polyurethane. Engineered polymers products
are sold to a diverse customer base comprised of major manufacturers
in the construction, automotive, telecommunications, electronics and
recreation industries. The pérformance coatings product line includes
high-performance polymers;and additives for specialty paper, graphic
arts, paint and textile coatings applications. During the second quarter
of 2006, the company completed the sale of the FIIS and A& busi-
nesses, while the sale of the Telene business was completed during the
first quarter of 2006. The company recorded the results of operations of
these divested businesses in the (loss) income from discontinued opera-
tions — net of tax line irem 1q the consolidated statements of income for
all periods presented (see Note 4).

The company pnma.nly evaluates performance and allocates
resources based on segment opcratmg income, defined as revenues less
expenses identifiable to the p‘roduct lines included within each segment,
as well as projected future returns. Segment operating income recon-
ciles to consolidated income ‘from continuing operations before income
taxes by deducting corporate expenses and corporate other (expense)
income that are not attribulltcd to the operating segments, restructur-
ing and impairment charges; the write-off of acquired IPR&I and net
interest expense.
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| The following table summarizes the results of the company’s
1eportable segments for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005
1

iind 2004:

Revenues are artributable to countries based on the location
of the customer. The United States is the only country where sales to
external customers comprise in excess of 10% of the company’s consoli-

_ | 2006 2005 2004 dated revenues. Revenues from external customers by geographic zone
Lubrizol Additives: are as follows: :
” Revenues from extermal customers. ... | $2,600,5 | $2,280.0 $1.998.6 2008 2008 2008
' EQUItY BAMINES . + v v v ee e eeenns 1.0 08 0.8 United States. . .......ovvivinnrnnas $1,637.0 | $1,492.3 $1,159.1
' Amortization of intangibles . . . ....... 31 30 30 Other North America ... .........vvas 187.2 178.3 151.0
 Operating INEOME . . - .« .+ vvvvnnnn- 3061 266.6 240.9 EUMOPE. .o e 11447 10450 835.7
. TOMAl BSSEIS . . v e eursrre e aen e 1,392.9 1,319.1 1,337.1 AsiaPacific /MiddleEast. ............ 823.5 708.8 560.5
. Capital expenditures. ...« ... 774 70.0 g2.4 | LatinAmerica ... 248.4 197.8 1581
| DEPIECIAON -+« v e e e aranns, 71.7 79.7 86.2 Yotal rovenues from external customors | $4,040.8 | $3,622.2 $2,864.4
1'.ubrizol Advanced Materials:
Ji Revenues from external customers . . .. | $1,440.3 | $1,3422 § 8658 ‘ Th‘? cor.npany’? sales '.m'd receivzl‘b‘lcs ::u-e conccntratcd- in th.e
” Amortization of intangibles . .. ... ... 20.6 205 139 2:' ‘“l’d c;hci;mc;l ‘“d“sg‘."s&]‘”b";m} A;‘é;“‘:s C““"m‘:f consist i"'
| Operating InCOme . ... ... ooone 167.6 1509 786 arlly ot oft reliners anc incepen ent on blenders l‘_)cm i more thin
! 100 countries. The 10 largest customers, most of which are international
o Totalassels. . onveeiinen et e 2493.7 25368 27333 oi! companies and a number of which are groups of affiliated entities,
Capital expenditures. .............. 40.2 513 40.1 comprised approximately 39%, 39% and 42% of consolidated net sales
Depreciation. . ... ..ol 61.0 59.0 281 in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. In 2006, 2005 and 2004, there was
Corporate: no single customer that accounted for more than 10% of consolidated
\‘ TOta] @SSOLS . . . v v\ vvre e aaaas $ 7996 | $ 5104 §$ 4959 | netsales.
1‘ Capital expenditures. .............. 8.4 0.6 01 Segment assets include rocceivables, inventories and long-
i DEPrECiation . . - .« vveerneneeeeain, 086 0.7 1.1 lived assets including goodwill and intangible assets. Corporate assets
;biscontinued operations: include cash and short-term investments and other current and non-
!i Copital expenditures. . ......... s s2|s 148 s 10s | CUTERtESSE. _
. Depreciation. ................ e 4.4 15.2 213 folowing l}:;:;’::}z‘g:g:;‘rgll _["“E‘h"ed assets are located in the
‘Recenciliation to income from continuing )
' operations before income taxes: 2006 2005
Segment operating income . .. . ........ $ 4737 | $ 4175 $ 3195 | ynited States...........iiiiiioinininns $1,525.3 $1.827.8
|| Corporate exXpenses . .....vuvunires (73.6) {61.1) (44.1}) BIBIUM . - - .\ v eee et et 3751 6.1
| Corporate other (expense) income -- et (3.9) - 6.2 | United KINHOM . . .. ... .oevuuaennsonnns 154.4 1525
| Write-off of acquired PR&D. ... - - (3800 | France........oieiiiiiiae 103.9 9.3
! Restructuring and impairment charies . {51.9) (15.9) (38.1) HOME KOME .+ « -« v e e e ateestvearaeeanes 715 78.7
| Interest expense—net ............. (793} _ (97.0) (723} | China.....oveeeinini e e 45.1 455
‘i [mni?lfe'?ﬂfn‘ﬁ’ii;’x"eigg.‘ff'?ﬁ"f‘f ... |8 2651 ] $ 2435 $ 1372 GEAMANY o eerrrmeer e 34.8 316
! ONEr . i 164.4 166.3
i
l Revenues from external customers by product line are as follows: Total tong-ivad assets . .- ovovoerreres 32/480.2 27278
: 2006 2008 2004 Income from continuing operations of non-U.S. subsidiaries
JEngine additives. ... ............. ... $1,665.4 1 $1.404.7 $1,222.7 was $138.8 million in 2006, $140.7 million in 2005 and $74.3 million
! briveline and industrial ofl additives . . . . . 935.1 875.3 775.0 in 2004. Dividends received from these subsidiaries were $0.4 million,
Total Lubrizol AQGItIVES - . -« o v v 2600.5 | 22800 19986 $151.8 million and $1.2 million in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.
| Performance coatings - .- ............ 543.7| 5376 3662
! Engineered polymers . ............... 523.1 262.3 260.2
Noveon consumer specialties. ... ...... 373.5 3423 239.4
; Total Lubrizol Advanced Materials. . ... 1,440.3 1,342.2 865.8
" Total rev from ext ) cust s | $4,040.8 | $3622.2 $2,864.4

‘The Lubrizol Corporation
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Note 16 - Stock Compensation Plans

All references to the number of shares and share units in this Note are
based on actual share and unit numbers and are not shown in millions. .

Effective January 1, 2006, the company adopted the fair value
recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123R, “Share-Based Payment,”
using the modified prospective transition method and therefore has not
restated results for prior periods. Under this transition method, stock-
based compensation expense for 2006 includes compensation expense
for all stock-based compensation awards granted prior to, but not yet
vested as of January 1, 2006, based on the grant-date fair value estimated
in accordance with the original provisions of SFAS No.123,“Accounting
for Stock-Based Compensation.” Stock-based compensation expense
for all stock-based compensation awards granted after January 1, 2006 is
based on the grant-date fair value estimated in accordance with the pro-
visions of SFAS No. 123R. The company recognizes these compensation
costs, net of a forfeiture rate, on a straight-line basis over the requisite
service period of the award. The company estimates the forfeiture rate
based on its historical experience during the preceding 10 years. The
impact of adopting SFAS No. 123R in 2006 resulted in an increase in
compensation expense of $2.4 million pretax ($1.6 million after-tax).

Prior to January 1, 2006, the company accounted for stock-
based compensation using the intrinsic value method under the recog-
nitien and measurement principles of APB Opinion 235, “Accounting
for Stock Issued to Employees” and related Interpretations and applied
SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” as
amended by SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensa-
tion = Transition and Disclosure” for disclosure purposes only. SFAS No.

123 disclosures included pro forma net income and earnings per share -

as if the fair value-based method of accounting had been used. Under
the provisions of APB No. 25, no stock-based employee compensation
cost is reflected in net income, as all options granted under those plans
had an exercise price equal to the market value of the underlying stock
on the date of grant.

The company utilizes the 2005 Stock Incentive Plan (2005
Plan) and other deferred compénsation plans to provide equity awards to
its key employees. The 2005 Plan, approved by the company’s sharehold-
ers on April 25,2005, provides for the granting of restricted and wnre-
stricted shares and options to buy common shares up to an amount equal
to 4,000,000 common shares, of which no more than 2,000,000 can be
settled as full-value awards, After che 2,000,000 limit has been reached,
full-value awards are counted in a 3-to-1 ratio against the 4,000,000
limit, Options are intended either to qualify as “incentive stock options”
under the TRC, or to be “non-statutory stock options” not intended to so
qualify. Under the 2005 Plan, options generally become exercisable 50%
one year after date of grant, 75% after two years, 100% after three years
and expire up to 10 years after grant. The 2065 Plan generally supersedes
the 1991 Stock Incentive Plan (1991 Plan), which was terminated by the
board of directors with respect to future grants effective November 15,
2004. Options outstanding at December 31,2006 for afl grants under the
1991 Plan are fully vested and remain exercisable until their expiration
dates. The exercise price of stock options granted under the 2005 Plan
is not less than the fair market value of the shares on the date of grant.
The 2005 Plan permits the granting of stock appreciation rights in con-
nection with the grant of options. In addition, the 2005 Plan provides
each nonemployee director of the company an automatic annual grant of
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restricted stock units worth $0.1 million, based on the fair market value
of the company’s common shares on the date of the Annual Meeting of
Shareholders. The restricted stock units generatly vest one year after the
grant date. For all grants made prior to November 14, 2006, fair market
value was defined as the avérage of the high and low common share
prices of the company on the date of grant. For grants made on or after
November 14, 2006, fair mmarket value is defined as the closing price of
the company’s common shan%s on the date of grant.

Under the 1991 Plan, the company had granted performance
share stock awards to certain executive officers. Common shares equal to
the number of performance share stock awards granted were to be issued
if the market price of the company’s common stock reached $45.00 per
common share for 10 consecutive trading days or on March 24, 2003,
whichever occurred first. Under certain conditions such as retirement, a
grantee of performance share stock awards could have been issued a pro-
rata number of commeon shares. The company recognized compensation
expense related to performance share stock awards ratably over the esti-
mated period of vesting. On March 24, 2003, 3,500 shares were issued
and 57,250 shares were deferred into share units under the deferred
compensation plan for officers. The company allocated 933 and 1,404
share units under this plan in 2006 and 2005, respectively, which repre-
sent quarterly dividends paid on the company'’s shares. As of December
31, 2006, 37,299 share units \\:rcrc outstanding,

Under the Supplemental Retirement Plan for Donald W.
Bogus, an account is credited with 500 share units each year and is cred-
ited with additional share-units for quarterly dividends paid on the
company’s shares. When Mr. Bogus retires, the company will issue shares
equal to the number of share units in his account or the cash equivalent.
The company has allocated 54, 55 and 67 share units under this plan for
2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively, which represent quarterly dividends
paid on the company’s shares. As of December 31, 2006, 2,336 share
units were outstanding. For share units attributable to grants credited

after January 1, 2004, the payment will be in cash.

Under the Deferred Stock Compensation Plan for Qutside
Directors, each nonemployee director received 500 share units each.year

" on October 1 and is credited with additional share units for quarterly -

dividends paid on the company’s shares. When a participant ceases to
be a director, the company issues shares equal to the number of share
units in the director’s account, The company has allocated to nonem-
ployee directors 877, 1,022 and 1,351 share units under this plan for
2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively, which represent quarterly dividends
paid on the company’s shares; As of December 31, 2006, 35,563 share
units were outstanding. No new grants have been made under this plan
since January 1, 2004.

In addition, under the Deferred Compensation Plan for
Directors, the company has allocated 669, 466 and 569 share units to

" nonemployee directors under this plan for 2006, 2005 and 2004, respec-

tively. These share units continue to accrue quarterly dividends paid
on the company’s shares. When a participant ceases to be a director,
the company issues shares Eq}lal to the number of share units in the
director’s account. As of December 31, 2006, 31,682 share units for
nonemployee directors were odtstanding.

Under the Executive Council Deferred Compensation

Plan, participants may elect to defer any amount of their variable pay.
Deferred amounts are converted into share units based on the current
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![rluket price of the company's shures. There is 2 25% company match.
Additional share units are credited for quarterly dividends paid on the
ompany’s shares. At the end of ihe deferral period, which is at least
three years, the company issues shares equal to the number of share units
in the participant’s account. The company has allocated to executive
ofﬁccrs 31,662, 19,840 and 16,743 share units under this plan in 2006,
2005 and 2004, respectively. As of December 31, 2006, 92,523 share
“1nits for executive officers were outstanding. For share units artributable
10 the company match credited after January 1, 2004, distributions will
¢ made in cash.

j; Under the 1991 Plan, effective January 1, 2003, the company
zranted 15,000 restricted shares to each of three executive officers, The
,hares will be issued only if the executive remains an employee until
[anuary 1, 2008. Also, effective Jenuary 1, 2003, the company granted
5,000 restricted shares to one executive officer, which would be issued
T_only if the executive remained with the company unil January 1, 2008,
bn July 26, 2004, this grant was amended to issue the shares if the exec-
!htivc remained employed until July 29, 2004. The shares were issued on
July 29, 2005, There are no votiny or dividend rights on the restricted
shares described in this paragraph unless and until they are issued. The
[l'est:rictcd shares stock awards had a fair value of $25.83 per share at the
‘date of grant, The company recognizes compensation expense related to
irestricted shares ratably over the estimated period of vesting.

! Option activity under the 2005 Plan and 1991 Plan as of

| 2006 were as follows:

Disclosures under the fair-value method are estimated using
the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following weighted-
average assumptions for stock option grants in the following years:

2008 2004
Risk-free interestrate . .................. 4.3% 3.7%
Dividendyield. . .................. ... .. 2.5% 3.5%
Volatility .......... ... i 21.2% 24.0%
Expected life{years) .................... 8.0 10.0

Dccember 31, 2006 and changes during the year ended December 31,.

If the fair-value method to measure compensation cost for
the above plans and awards had been used, the compensation cost, which
is required to be charged against income, would have been $6.5 mil-
lion in 2005 and $6.0 million in 2004. See Note 2 for the pro forma
presentation.

Cash received from option exercises and purchases under the
2005 Plan and 1991 Plan during 2006 was $31.3 million. The company
realized a reduction in its income tax payable of $4.7 million in 2006
relating to the exercise of nonqualified stock options. For accounting
purposes, these tax benefits were realized as increases in paid-in capital
included in the common shares caption in the consolidated statement of
shareholders’ equity.

As of December 31, 2006, there was $10.3 million of total -

before-tax unrecognized compensation cost related to nonvested stock-
based awards. That cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted-
average period of 1.6 years. The company is using previously purchased

} Welghted-Average
| Shares  Exerclise Price treasury shares for all net shares issued for option exercises, long-term
Outstanding, January 1, 2006 .. ........ 4,283,917 $32.35 incentive plans and restricted stock awards.
GrANtEd « o v v e e e - - Nonvested restricted stock awards as of December 31, 2006
Exercised. .. ....................... {938,950)  $31.03 and changes during 2006 were as follows:
Welghted- -
FOfeited - ... ovoee e (5,638) $29.72 Average
) Share Grant Date
Outstanding, December 31, 2006 .. ... .. 3,339,329 $32.72 Units Falr Value
OCptions exercisable, December 31, 2?06. . 2,992,327 $31.93 Nonvested at January 1, 2006 . ... .. v..... 58,689 $20.01
r GRaMed .. .. eveeeieraenreraaiaes 12,717 $42,27
The aggregate intrinsic value of options outstanding at Vested - oo oo 13,689 $39.45
December 31, 2006 based on the company’s closing stock price on the Forfeited
s} Hed. ... e e e e e, - -
st trading day of 2006, which would have been received by the option -
Nonvested at December 31,2006, ......... 51,717

i The aggregate intrinsic value of options exercisable at December 31,
2006 based on the company’s closing stock price on the last trading

-day of 2006, which would have been received by the option holders had

all options exercisable been exercised on that date, was $53.2 million.

The otal intrinsic value of stock: options exercised was $13.5 million,
:$13.0 million and $3.6 million in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Intrinsic value is the amount by which the company’s closing share price

'exceeds the exercise price of the options multiplied by the number of
! in-the-money options. The weighted-average remaining contractuai

, term of options outstanding and exercisable at December 31, 2006 was

| 5.4 years and 5.0 years.

|

: ‘The fair value of share-based payment awards are estimated
+ using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. There were no stock options
i granted during 2006. The weighzed-average fair value of stock options
| granted during 2005 and 2004 was $9.87 and $6.50, respectively.

Iéholdcrs had all options been exescised on that date was $58.1 million. -

$29.46

Under the company’s long-term incentive program, dollar-
based target awards were determined by the organization and com-
pensation committee of the board of directors in December 2002,
December 2003, February 2005 and December 2005 for the three-

year performance periods of 2003-2005, 2004-2006, 2005-2007 and
2006-2008, respectively. The company recognized compensation expense

of $4.9 million, $8.0 million and $5.1 million in 2006, 2005 and 2004,

respectively, related to the cash portion of these awards that are not
share-based. In addition, a portion of each of the awards was converted
into a number of share units.based on the price of the company com-
mon stock on the date of the award. There are no voting or dividend
rights associated with the share units until the end of the performance
period and a distribution of shares from the 2005 Plan, if any, is made.
‘The target awards correspond to pre-determined three-year earnings
before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) and/or

s
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earnings per share growth rate targets. In accordance with SFAS No.
123R, compensation expense for these performance awards, except for
the 2004-2006 award, was caléulated based on the grant-date fair value.
‘The terms of the 2004-2006 award states that payment will be in cash
and as such liability accounting was used for this award and compensa-
tion expense was calculated based on the year-end share closing price on
December 31, 2006. In 2006, the award for the 2003-2005 performance
period was paid. The company allocated 338 share units during 2006 for
those participants who elected to defer their shares. As of December 31,
2006, 19,318 share units were outstanding.

Prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 123R, compensation
expense for these awards was based on variable accounting and was cal-
culated using the closing stock price at period end. The other portion
of the 2002, 2003, February 2005 and December 2005 award grants is
a cash award, which also lIS determined for the same three-year perfor-
mance periods.

The following table identifies the number of shares expected

to be issued based on current performance measures and the stock price
on the date of grant for the performance shares granted:

The following table summarizes information about stock
options outstanding, excluding the performance share stock awards,
restricted share stock awards and long-term incentive plan awards at
December 31, 2006:

" Options Qutstanding Optiona Exetcisable
Weighted:
Aversge  Welghted- Weighted-
Rangs of Number Remainirg Average Numbear Average
Exerch o ding  C Exercise Exerchiable  Exercise
Prices ot 12/31/06 Ute Price at12/31/08  Price
$19-$25 86,612 21years 52136 86,612 $21.36
$25-§31 1920878 4 |9 years 529,89 1820876 $29.87
$31-638 708,833 A4S5years $34.51 707,838  $34.51
$38-§45 614,000 s.ls years  $41.18 307,000 $41.18
i I - .
3,339,329 Sdyears 53272 2,922,327 $3193

i Average

Expected Stock Price
Number of Units on Date
Award to be Issued of Grant
2004-20061 ... e 178,541 $30.65
20052007 .. ooeven i 216,388 $39.44
20062008 . . o viurit i s 154,060 $43.07

™ On February 19, 2007 the organiz;ation and compensation committee of the
beard of directors approved the issuance of 178,541 share units in lieu of a
cash distribution, '

Note 17 - Restructuring and Impairment Charges

In 2006, the company recorded aggregate restructuring and impairment
charges of $51.9 million. These charges primarily related to the write-down
of a trade name in the Lubrizol Advanced Materials segment and the
phase-out of a manufacturing facility in the Lubrizol Additives segment.

The following table shows the reconciliation of the restructur-
ing Lability beginning January 1, 2004 by major restructuring activity:

Restructuring

, ~ ond Uability
January 1, - Impaiment Cash Noncash December 31,
2006 | ' Charges Paid  Adjustments 2006

Noveon trade name i

‘ impairment $ ~ |, $41.2 s - 5(41.2) 5 -
Performance-based ' stock awards as of December 31, 2006 Brombarough, U.K.
Rk ptant closure 2.3 6.7 (8.2) 0.2 1.0
and changes during 2006 were as follows:
’ W Lubrizol Advanced
Am Materials facility
Share Grant Date and line closures
: Units Falr Vatue and workforce '
= reductions 2.5 . 4.1 {2.5) (3.4) 0.7
Nonvested at January 1, 2006' .......... 330,460 $41.13 Corporate/ather
Granted . .. vv e - - workforce reductions 03 |1 (01} - - 0.2
Performance increase . . . . . Lo 39,988 $39.44 Noveon International i
i : restructuring
Vested ......oeuin .. Lo L. - - liabilities assumed 13 | - (0.4} - 0.9
. i _— g
Forfeited. .............. e - - 56.4 $51.9 S{111)  5{44.4) $2.8
Nonvested at December 31, 2006, . ..... 370,448 $40.95
i“ Restructuring
Liability and Liability

The following table reflects the total stock-based compensa-
tion expense and the related tax benefit recognized in the consolidated
statements of income for 2006, 2005 and 2004:

2006 2005 2004

Restricted share units:

Long-term incentive program. . ... ........ $ 95 $ 7.8 $26
OtherPlans. . .o v v vivie i iiein s 3.3 23 1.1
Stock options . ........... [T 35 -
Total ... ...... ...l I E ;-J:"C_J-; $_
Tax benefit. . ... ... 3_.6—; . ;'; 31_4
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Bromborough, U.K.

plant closure $ - $ 6.1 $ (3.1) $(0.7) $2.3
Lubrizol Advanced

Materials facility

closures and

workforce reductions - 9.0 {2.3) {4.2) 25
Corperate/other

workforce reductions 2.7 0.7 (3.3) - 0.3
Noveon international

restructuring

liabilities assumed 6.1 0.1 {5.0) 0.1 1.3

$8.8 $15.9 $(13.5} ${4.8) $6.4
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Res tructuring
1 Liabifity and
1 f January 1, Impalrment Cash

Uabillity

Non-cash Docemhor a1,

i 2004 {:harges Pald AdJustments

i :

Iromborough, UK.

I plant ¢losure $ - $170 0§ - $17.0) $ -
3romborough, U.K.

" workforce reductions 0.2 - (0.2) - -
1Zorporate/other

. workforce reductions  12.2 111 (20.6) - 2.7
Zension settlement - 7.7 - (7.7) -
Noveon International

- restructuring

- liabilities assumed - 0.2 (1.1) 7.0 6.1
T’uriNOx asset

| impairment - 2.1 - (2.1) -
|

i $12.4 $38.1 $21.9) $19.8) $8.8

i

l’l As part of its corporatz goal to enhance its “one company”
identity and to reflect more accurazely its positioning in the marketplace,
";}lc company completed a corporate identity review in the fourth quarter
Inf2006. Senior management of the company made a final determination
in January 2007 that the trade namne *Noveon” no longer would be used
to describe the Lubrizol Advanced Materials segment of the company
:igmd that its use would be discominued except in connection with the
Noveon consumer specialties product line. The company acquired the
Irights to the Noveon trade name in June 2004 when it acquired Noveon
‘[nrernntmnal At the time of acquisition, an appraised value was attached
to the Noveon trade name. The company calculated a pretax charge of
541 2 miltion {$25.4 million after-tax) to reduce the related asset to its
‘stimated fair value. This charge ‘was reflected in the fourth quarter of
2006 as the company believed ar that time it would more likely than
inot discontinue the use of the Noveon trade name, except in the limited
ccontext of its Noveon consumer specialties product line.

i In September 2006, the company entered into an agree-
I'm::nt to sell the manufacturing facility located in Bromborough, United
legdom The sale closed in January 2007, In connection with the sale,
the company received net cash proceeds of $5.9 million and recorded
a pretax gain of $2.9 million during the first quarter of 2007. The gain
wnll be classified as a restructuring; credit associated with closure of the
fac1hry. At December 31, 2006, the Bromborough site was classified as
‘an asset held for sale but was not disclosed separately on the balance
isheet because the amount was not material to the company’s consoli-
dated financial position. In December 2004, management decided to
«close this facility, which triggered an impairment charge of $17.0 mil-
‘hon that was recorded in December 2004 to reflect long-lived assets at
thc:r estimated fair values. The estimated fair value of the long-lived
\nssets was determined using a discounted cash flow model. The company
announced its decision to close the facility in January 2005. Production
phase out of this site began in th: third quarter of 2005 and was com-
‘pleted in 2006. During this phasc-out, production was transferred to
higher-capacity facilities in Franc: and the United States. There were 70
emplovecs impacted by this closwe,

! In 2005, management inade the decision and the announce-

ment to close two Lubrizol Advinced Materials performance coatings
Iproduction facilities located in the United States. The aggregate restruc-
turing charges recorded for these closures were $8.0 million, of which
“51.4 million was recorded in 20106. Total charges were comprised of
|

$4.8 million in asset impairments, $1.1 million in exit costs and $2.1 mil-
lion in severance costs. The impairment charges for both facilities were
recorded to reduce the related assets to their estimated fair values, which
were determined primarily from third-party appraisals. Production from
these sites was transferred to other facilities in the United States. One
facility, located in Mountaintop, Pennsylvania, was closed in October
2005 and sold in January 2006, The other facility, located in Linden, New
Jersey, was closed in the third quarter of 2006. These closures resulted
in a workforce reduction of 62 employees. Additional asset impair-
ment charges of $2.7 million were recorded in 2006, which primarily
related to the planned closure of a performance coatings production line
in the first quarter of 2007. In May 2005, the company announced the
reorganization of the Lubrizol Advanced Materials performance coat-
ings product line. This product line includes businesses acquired from
Noveon International as well as businesses included in the company’s
legacy operations. In connection with the reorganization, management
eliminated 26 positions in North America and Europe. These reductions
were completed during 2005 and resulted in a severance-related charge
of $1.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2005,

In 2004, the company eliminated more than 100 positions,
primarily affecting technical and commercial employees located at the
Wickliffe, Ohio headquarters. Most of these workforce reductions were
related to the restructuring following the acquisition of Noveon Inter-
nationtal. These reductions were completed by December 31, 2004, In
the second quarter of 2005, the company began a process of identifying
further opportunities to increase efficiency and productivity, reduce costs
and support the company’s integration strategy of the Noveon Interna-
tional acquisition. As a result, the company reduced headcount in the
general and administrative area of its Ohio headquarters. Through these
restructuring efforts, the company eliminated seven positions resulting in
a severance-refated charge of $0.7 million for the year ended December
31,2005, All of the affected employees had left their positions by June 30,
2005 and the remaining personnel-related costs were paid in 2006,

In 2004, asset impairments and non-cash adjustments include
$7.2 million in restructuring liabilities assumed related to the legacy
operations of Noveon International, $7.7 million of pension sertle-
ment charges included in the accrued pension liability account and the
PuriNOx asset impairment charge of $2.1 million.

The charges for these cost reduction initiatives and impair-
ments are reported as a separate line item in the consolidated statements
of income entitled “Restructuring and impairment charges” and are
included in the “Total cost and expenses” subtotal on the consolidated
statements of income.

Note 18 — Contingencles

The company has numerous purchase commitments for materials, sup-
plies and energy in the ordinary course of business. The company also
has numerous sales commitments for product supply contracts in the
ordinary course of business.

GENERAL There are pending or threatened claims, lawsuits and admin-
istrative proceedings against the company or its subsidiaries, all arising
from the ordinary course of business with respect to commercial, product
liability and environmental matters, which seek remedies or damages.

‘The company believes that any liability that finally may be determined

©s
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with respect to commercial and product liability claims should not have
2 material adverse effect on the company’s consolidated financial posi-
tion, results of operations or cash flows. From time to time, the company
is also involved in legal proceedings as a plaintiff involving contract, pat-
ent protection, environmental and other matters, Gain contingencies, if
any, are recognized when they are realized.

ENVIRONMENTAL The company’s environmental engineers and con-
sultants review and monitor énvironmental issues at operating facilities
and, where appropriate, the company initiates corrective and for preven-
tive environmental projects to ensure environmental compliance and safe
and lawful activities at its current operations. The company also conducts
compliance and management systerns audits.

The company and its subsidiaries are generators of both haz-
ardous and non-hazardous wastes, the treatment, storage, transportation
and disposal of which are regilated by various laws and governmental
regulations. These laws and regulations generally impose Liability for costs
to investigate and remediate contamination without regard to fault and,
under certain circumstances, liability may be joint and several resulting
in one party being held responsible for the entire obligation. Liability
also may include damages to natural resources. Although the company
believes past operations were in substantial compliance with the then-
applicable regulations, either the company or the predecessor of Noveon
International, the Performance Materials Segment of Goodrich Corpora-
tion (Goodrich), has been designated under a country’s laws and/or regu-
lations as a potentially responsible party (PRP) in connection with several
sites including both third p_arty sites and/or current operating facilities.

The company participates in the remediation process for
onsite and third party waste management sites at which the company has
been identified as a PRP. This process includes investigation, remedial
action selection and implementation, as well as discussions and negotia-
tions with other parties, which primarily include PRPs, past owners and
operators and governmental agencies. ‘The estimates of environmental
Habilities are based on the results of this process. Inherent uncertainties
exist in these estimates primarily due to unknown conditions, chang-
ing governmental regulations and legal standards regarding liability,
remediation standards and evolving technologies for managing investi-
gations and remediations. The company revises its estimates accordingly
as events in this process occur-and additional information is obtained.

The company’s environmental reserves, measured on an
undiscounted basis, totaled $14.2 million at December 31, 2006 and
$23.2 million at December 31, 2005. Of these amounts, $4.5 million
and $3.4 million were included in accrued expenses and other current
liabilities at December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Goodrich pro-
vided Noveon International with an indemnity for various environmen-
tal liabilities. The company estimates Goodrich’s share of such currently
identified liabilities under the indemnity, which extends through Febru-
ary 2011, to be approximately $3.5 million of which $0.5 million of the
recovery is included in receivables and $3.0 million is included in other
assets.. There are specific environmental contingencies for company-
owned sites for which third parties such as past owners and/or operators
are the named PRPs and also for which the company is indemnified by
Goodrich. Goodrich currently is indemnifying Noveon International for
several environmental remediation projects. Goodrich’s share of all of
these liabilities may increase to the extent such third parties fail to honor
their obligations through February 2011.
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The company believes that its environmental accruals are
adequate based on currently aviilable information. The company believes
that it is reasonably possible that $19.8 million in additional costs may
be incurred at certain locations beyond the amounts accrued as a result
of new information, newly discovered conditions, changes in remedia-
tion standards or technologles or a change in the law. Additionally, as
the indemnification from Goodnch extends through February 2011,
changes in assumptions regarding when costs will be incurred may result
in additional expenses to the company. Additional costs in excess of
$19.8 million cannot currently be estimated.

GUARANTEES On May 1, 2006, the company sold the FIIS business
to SPM Group Holdings, LLC now known as Emerald Performarnce
Materials, L1.C (Emerald). lAs a result of the sale, Emerald became
responsible for contracts rclating to FIIS, including a Toluene Sale and
Purchase Agreement bctween 5K Corporation (SK) and the company
dated December 6, 2005 (thz. Toluene Agreement). Although Emerald
has assumed the obligations under the Toluene Agreement, the company
has guaranteed to SK the timely performance of Emerald’s payment
obligations under the Toluene Agreement for purchases thereunder. The
term of the Toluene Agrcemuint extends to January 31, 2008,

If Emerald does not satisfy its obligations under the Toluene
Agreement, SK shall notify the company and use commercially reason-
able efforts to collect what is due from Emerald. If SK is unable to collect
from Emerald, then SK may|riake a demand on the company for pay-
ment of the outstanding obligitions. The guarantee is revocable by the
company upen 60 days’ prior written notice.

Because of the guarantee’s existing revocation clause, the
company estimates that the| haximum liability under the guarantee
would be approximately $15.2 million, representing the estimated liabil-
ity for two shipments to Emerald. However, the company believes that
it is highly unlikely that an o::vent would occur requiring the company

to pay any monies pursuant to the guarantee. Accordingly, no liability
has been reflected in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet at
December 31, 2006.

INDEMNIFICATIONS In connection with the sale of the FIIS business,
the company has provided indemnifications to Emerald with respect to
the business sold. These indemnnifications have been associated with the
price and quantity of raw matprial purchases, permit costs, costs incurred
due to the inability to obtain permits and environmental matters. In
each of these circumstances, payment by the company is dependent on
Emerald filing a claim. In adrimon the company’s obligations under
these agreements may be hm}ted in terms of time and/or amount. It is
not possible to predict the maximum potential amount of future pay-
ments under certain of theselagreements due to the conditional nature
of the company’s obligations and the unique facts and circumstances
involved in each particular agreement. The company believes that if it
were to incur 2 loss in any ofjthese matters, such loss would not have a
material effect on the compaxlly’s business, financial condition or results
of operations. For those indemnification agreements where a payment
by the company is probable and estimable, a hability has been recorded
as of December 31, 2006.
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F«lote 19 - Quarterly Financial Data {(Unaudited)

" NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continuep

b
'i!l'he following table sets forth the quarterly results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005:

2006
_ First ¥ Second V! Third 4 Fourth ™ Full Year
HEE SaIBS . L. L i e e e $984.1 51,0411 $1,031.0 5984.6 54,040.8
BrOSS Profit Lo e e e e 5$245.0 § 2654 $ 248.1 $236.0 -] 994.5
Income from continuing operations. . .. . ... ... .cuuie i $ 45.8 5 635 $ 50.8 s 217 -] 1818
Discontinued Operations. . .. .. .. .. ... e e, ﬂ} {12.4) (0.5} (2.6} {76.2)
Hetinoome . .. e e $(14.9) $ 511 $ 503 $ 191 $ 10586
Per common share — basic: T !
Continuing OPErationS., . . vt e iia et et e e 5 0.57 5 092 5 074 $ 0.32 $ 265
DiscontinUed OPerations . . ...t e e e _{0.89) {0.18) (0.01) (0.04) {1.11)
NeL INCOMB. . .. i e e $(0.22) $ 074 $ 073 $ 0.28 $ 154
Per common share — diluted: T
Continuing operations. .. . ... .. . . i e e e $ 0.66 $ 092 5 0.73 $ 0.31 $ 2.52‘
Discontinued Operations . . . ... ... i i e e e ﬂ) (0.18) - (0.04) (1.10)
NetinCome. . ... i e s_(tl._?z) $ 074 $§ 073 $ 0.27 $§ 152
i !I 2005
Vo Flrst @ Second @ Third 2 Fourth ® Full Year
E I;i!et SAlES . L e $848.8 § 9423 $ 8995 $931.6 $3,622.2'
! Gross profit .. ... e e e e $229.8 $ 2467 $ 2297 $216.0 $ 922.2
1 I]:ncome from continuing operations. .. ... .. . i i $ 4041 $ 502 $ 427 $ 285 $ 1615
| Discontinued Operations. . . ..........oviiuiiiiiiiiae e 8.4 9.9 5.9 36 27.8
{ f}et T O $ 485 $ 601 $ 486 $ 321 $ 1893
i Fli'er common share - basic:
: ‘i CONLENUING OPEIALIONS .« + ++ e s e e e e $ 0.59 $ 074 $ 063 $ 0.42 $ 238
: i. Discontinued Operations . . . ...... ... i i e 0.13 0.14 0.08 0.05 041
IoOlINEEINCOmME . . ... e $ 0.72 $ 088 $ 07 $ 047 $ 279
; F|:'er common share — diluted:
| Continuing operations. ... ... ... i eie e e $ 0.59 $ 073 $ 062 $ 041 $ 235
’ Discontinued operations . . .. .o ot e e e e e e, .12 0.14 0.08 0.05 0.40
NEL INCOME. Lot e e $ 071 $ 087 $ 070 $ 0.46

$ 275

a

v
<

H
of 2006, respectively.
H

’ of 2005, respectively.

[
!
!
:

?le sum of the quarterly earnings per-shure amounts does not equal the annual amount reported since per-share amounts are computed independently for each
‘varter and for the full year based upon respective weighted average common shares outstanding and other dilutive shares.

The Lubrizo! Corporation

i
! The company recorded restructuring an impairment charges of $1.8 million, $1.8 million, $2.7 million and $45.6 million in the first, second, third and fourth quarters

?The company recorded restructuring an1 impairment charges of $6.1 mittion, $5.4 miflion, $1.1 miltion and $3.3 million in the first, second, third and fourth quarters
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HISTORICAL SUM'MARY

(in Millions, Except Shareholders, Employees and Per Share Data)

OPERATING RESULTS:1

Revenues. ......... P e
Total cost and expenses"%* .....................................
Gain on litigation settlfeménts andinvestments .. .............cuu...
Net interest expense andi otherinCome . ... it iiiianenn

Income from continuing operations before cumulative effect of
change in accounting principle. . .. .. ... i i i e

(Loss) income from discontinuéd operations—netoftax...............
income before cumulative effect of change In accounting principle ... . ...
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle ............ .
1= A oo 1

Income from continuing operations, per diluted share before
cumulative effect of change in accounting principle . . ...............
i

Discontinued operations per difutedshare. ... ...................
Cumulative effect’ of change in accounting principle per diluted share. .
Dilutedearnings pershare. . . . ... ... . . it i i

FINANCIAL RATIOS:

Gross profit percentage .......................................

Percent of revenues: |
Selling and adminjstrative expenses. .. ................ .. ......
Research and testing BXPEMSES .« i ittt e

Return on average shareholders' equity (%) . ... e

Debt to capitalization {%). . ... . oo i i i e e e

Currentratio ............. e e e ee e re et e

OTHER INFORMATION:
Dividends declared pershare. ...... ... iinn oo oo,

Average common shares outstanding:

Diluted ........ T
Capital expenditures from-continuing operations .. ...................
Depreciation expense Efroh’l continuing operations ............cvvuannn
At year end: '

Total assets...... e e e e e e e

Total debt ... .. e e e e

Total shareholders’ equity .. ... ... ... ... . i i

Shareholders’ equity'perbasic share. .. ....... ... ... .. oL

Common share price:. - ...................................

Number of shareholders .. ... ... ... . . i i,

Numberofemployees. ... ... . i i

* The 2004 results include the revenues and expenses of Noveon International, inc. since June 3, 2004, the date of acquisition.
** Includes restructuring and impairment charges of $51.9 million in 2006, $15.9 mifiion in 2005, $38.1 millior: in 2004, $22.5 million in 2003, $18.6 million in 1399,

- 2006

$4,040.e:| |
3,704.7

(71.0') :

1.81..8I ’
(76.2!) 1

1
105.6 |

I,
105.6 .

2.62| ;
(1.10|)'1

| i
1.52

2486

475

$ 1257

$4,386.2
1,541.7 .
1,707.4 .
24.74 .
50.1?% !
3,265 |
6,746 |

2005 2004+
$3,622.2 $2,864.4
3,283.3 2,660.3
(95.4) (66.9)
161.5 87.2
27.8 6.3
189.3 93.5
189.3 93.5
2.35 1.56
0.40 0.11
2.75 1.67
25.5 26.5
9.6 9.9

5.5 6.5
12.2 7.6
51.6 56.2
2.4 2.4

$ 1.04 $ 1.04
67.9 55.7
68.8 56.0

$ 1219 $ 1226
139.4 123.8
$4,366.3 $4,566.3
1,670.8 1,972.3
1,567.2 1,523.5
23.03 22.81
43.43 36.86
3,500 3,698
7,515 7,725

$23.3 miflion in 1998, $9.4 million in 1997 and a restructuring credit of $4.5 milifon in 2000. Also includes the writo—off of acquired in-process research and development

of $34.0 miftion in 2004 ai:id $13.6 mitlion in 1998,
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2003 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998 1997
|
$1,984.2] $1,934.0 $1,810.6 $1,748.8 $1,746.8 $1,627.3 $1,686.4
1,840 5}5 1,736.0 1,645.3 1,576.5 1,550.1 1,515.8 1,457.5
—|' - - 19.4 17.6 16.2 -
(18.0) (18.2) (19.8) (17.6) (16.7) (6.9) 25
88.9l 126.4 101.0 120.9 1245 73.3 155.2
1.9 (0.1) (6.9) (2.9) (1.5) (2.1) (0.3)
90.8 126.3 94.1 118.0 123.0 71.2 154.9
i (7.8) - - - - -~
90.8 118.5 94.1 118.0 123.0 71.2 154.9
1.71 2.44 1.96 2.27 2.28 1.31 2.67
0.04 - (0.13) {0.05) (0.03) (0.04) (0.01)
—! (0.15) - - - - -
1.75| 2.29 1.83 2.22 2.25 1.27 2.66
i
26.4} 28.5 27.6 27.8 30.9 29.2 31.3
I
96! 9.6 9.3 9.2 9.9 10.6 9.8
8.3 8.6 8.7 8.6 8.3 9.2 8.6
10.0 14.4 12.3 15.3 15.8 9.0 19.0
29.0 31.6 33.9 34,5 33.8 35.8 21.3
31 3.0 2.9 2.6 2.5 25 25
$ 1.04 $ 104 $ 104 $ 1.04 $ 104 $ 104 $ 101
51.7 51.5 51.2 53.1 54.6 55.9 57.8
51.9 51.8 51.5 53.2 54.7 56.1 58.2
$ 8821 $ 650 $ 659 $ 854 $ 638 $ 925 $ 100.0
93.7 90.1 83.6 87.1 87.4 78.6 81.7
| :
$1,242.3 2 $1,860.1 $1,662.3 $1,659.5 $1,682.4 $1,643.2 $1,462.3
389.6| 401.9 397.2 395.9 403.0 429.3 220.3
953.3 i 869.3 773.2 752.3 790.1 769.1 815.4
18.48| 16.89 15.12 14.66 14.50 14.10 14.31
32,52 30.50 35.09 25.75 30.88 25.69 36.88
3,903 4,081 4,335 4,681 5,126 5,609 5,661
5,032 5,231 4,530 4,390 4,074 4324 4,291
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OFFICERS AND BOARD OF DIRECTORS

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

James L. Hambrick
Chairman of the Board,
President and Chief
Executive Officer
Director since 2004

Rebert E. Abernathy
Group President

of Kimberly-Clark
Director since 2006

Jerald A. Blumberg
Former Executive
Vice President,
Chairman of
DuPont Europe
Director since 1999

Forest J. Farmer, Sr. -
President and Chief
Executive Officer

of The Farmer Group
Director since 1997

Gordon D. Harnett
Retired Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer
of Brush Engineered
Materials Inc.

Director since 1995

Victoria F. Haynes
President and Chief
Executive Officer

of RTT International
Director since 1995

William P. Madar
Retired Chief

Executive Officer

of Nordson Corporation
Director since 1992

Peggy Gordon Miller
Retired President

of South Dakota
State University
Director since 1993

CORPORATE INFORMATION

Transfer Agent, Registrar and
Dividend Disbursing Agent

-American Stock Transfer 8 Trust Company

59 Maiden Lane
New York, NY 10038

718.921.8200 800.937.5449

Annual Meeting

- The Annual Meeting of Sharcholders will be held at the Radisson
Hotel & Conference Center, Eastlake, Ohio, on Aprit 23, 2007.

Form 10-K

The Annual Report on Form 10-K to the Securities and Exchange
Coemmission will be available 6n or about February 28, 2007. A
- copy may be obtained without charge upon written request to the

Secretary of the Company or from the Internet site.
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Dominic J. Pileggi
President and Chief
Executive Officer
of Thomas & Betts
Corporation
Director since 2005

James E. Sweetnam
Senior Vice President
and President —

Truck Group

of Eaton Corporation
Director since 2007

Harriett Tee Taggart
Retired Partner,

Senior Vice President
and Global Investment
Manager of Wellington
Management LLC
Director since 2007
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CORPORATE OFFICERS

Janlles L. Hambrick Mark Meister
Chairman, President and  Vice President and
Ch;ief Executive Officer  Chief Ethics Officer
Dolna]d W. Bogus Patrick H. Saunier

1, . .
Senior Vice President;
3
President, Lubrizol
Adlvanced Materials

Charles P. Cooley
Scrillior Vice President,

Treasurer and

Chfief Financial Officer
St(;lphcn F. Kirk

Senior Vice President;
Prdsident, Lubrizaol
Adlditives
]osfeph W. Bauer
Vice President and
Ge:ncral Counsel

!

In memoriam:

PalEJ.l L. Carll
Vide President, 1970-1986

Vice President

Gregory D. Taylor
Vice President

Joanne Wanstreet

Vice President

W. Scott Emerick
Cerporate Controller

Leslie M. Reynolds
Cerporate Secretary
and Counsel

Jeffrey A. Vavruska

. Chief Tax Officer

In éraﬁmde for more than 40 years of outstanding
scn;rice to The Lubrizol Corporation.

i

Shareholder Infom;tion

. The Commeon Share§ of The Lubrizel Corporation are listed on
the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol LZ. The number
of shareholdérs of regord of Common Shares was 3,229 as of

+ February 15,2007. |

Investors and'sharehélders may purchase shares of stock through

The Lubrizol Corpox:'ation Dividend Reinvestment and Direct

or on the Internet at www.amstock.com.

Internet Web Site |
Company and invest?r information is available on the Internet at

www.lubrizol.com. |

|
|
|

Stock Purchase and Sale Plan. To participate in the Plan, contact
our transfer agent, American Stock Transfer & Trust Company,
Dividend Rcinvcstmt::nt.Dcpartment, at 877.573.3998 (toll free)




LUBRIZOL

WORLDWIDE FOUNDED IN 1928, THE LUBRIZOL CORPORATION IS AN

l.ocations

INNOVATIVE SPECIALTY CHEMICAL COMPANY THAT PRODUCES

and supplies technologies that improve the quality and perfor- :
mance of our customers’ products in the global transportation, |
industrial and consumer markets. With headquarters in |
Wickliffe, Ohio, Lubrizol, a Forfune 500 company, owns and |
operates manufacturing facilities and technical and sales |

offices around the world, @ "

Manufacturing .
locations in countries:

Technical
centers in ], 3 Countrles

6,700 employeesi

worldwide 1'

t

Q
MANUFACTURING

Sydney, Australia » Antwerp, Belgium » Oevel, Beigium + Vilvoorde, Belgium » Rio de Janeiro, Brazil » Nlagara Falis,
Ontario, Canada » Lanzhou China « Qingpu, China * Songjiang, China * Tianjin, China » Zhejiang, China » Le Havre, France *
Mourenx, France = Rouen, France » Hamburg, Germany » Ritterhude, Germany ¢+ Mumbal, India » Vadadora, India‘ * Kinuura,
Japan + Sembilan, Malaysua « Apodaca, Mexico ¢ Delfzijl, The Netherlands * Yanbu, Saudi Arabla Singapore ¢ Durban,
South Africa = Pohang, South Korea « Barcelona, Spain ¢« Muang, Thailand * Barnsley, Unlted Kingdom ¢ Huddersﬁeld
United Kingdom « Past‘n Robles, CA » Peachtree City, GA » Countryside, IL » McCook, IL * Calvert City, KY » Loulg‘.ville, KY «
Lawrence, MA ¢ Wilmi||1gton, MA + Midland, MI = Pedricktown, NJ » Gastonia, NC *+ Avon Lake, OH * Bowling Green, QH «
Chagrin Falls, OH « Pzinesville, OH = Spartanburg, SC * Bayport, TX * Deer Park, TX * Houston, TX ‘

1

1
i

TECHNICAL éENTERS

~O

Antwerp, Belgium » Louvaine Leneuve, Belgium ¢ Sao Paulo, Brazil » Hong Kong, China + Qingpu, China * Shanghai, China ¢
Hamburg, Germany *|Ritterhude, Germany * Mumbai, India » Vadadora, India * Kinuura, Japan + Apodaca, Mexico .
Mexico City, Mexico * Yanbu, Saudi Arabla * Singapore « Barcelona, Spain * Muang, Thailand » Barnsley, United Kingdom
Blackley, United Kingd;om + Hazelwood, United Kingdom  Huddersfleld, United Kingdom < Grangemouth, United Kingdom »
Paso Robles, CA * Countryside, IL » McCook, IL * Lawrence, MA + Midland, MI » Gastonia, NC + Avon Lake, OH «
Bowling Green, OH » i3recksville, OH  Chagrin Falls, OH » Wickliffe, OH * Spartanburg, $C

www.lubrizol.com
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SUCCESSFUL SOLUTIONS

% "The Lubrizol Corporation

29400 Lakeland Boulevard, Wicklif

Telephone: 440.943.4200

www._lubrizol.com
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